
 
 

Shelton City Council 
Meeting Agenda 

September 3, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

 
 
 
 
A.  Call to Order 

• Pledge of Allegiance 
• Roll Call 
• Late Changes to the Agenda   

B.  Council Reports   
C.  Consent Agenda (Action) 

1.  Vouchers numbered 111381 through 111413 and EFT payment numbers 589 through 610 in the total 
amount of $97,900.75  

2.  Vouchers numbered 111427 through 111457 and EFT payment numbers 611 through 623 in the  
     total amount of $147,056.58 
3.  Payroll warrants numbered 3994 and 13186 through 13242. Warrants 111415 through 111426 in the 
     amount of $368,593.31     
 4.  Resolution No. 1343-0824 Acceptance of Systemic Pedestrian Improvement Projects Grant 
5.  Resolution No. 1344-0824 Acceptance of Railway Crossing Removal Grant 
6.  Minutes: 

• Business Meeting of July 16, 2024 
• Study Session of July 23, 2024 
• Business Meeting of August 6, 2024 
• Study Session of August 13, 2024    

                
D.  General Public Comment (3-minute time limit) 
      The Council invites members of the public to provide comments on any City-related topic. To make comments in person, please 
        sign in on the public comment sheet and keep an instruction card. If you would like to comment on an Action item, please write 
        the agenda item number on the list. To comment virtually using Zoom, please use the “Raise Hand” feature to alert the City Clerk. 
        If you have joined Zoom on your telephone, dial *9 to use the “Raise Hand” feature. City Councilmembers and City Staff will not enter 
        into a dialogue during public comment. If the Council feels an issue requires follow up, Staff will be directed to respond at an    
        appropriate time. 
 
E.  Presentations 
     1.  MCHS Museum Q2 LTAC Report – Presented by Executive Director Liz Arbaugh 
     2.  MCHS Museum Cruisin’ Through Time Car Show LTAC Report – Presented by Executive Director Liz 
          Arbaugh 
     3.  Department of Ecology Award for the WWTP – Presented by Dainis Kleinbergs 
   
F.  Business Agenda (Study/No Action) 

1.  Public Hearing Ordinance No. 2021-0824 Repeal of Building Height Limits – Presented by Community  
     & Economic Development Director Jae Hill 
2.  Public Hearing Ordinance No. 2022-0824 Shopping Cart Regulations – Presented by Community &  
     Economic Development Director Jae Hill 
 



  
  

3.  Resolution No. 1336-0624 Acceptance of Commerce Funds for Cross-Town Trail Design – Presented by 
     Community & Economic Development Director Jae Hill 
4.  Resolution No. 1338-0624 Acceptance of WSDOT Sandy Williams Connecting Communities Grant for 

Cross-Town Trail Design – Presented by Community & Economic Development Director Jae Hill 
5.  Resolution No. 1347-0824 On-Call Building Code Services Pool – Presented by Community & Economic 
     Development Director Jae Hill 

         
G.  Action Agenda (Action/Public Comment Taken) 
      No action items. 
 
H.  Administration Reports 
      1.  City Manager Report 
 
I.  New Items for Discussion 
 
J.  Announcement of Next Meeting – September 17, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
K.  Adjourn 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Special Note for Virtual Public Participation 
 

The meeting can be viewed at: https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofshelton 

The public can provide comments virtually by: 
Email:  donna.nault@sheltonwa.gov (before 5:00pm the day of the meeting)  

Telephone: (360) 432-5103 (before 5:00pm the day of the meeting) 
Join the Zoom meeting by clicking on the link posted on the City Council’s webpage 

 
Your comments will be relayed directly to the Council. 

https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofshelton
mailto:donna.nault@sheltonwa.gov


 

Updated 8/27/2024 
 

  
2024 Looking Ahead 
    (Items and dates are subject to change) 

 
 

 
Tues. 9/10 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda 
• 2025 Capital Improvement Projects (CIP) 

Packet Items Due: 
9/6 @ noon 

Tues. 9/17 
5:45 p.m. 

SMPD Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Meeting Minutes 

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
9/6 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 9/17 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 
• Resolution No. 1336-0624 Acceptance of 

Commerce Funds for Cross-town Trail 
Design 

• Resolution No. 1338-0624 Acceptance of 
WSDOT SWCC Grant for Cross-town Trail 
Design 

Presentations 
• July Financial Status Report 

Business Agenda 
• Resolution No. 1340-0624 Water Meter 

Upgrades Installation (AMI) Project Award 
Action Agenda 

• Ordinance No. 2022-0824 Shopping Cart 
Regulations 

• Resolution No. 1347-0824 Approval of On-
Call Building Code Services Pool 

• Resolution No. 1339-0624 Library Deck 
Project 

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
9/6 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 9/24 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda Packet Items Due: 
9/20 @ noon 

Tues. 10/1 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
•  

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
• Resolution No. 1340-0624 Water Meter 

Upgrades Installation (AMI) Project Award 
Administration Report 

•  

Packet Items Due: 
9/20 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 10/8 Study Session Study Agenda  Packet Items Due: 



 

Updated 8/27/2024 
 

6:00 p.m. 10/4 @ noon 
Tues. 10/15 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
• White Cane Proclamation 
• August Financial Status Report 

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
10/4 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 10/22 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda Packet Items Due: 
10/18 @ noon 

Tues. 11/5 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
•  

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
• Ordinance No. 2021-0824 Height Limit 

Removal 
Administration Report 

•  

Packet Items Due: 
10/25 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 11/12 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda Packet Items Due: 
11/7 @ noon 

Tues. 11/19 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
• September Financial Status Report 

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
11/7 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Other – TBD 

• Resolution No. 1316-0124 ILA with Mason County for Reimbursable Work, Supplies and Services 
• International Property Maintenance Code  

 

 

 

 

 

 

























































Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item C4) 

Touch Date:   08/05/2024  
Brief Date:      08/20/2024   
Action Date:   09/03/2024 

Department: Public Works 
   
Presented By:  Jay Harris, Public Works Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
Grant Acceptance Systemic   
Pedestrian Improvement Projects 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 
- Resolution No. 1343-0824  
- Application/Project Award Notice 
  

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head      J.O.H 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
Install rectangular rapid flashing beacons, curb extensions, street lighting, sidewalk, signing,  
pavement markings and curb ramps as needed. Evaluate signal phasing from permitted to  
protected or protected/permitted left-turn phasing. 
 
Locations: 

1. Install rectangular rapid flashing beacons, curb extensions, street lighting, high visibility crosswalk  
markings, signing, pavement markings and curb ramps as needed: 

a. Olympic Highway N and I Street 
 

(Match monies for Olympic Highway North Road Re-Build Project) 
 
2. Relocate crosswalk, install rectangular rapid flashing beacons, high visibility crosswalk markings, 
signing, pavement markings and curb ramps as needed. Extend sidewalk from proposed crosswalk on 
Bellevue Ave. (MP 1.60) to Arcadia Ave. (MP 1.49). 

a. Olympic Highway S and Bellevue Ave. 
 
3. Install rectangular rapid flashing beacons and curb ramps as needed: 

a. W. Railroad Ave. and 3rd St. 
 
4. Evaluate existing traffic signal at W Railroad Avenue/7th Street to assess changing permitted left-
turn phasing to protected or protected/permitted left-turn phasing: 

a. W. Railroad Ave. and 7th St. 
 
Note: Project above includes associated ADA and utility work as needed. 
   
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
The City Council may elect not to accept these funds and to not proceed with these projects. These  
grant monies and projects would not be able to proceed, as intended and the grant money sent back  
to the granting agency. 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
The grant funds awarded under this grant are $1,295,000 in improving the intersections identified within the 
grant application (attached). The improvements at the intersection of “I” street and Olympic Highway  
North have been utilized and included as part of the Olympic Highway North TIB grant ($3.65 million) award to   
improve Olympic Highway North from “C” Street to Wallace Kneeland Boulevard. 
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
All documents associated with this grant and project are available from the Public Works Department with the  
City of Shelton.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to adopt Resolution No. 1343-0824 within the consent agenda at the September 3, 2024 Council 
meeting.”  
   



   

RESOLUTION NO. 1343-0824 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACCEPT GRANT FUNDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $1,295,000 FOR 

PROPOSED SYSTEMIC PEDESTRIAN IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS  
 

 
WHEREAS, the City applied for federal grant funds in 2022 in order to design and construct Systemic 
Pedestrian Improvement Projects throughout the City of Shelton; and 
 
WHEREAS, these monies were awarded to the City as federal funds in the amount of $1,295,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, it makes the most sense for the City to utilize this appropriation in the design and 
construction of the associated improvements; and 
 
WHEREAS, City staff are prepared to proceed with design and construction with these awarded 
resources. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Shelton, Washington, as follows: 
 

1. The City Manager is authorized to accept grant funds in the amount of $1,285,000 for the design 
and construction of Systemic Pedestrian Improvement Projects throughout the City of Shelton. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 20th of August 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting on the 
3rd of September 2024. 
 
 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault  
 
 
 



September 13, 2022 

Systemic Pedestrian Safety Improvements 
2022 City Safety Selections 
Federal Funding 

Mr. Jay Harris, PE
Public Works Director 
City of Shelton 
525 West Cota Street 
Shelton, Washington 98584 

Dear Mr. Harris: 

WSDOT is pleased to advise you that the above-mentioned safety project was recently 
selected to receive funding through the Highway Safety Improvement Program (HSIP). The 
federal funding is limited to the amount shown below: 

Systemic Pedestrian Safety Improvements     $1,295,000 
Scope:  See attached Project Summary – delivered as one contract.   
NOTE:  The project is eligible for 100% HSIP funding, for all phases authorized prior to 
April 30, 2026. If any phase is not obligated by this date, remaining funding will be 
rescinded, and the agency will need to re-compete for funding or construct the project with 
local funds. Scope and funding modifications require prior approval from WSDOT Local 
Programs.   

In order to meet state and federal requirements, the following are required: 
 Project expenditures incurred before receiving notice from Local Programs of federal

fund authorization are not eligible for reimbursement.
 Please refer to the Local Programs web page for detailed information, including:

(http://www.wsdot.wa.gov/localprograms/)
 Local Agency Guidelines (LAG) manual for the requirements regarding

programming, authorization, reimbursement, etc.;
 Projects utilizing federal funds must be included in your current

Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) as a complete programmed
project. Once your TIP amendment is approved, WSDOT will amend the
Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP);

 Funding and billing forms;
 Local Project Report is required to be completed by the end of June and

December each year. To access the database you will need an account name
and password. Your account name is Shelton and your password is Shelt396.
The password is case sensitive.

 If the project is not actively pursued, or becomes inactive (23 CFR 630), the project
is at risk of being cancelled, and funds reprogrammed.

 FHWA requires that all projects are ADA compliant upon completion or the federal
funds must be repaid.

http://www.wsdot.wa.gov/localprograms/


Jay Harris 
City of Shelton 
2022 City Safety Selections 
September 9, 2022 
 

 
As a reminder, Local Programs requires all agencies to submit monthly progress billings to 
ensure timely reimbursement of eligible federal expenditures. 
 
For assistance please contact John Ho, your Region Local Programs Engineer at 
564.669.1018. 
 Sincerely, 
 
 
      

Jay Drye, PE 
Director 

     Local Programs 
 
JD:st:ml 
Enclosure 
cc: John Ho, Olympic Region Local Programs Engineer, MS 47440 







Page 1 

2022 City Safety Program 
Application for Funding 

Local Programs Division 

 
Part 1: Agency Information 
 
List the contact information for questions about the project(s) in this application: 

• Agency name: City of Shelton 

• Contact name: Ken Gill, PE 

• Title: City Engineer 

• Phone: 360-432-5144 

• Email: Ken.Gill@sheltonwa.gov 
 
List the city’s regional or metropolitan planning organization name: Peninsula RTPO 
 
WSDOT Region where the city is located: See http://www.wsdot.wa.gov/LocalPrograms/regional.htm for more information.  

☐ Northwest       ☒ Olympic        ☐ Southwest        ☐ North Central        ☐ South Central        ☐ Eastern 

 
Describe the agency’s progress toward meeting the following Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)/Section 504 of the Rehabilitation 
Act requirements for the public right-of-way (e.g. Not started, % complete, complete)*: 

• ADA/Section 504 Coordinator: Ken Gill/Ken.Gill@sheltonwa.gov 

• Complaint/Grievance Procedures: Not Started 

• Self-evaluation for the public right-of-way: Not Started 

• Transition Plan or Compliance Planning Document (for the public right-of-way): Not Started 

• Accessible pedestrian signal and pushbutton policy if a Transition Plan or Compliance Planning Document has not been 
completed and the jurisdiction uses or gets requests for accessible pedestrian signals and pushbuttons: Not Started 

*This information will not be used to evaluate proposed projects. See Local Agency Guidelines Manual Chapter 29 for more 
information. 

 
  

 

http://www.wsdot.wa.gov/LocalPrograms/regional.htm


 
          Page 2 

Part 2: Project Information 
 

Figure 1: Project Vicinity Map 

 
 

  



 
          Page 3 

Project Title: Olympic Highway N at I Street Intersection Improvements (1-A in LRSP) 

Districts the project falls within:  

• State legislative district #(s): 35 

• Congressional district #(s): 10 

Description of Work: (Spot) Install pedestrian safety improvements, which will include: 

• Curb extensions 
o Direction 1: Northbound 
o Direction 2: Southbound 

• Enhanced Illumination 

• ADA-compliant curb cuts and tactile warning strips 

• Advanced pedestrian warning signs 
o Direction 1: Northbound 
o Direction 2: Southbound 

• High visibility pedestrian treatments 

A concept plan, which includes the existing cross section data, is attached. 

Project Schedule (Estimated milestones). 

Project added to the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) July/2023 

Project agreement signed with WSDOT Local Programs Oct/2023 

Begin PE (PE phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Dec/2023 

Community/stakeholder engagement complete April/2023 

Environmental documents (required for every project) approved by WSDOT Local Programs April/2024 

Begin right-of-way (RW phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Dec/2023 

Right-of-way completed (certification by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) April/2024 

Contract advertised May/2024 

Contract awarded July/2024 

Construction complete Oct/2024 

Project Cost, Match Amount, and Requested Funding:  

Phase Cost of entire 
phase 

Match 
amount 

Amount requested 
from this program 

Preliminary Engineering (PE) $40,000 $4,000 $36,000 

Right-of-Way (RW) $20,000 $2,000 $18,000 

Construction (includes construction administration) (CN) $290,000 $0 $290,000 

Total $350,000 $6,000 $344,000 

Source(s) of matching funds: Streets Fund 

Limits of work: Olympic Highway N at I Street Intersection 
Project in adopted plan?: Local Road Safety Plan, January 2022 

Has this project had community/stakeholder engagement? ☒ Yes ☐ No 
Coordination with other jurisdictions: N/A 

Current Project Information: Is this a current project? ☒ No.  ☐ Yes. 
Crash data for Spot Location projects: List the fatal and serious injury crashes this project has the potential to address.  
The spot location project must address one or more fatal and/or serious crashes from 2016-2020.  

Location Crash Report Number Year 

1. Olympic Highway N at I Street E755037 2018 

2. Olympic Highway N at I Street EA43557 2020 

 



 
          Page 4 

Project Title: Olympic Highway S (SR 3) Mid-Block Pedestrian Crossing Improvements (1-B in LRSP) 

Districts the project falls within:  

• State legislative district #(s): 35 

• Congressional district #(s): 10 

Description of Work: (Spot) Install pedestrian safety improvements, which will include: 

• Sidewalk extension on the east side (northbound) between milepost 1.49 (Arcadia Avenue) and milepost 1.60 
(Existing terminus of sidewalk and mid-block crossing location) 

o Direction 1: Northbound 

• Relocation of mid-block crossing to milepost 1.58 (Bellevue Avenue), across the southern leg of the intersection 

• Advanced pedestrian warning signs 
o Direction 1: Northbound 
o Direction 2: Southbound 

• High visibility pedestrian treatments 

A concept plan, which includes the existing and proposed cross section data, is attached. 

Project Schedule (Estimated milestones). 

Project added to the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) Jan/2024 

Project agreement signed with WSDOT Local Programs April/2024 

Begin PE (PE phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) June/2024 

Community/stakeholder engagement complete Oct/2024 

Environmental documents (required for every project) approved by WSDOT Local Programs Dec/2024 

Begin right-of-way (RW phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) June/2024 

Right-of-way completed (certification by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Dec/2024 

Contract advertised Jan/2025 

Contract awarded Mar/2025 

Construction complete June/2025 

Project Cost, Match Amount, and Requested Funding:  

Phase Cost of entire 
phase 

Match 
amount 

Amount requested 
from this program 

Preliminary Engineering (PE) $60,000 $6,000 $54,000 

Right-of-Way (RW) $50,000 $5,000 $45,000 

Construction (includes construction administration) (CN) $500,000 $0 $500,000 

Total $610,000 $11,000 $599,000 

Source(s) of matching funds: Streets Fund 

Limits of work: Beginning: SR 3 MP 1.49    Ending: SR 3 MP 1.60 
Project in adopted plan?: Local Road Safety Plan, January 2022 

Has this project had community/stakeholder engagement? ☒ Yes ☐ No 
Coordination with other jurisdictions: Coordination with WSDOT will be necessary for this project, as it is located on SR 
3. The Olympic Region letter of concurrence is attached. 

Current Project Information: Is this a current project? ☒ No.  ☐ Yes. 
Crash data for Spot Location projects: List the fatal and serious injury crashes this project has the potential to address.  
The spot location project must address one or more fatal and/or serious crashes from 2016-2020.  

Location Crash Report Number Year 

1. Olympic Highway S (SR 3) at milepost 1.58 E949359 2019 

2. Olympic Highway S (SR 3) at milepost 1.61 EA72254 2020 

 



 
          Page 5 

Project Title: Olympic Highway N Intersection Improvements (2-A in LRSP) 

Districts the project falls within:  

• State legislative district #(s): 35 

• Congressional district #(s): 10 

Description of Work: (Systemic) Install pedestrian safety improvements along Olympic Highway N at four stop-sign 
controlled intersections. These locations are: 

• Olympia Highway N at J Street 

• Olympic Highway N at G Street 

• Olympic Highway North at E Street 

• Olympic Highway N at C Street 

 Each location will include the improvements, unless otherwise noted: 

• Curb extensions 
o Direction 1: Northbound (except for Olympic Highway N at C Street) 
o Direction 2: Southbound 

• Enhanced Illumination 

• ADA-compliant curb cuts and tactile warning strips 

• Advanced pedestrian warning signs 
o Direction 1: Northbound 
o Direction 2: Southbound 

• High visibility pedestrian treatments 

A concept plan, which includes the existing cross section data, for each location is attached. 

Project Schedule (Estimated milestones). 

Project added to the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) April/2023 

Project agreement signed with WSDOT Local Programs July/2023 

Begin PE (PE phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Sept/2023 

Community/stakeholder engagement complete Jan/2023 

Environmental documents (required for every project) approved by WSDOT Local Programs Mar/2024 

Begin right-of-way (RW phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Sept/2023 

Right-of-way completed (certification by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Mar/2024 

Contract advertised April/2024 

Contract awarded June/2024 

Construction complete Oct/2024 

Project Cost, Match Amount, and Requested Funding:  

Phase Cost of entire 
phase 

Match 
amount 

Amount requested 
from this program 

Preliminary Engineering (PE) $160,000 $16,000 $144,000 

Right-of-Way (RW) $50,000 $5,000 $45,000 

Construction (includes construction administration) (CN) $1,000,000 $0 $1,000,000 

Total $1,210,000 $21,000 $1,189,000 

Source(s) of matching funds: Streets Fund 

Limits of work: Beginning: Olympic Highway N at J Street Ending: Olympic Highway N at C Street 
Project in adopted plan?: Local Road Safety Plan, January 2022 

Has this project had community/stakeholder engagement? ☒ Yes ☐ No 
Coordination with other jurisdictions: N/A 

Current Project Information: Is this a current project? ☒ No.  ☐ Yes. 
Crash data for Spot Location projects: N/A 



 
          Page 6 

Project Title: W Railroad Avenue between 8th Street and 1st Street (2-B in LRSP) 
Districts the project falls within:  

• State legislative district #(s): 35 

• Congressional district #(s): 10 

Description of Work: (Spot) Install pedestrian safety improvements, which will include: 

• Evaluate existing traffic signal at W Railroad Avenue/7th Street to assess changing permitted left-turn phasing to 
protected left-turn phasing 

o Direction 1: Eastbound 
o Direction 2: Westbound 
o Direction 3: Northbound 
o Direction 4: Southbound 

• Install Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacons at W Railroad Avenue/3rd Street for the east crosswalk 

A concept plan, which includes the existing cross section data, is attached. 

Project Schedule (Estimated milestones). 

Project added to the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) Aug/2023 

Project agreement signed with WSDOT Local Programs Nov/2023 

Begin PE (PE phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Jan/2024 

Community/stakeholder engagement complete April/2024 

Environmental documents (required for every project) approved by WSDOT Local Programs April/2024 

Begin right-of-way (RW phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Jan/2024 

Right-of-way completed (certification by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) April/2024 

Contract advertised May/2024 

Contract awarded July/2024 

Construction complete Sept/2024 

Project Cost, Match Amount, and Requested Funding:  

Phase Cost of entire 
phase 

Match 
amount 

Amount requested 
from this program 

Preliminary Engineering (PE) $25,000 $2,500 $22,500 

Right-of-Way (RW) $0 $0 $0 

Construction (includes construction administration) (CN) $75,000 $0 $75,000 

Total $100,000 $2,500 $97,500 

Source(s) of matching funds: Streets Fund 

Limits of work: W Railroad Avenue/3rd Street 
Project in adopted plan?: Local Road Safety Plan, January 2022 

Has this project had community/stakeholder engagement? ☒ Yes ☐ No 
Coordination with other jurisdictions: N/A 

Current Project Information: Is this a current project? ☒ No.  ☐ Yes. 
Crash data for Spot Location projects: List the fatal and serious injury crashes this project has the potential to address.  
The spot location project must address one or more fatal and/or serious crashes from 2016-2020.  
 

Location Crash Report Number Year 

1. W Railroad Avenue/7th Street EA36680 2020 

 

  



 
          Page 7 

Project Title: E K Street at Mountain View Elementary School (2-C in LRSP) 

Districts the project falls within:  

• State legislative district #(s): 35 

• Congressional district #(s): 10 

Description of Work: (Spot) Install pedestrian safety improvements, which will include: 

• Installation of a RRFB pedestrian crossing across K Street to the west side of King Street 

• Remove existing curb extensions on north side of K Street at Callanan Street and realign existing crosswalk 

• Consider in-street pedestrian crossing signs to manage school crossings 

A concept plan, which includes the existing cross section data, is attached. 

Project Schedule (Estimated milestones). 

Project added to the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) July/2023 

Project agreement signed with WSDOT Local Programs Oct/2023 

Begin PE (PE phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Dec/2023 

Community/stakeholder engagement complete Mar/2023 

Environmental documents (required for every project) approved by WSDOT Local Programs Mar/2024 

Begin right-of-way (RW phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Dec/2023 

Right-of-way completed (certification by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) Mar/2024 

Contract advertised April/2024 

Contract awarded June/2024 

Construction complete Sept/2024 

Project Cost, Match Amount, and Requested Funding:  

Phase Cost of entire 
phase 

Match 
amount 

Amount requested 
from this program 

Preliminary Engineering (PE) $30,000 $3,000 $27,000 

Right-of-Way (RW) $0 $0 $0 

Construction (includes construction administration) (CN) $150,000 $0 $150,000 

Total $180,000 $3,000 $177,000 

Source(s) of matching funds: Streets Fund 

Limits of work: Beginning: K Street/King Street    Ending: K Street/Callanan Street 
Project in adopted plan?: Local Road Safety Plan, January 2022 

Has this project had community/stakeholder engagement? ☒ Yes ☐ No 
Coordination with other jurisdictions: N/A 

Current Project Information: Is this a current project? ☒ No.  ☐ Yes. 
Crash data for Spot Location projects: List the fatal and serious injury crashes this project has the potential to address.  
The spot location project must address one or more fatal and/or serious crashes from 2016-2020.  

Mountain View Elementary School was reconstructed in 2019, which has resulted in significant congestion on K Street 
during parent pick-up hours. The current condition did not exist for most of the five-year crash data period and no 
serious or fatal crashes were reported in that timeframe. Several “near-miss” crashes between students walking home 
crossing K Street and parent pick-up have been observed by Robert Herron, Shelton School District Director of Facilities 
Management and Construction. 
 

  



 
          Page 8 

Project Title: Wallace Kneeland Boulevard Mid-Block Crossing at Oakland Bay Junior High School (3-A in LRSP) 

Districts the project falls within:  

• State legislative district #(s): 35 

• Congressional district #(s): 10 

Description of Work: (Spot) Install pedestrian safety improvements, which will include: 

• Perform an improvement alternatives study 

As this is a future study no concept plan or cross section data is provided. 

Project Schedule (Estimated milestones). 

Project added to the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) Jan/2023 

Project agreement signed with WSDOT Local Programs April/2023 

Begin PE (PE phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) N/A 

Community/stakeholder engagement complete Sept/2023 

Environmental documents (required for every project) approved by WSDOT Local Programs N/A 

Begin right-of-way (RW phase authorized by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) N/A 

Right-of-way completed (certification by FHWA through WSDOT Local Programs) N/A 

Contract advertised N/A 

Contract awarded N/A 

Construction complete N/A 

Project Cost, Match Amount, and Requested Funding:  

Phase Cost of entire 
phase 

Match 
amount 

Amount requested 
from this program 

Preliminary Engineering (PE) $50,000 $5,000 $45,000 

Right-of-Way (RW) $0 $0 $0 

Construction (includes construction administration) (CN) $0 $0 $0 

Total $50,000 $5,000 $45,000 

Source(s) of matching funds: Streets Fund 

Limits of work: Wallace Kneeland Boulevard/Oakland Bay Junior High School Driveway 
Project in adopted plan?: Local Road Safety Plan, January 2022 

Has this project had community/stakeholder engagement? ☒ Yes ☐ No 
Coordination with other jurisdictions: N/A 

Current Project Information: Is this a current project? ☒ No.  ☐ Yes. 
Crash data for Spot Location projects: List the fatal and serious injury crashes this project has the potential to address.  
The spot location project must address one or more fatal and/or serious crashes from 2016-2020.  
 

No serious or fatal injury crashes reported. 

  



100 ft

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Olympic Hwy N

patrick.holm
Text Box
I St

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
N

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extensions w/ ADA ramps (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Advanced pedestrian warning signs (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Enhanced illumination (typ)

patrick.holm
Polygon

ryan.shea
Rectangle

ryan.shea
Typewritten Text
Project 1-A: Olympic Highway at I Street

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section



200 ft

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
New sidewalk. Complete gap in pedestrian access route and remove crossing.

patrick.holm
Callout
Retaining wall w/ handrail

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
N

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Text Box
Olympic Hwy S

patrick.holm
Text Box
Bellevue Ave

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing guardrail

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Callout
New sidewalk with retaining wall and handrail

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Callout
Move crossing to south for better sight distance

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

ryan.shea
Rectangle

ryan.shea
Typewritten Text
Project 1-B: Olympic Highway S (SR 3) Mid-Block Pedestrian Crossing



 

 

February 16, 2022 
 
 
 
Mayor Eric Onisko 
City of Shelton 
525 W Cota Street 
Shelton, Washington 98584 
 
RE: SR 3 MP 1.60 CROSSWALK AND SIDEWALK SAFETY PROJECT 

2022 City Safety Program Funding 
WSDOT Letter of Concurrence for City of Shelton Project 
 

Dear Mayor Onisko: 
 
On behalf of the Washington State Department of Transportation, I would like to express our 
support for the City of Shelton’s proposed project to make safety improvements to SR 3 by 
extending the sidewalk on the east side of SR 3 south to Arcadia Avenue and relocating the 
crosswalk crossing SR 3 from north of the Bellevue Avenue intersection to south of that 
intersection. 
 
Therefore, based on the conceptual information provided to us to date, WSDOT is in support of 
City of Shelton’s request for 2022 City Safety Program funding provided that these 
improvements meet all applicable WSDOT design and construction requirements, including all 
applicable American with Disabilities Act (ADA) requirements, for any work that occurs on the 
SR 3 state highway system. 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to express our support for this very worthwhile project that City 
of Shelton plans to construct.  If you have any questions please contact me at (360) 357-2798 or 
email at SchuelJ@wsdot.wa.gov. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
JoAnn Schueler, P.E. 
Assistant Region Administrator for Multimodal Development and Delivery 
 
JS:arl 
 
 



100 ft

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Olympic Hwy N

patrick.holm
Text Box
J St

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extensions w/ ADA ramps (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Advanced pedestrian warning signs (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Enhanced illumination (typ)

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
N

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

ryan.shea
Rectangle

ryan.shea
Typewritten Text
Project 2-A: Olympic Highway N Between J Street and C Street

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section



100 ft

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Olympic Hwy N

patrick.holm
Text Box
G St

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extensions w/ ADA ramps (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Advanced pedestrian warning signs (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Enhanced illumination (typ)

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
N

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

ryan.shea
Rectangle

ryan.shea
Typewritten Text
Project 2-A: Olympic Highway N Between J Street and C Street

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section



100 ft

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Olympic Hwy N

patrick.holm
Text Box
E St

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extensions w/ ADA ramps (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Advanced pedestrian warning signs (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Enhanced illumination (typ)

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
N

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

ryan.shea
Rectangle

ryan.shea
Typewritten Text
Project 2-A: Olympic Highway N Between J Street and C Street

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section



100 ft

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C St

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extensions w/ ADA ramps (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Advanced pedestrian warning signs (typ)

patrick.holm
Callout
Enhanced illumination (typ)

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
N

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

ryan.shea
Rectangle

ryan.shea
Typewritten Text
Project 2-A: Olympic Highway N Between J Street and C Street

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
9-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension w/ ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section



100 ft

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
N

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Text Box
Railroad Ave

patrick.holm
Text Box
3rd St

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Callout
Add RRFBs at crossing

patrick.holm
Text Box
-Evaluate existing traffic signal and intersection operations at W Railroad Avenue/7th Street to assess potential protect left-turn phasing (not shown).-Consider adding yield to pedestrian crossing signage on traffic mast arm sat W Railroad Avenue/7th Street (not shown). 

ryan.shea
Rectangle

ryan.shea
Typewritten Text
Project 2-B: W Railroad Avenue Between 8th Street and 1st Street

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
5-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
5-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Bike Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Bike Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
14-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
TWLTL

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
5-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
5-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Bike Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Bike Lane

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Callout
RRFB

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Callout
RRFB



100 ft

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Callout
Remove curb extensions and realign crosswalk

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Callout
School District to relocate school sign

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Callout
Construct new crossing at this location w/ RRFBs

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Ellipse

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
N

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Text Box
K St

patrick.holm
Text Box
Mountain View Elementary

patrick.holm
Text Box
King St

ryan.shea
Rectangle

ryan.shea
Typewritten Text
Project 2-C: K Street at Mountain View Elementary School

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
8-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
8-ft

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
8-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
Callout
Curb Extension with ADA Ramp

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
Remove Existing Curb Extension

patrick.holm
Text Box
Existing Cross Section

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
8-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Proposed Cross Section

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Text Box
C

patrick.holm
Text Box
L

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
8-ft

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
12-ft

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Text Box
Travel Lane

patrick.holm
Callout
Existing Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Text Box
Parking Lane

patrick.holm
Length Measurement
8-ft

patrick.holm
PolyLine

patrick.holm
Callout
Revised Sidewalk

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Line

patrick.holm
Polygon

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Rectangle

patrick.holm
Callout
RRFB

patrick.holm
Callout
RRFB



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared For: 

City of Shelton 

 

Prepared By: 

SCJ Alliance 

8730 Tallon Lane NE, Suite 200 

Lacey, WA 98516 

360.352.1465 

 

January 2022 

Local Road Safety Plan  
 

City of Shelton 

Shelton, WA 



 

 

Local Road Safety Plan 
 

Project Information  

Project: Local Road Safety Plan 

Prepared for: City of Shelton 

525 W. Cota Street 

Shelton, WA 98584 

 

  

Reviewing Agency  

Jurisdiction: City of Shelton 

  

Project Representative  

Prepared by: SCJ Alliance 
8730 Tallon Lane NE, Suite 200 
Lacey, WA  98516 
360.352.1465 
scjalliance.com 

Contact: Ryan Shea, PTP, Senior Transportation Planner 

Eric Johnston, PE, Principal 

Project Reference: SCJ #615.0CA 

Path: N:\Projects\0615 City of Shelton\0615.0CA 

Local Road Safety Plan\04-Dels\2022-0228 Local 

Road Safety Plan.docx 

 

 



Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

Signature 
The technical material and data contained in this document were prepared under the supervision and 

direction of the undersigned, whose seal, as a professional engineer licensed to practice as such, is 

affixed below. 

Prepared by Ryan Shea, PTP and Anne Sylvester, PTE 

Approved by Eric Johnston, PE 

2/28/2022 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page i 

 

  

Table of Contents 

1 INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 Purpose of the Study ............................................................................................................. 1 

1.2 Analysis Methodology ........................................................................................................... 1 

1.3 Study Area ............................................................................................................................. 1 

1.4 Report Content and Organization ......................................................................................... 2 

2 ANALYSIS OF HISTORIC CRASH DATA .......................................................................... 4 

2.1 Severe Crashes ...................................................................................................................... 4 

2.2 Pedestrian and Bicycle Crashes ............................................................................................. 4 

2.3 Corridor Crashes .................................................................................................................... 7 

2.4 Intersection Crashes .............................................................................................................. 7 

2.5 Comparison with Western Washington .............................................................................. 14 

3 SELECTION OF MOST COMMON RISK FACTORS ......................................................... 16 

4 IDENTIFICATION OF HIGH PRIORITY LOCATIONS ....................................................... 17 

4.1 Selection of High Priority Locations based on Technical Analysis ....................................... 17 

4.2 Local Input ........................................................................................................................... 17 

5 IDENTIFICATION OF COUNTERMEASURES FOR HIGH PRIORITY CORRIDORS ............... 20 

5.1 Olympic Highway N ............................................................................................................. 20 

5.2 Wallace Kneeland Boulevard ............................................................................................... 21 

5.3 N 7th Street .......................................................................................................................... 22 

5.4 W Railroad Avenue .............................................................................................................. 23 

5.5 S 1st Street (SR 3) ................................................................................................................. 24 

5.6 Olympic Highway S (SR 3) .................................................................................................... 25 

5.7 Additional Local Concern Locations .................................................................................... 27 

6 PRIORITIZED LIST OF COUNTERMEASURES ................................................................ 32 

 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page ii 

List of Tables 

Table 1. Summary of Crash Data for 20 Highest Corridors ....................................................................... 9 

Table 2. Data Summary for Signalized Intersections with More than Five Crashes ............................... 11 

Table 3. Data Summary for Unsignalized Intersections with More than Five Crashes ........................... 12 

Table 4. Comparison of Crash Factors Present on City Streets in Severe Crashes .................................. 15 

Table 5. Countermeasure Prioritization and Cost Estimates .................................................................. 33 

 

 

List of Figures 

Figure 1. Study Area and Vicinity .............................................................................................................. 3 

Figure 2. 2016-2020 Crashes in Shelton ................................................................................................... 5 

Figure 3. 2016-2020 Severe Crashes in Shelton ........................................................................................ 6 

Figure 4. 2016-2020 Bicycle and Pedestrian Crashes in Shelton .............................................................. 8 

Figure 5. Priority Corridors and Local Safety Concern Locations ............................................................ 19 

Figure 6. Olympic Highway N Unsignalized Pedestrian Crossing Locations ............................................ 20 

Figure 7. Wallace Kneeland Boulevard Mid-Block Pedestrian Crossing ................................................. 22 

Figure 8. W Railroad Avenue Between 8th Street and 1st Street ............................................................. 23 

Figure 9. Olympic Highway S Mid-Block Pedestrian Crossing ................................................................. 26 

Figure 10. Mountain View Elementary School ........................................................................................ 28 

Figure 11. Westbound Pine Street approaching N 1st Street .................................................................. 29 

Figure 12. E Fir Street approaching Magnolia Avenue............................................................................ 30 

Figure 13. N 13th Street/Shelton Springs Road Intersection ................................................................... 31 

Figure 14. Northcliff Road/Terrace Boulevard Intersection ................................................................... 32 

 

 

 

 

 

  

file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2021-1215%20Draft%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc90467355
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690786
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690787
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690788
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690789
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690790
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690791
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690792
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690793
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690794
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690795
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690796
file://///ad.scj.io/Global/Projects/0615%20City%20of%20Shelton/0615.0CA%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan/04-Dels/2022-0202%20Local%20Road%20Safety%20Plan.docx%23_Toc96690797


 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page iii 

  

This page intentionally left blank. 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 1 

1 INTRODUCTION 

The City of Shelton is actively pursuing improvements to reduce crashes and enhance safety for its 

multimodal transportation system. As part of that effort, the city has prepared this Local Road Safety Plan 

(LRSP) following the risk-based, data-driven analytical procedures outlined in guidance provided by the 

Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) Local Programs Division. This guidance is 

designed to support WSDOT’s efforts to implement the Target Zero – Washington State Strategic Highway 

Safety Plan which relies on a data-based approach that analyzes crash trends and contributing factors in 

the development of successful crash reduction strategies. 

1.1 Purpose of the Study 

The purpose of this plan is to improve safety for different modes of transportation along city streets 

through the analysis of crash data, identifying and prioritizing risk factors that impact safety and 

establishing and prioritizing engineering countermeasures and strategies that reduce the number and 

severity of crashes in the city.  

1.2 Analysis Methodology 

The Local Road Safety Plan follows the WSDOT’s recommended approach for developing a prioritized list 

of engineering countermeasures. Analysis was conducted following a multi-step process that relied on five 

years of crash data (2016 through 2020). The multi-step process includes: 

1. Evaluate crash data to identify crashes with a fatality and/or a serious injury and characterize 

crash types and locations that have an average of one crash or more per year.  

2. Based on this data, identify key risk factors which contribute to the crashes identified in the city of 

Shelton and compared to an average of risk factors for Western Washington in the aggregate. Risk 

factors were categorized into three priority levels based on significance in relation to the reported 

severe crashes. 

3. Select the most common risk factors and group these by priority level based on their significance 

in relation to the reported severe crashes.  

4. Identify and score high priority crash locations. 

5. Identify countermeasures to address the types of crashes in the high priority locations. 

6. Develop a prioritized list of projects including both systemic and spot improvements and cost 

estimates. 

1.3 Study Area 

The study area for the Shelton Local Road Safety Plan includes the entire city of Shelton. The population 

of Shelton was 9,834 in 2010, growing to an estimated 10,390 by 20201. This data indicates that the 

population in Shelton grew by over 5.6 percent during the ten years between 2010 and 2020.  The 

population of Mason County in 2010 was 60,699 of which Shelton represented 15.5 percent. By 2020, 

 

1 https://www.ofm.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/dataresearch/pop/april1/ofm_april1_poptrends.pdf 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 2 

Mason County’s population was estimated to increase to 65,6502 of which Shelton was 15.8 percent 

indicating that Shelton is growing more rapidly than Mason County. Based on projections from the 

Washington Office of Financial Management, Shelton’s population is expected to grow to approximately 

85,000 by 2040, an increase of 29.5 percent3. 

As the Mason County seat, Shelton is a governmental employment, health care and educational center for 

the county. Government is the largest employer in the county, followed by the service industry and retail 

industry. Shelton is also a bedroom community for persons employed in Bremerton, including the Kitsap 

Naval Base.  

Figure 1 illustrates the boundaries of the City of Shelton and its general location in Western Washington. 

The figure also identifies key roadway corridors which include US 101, Wallace Kneeland Boulevard, 

Olympic Highway North, Alder Street, First Street, Railroad Avenue, SR 3 (which includes portions of Pine 

Street, Front Street, Railroad Avenue, First Street and Olympic Highway South). US 101 serves as the 

major roadway connection between Shelton and the region, linking to the Aberdeen/Hoquiam area to the 

southwest and Olympia to the southeast. As a grade-separated state highway facility with limited access, 

crash data from US 101 has not been included in the analysis presented in this report. Both US 101 and SR 

3 are freight and commuter routes. 

1.4 Report Content and Organization 

This report is organized into six chapters, the first of which is this Introduction.  Chapter 2 identifies and 

discusses historic crash data in the City of Shelton (2016 through 2020) with an emphasis on what are 

characterized as “severe” crashes. These include crashes that result in fatalities and/or serious injury. 

Chapter 2 also presents historic data for bicycle and pedestrian crashes in the city. Crash data is stratified 

by both corridors and intersections focusing on the top twenty corridors and intersections that averaged 

at least one crash per year. Chapter 2 also includes a summary of risk factors by number and percent for 

severe crashes in Shelton in comparison with Western Washington. 

Chapter 3 documents the most common risk factors as identified through analysis of the crash data 

presented in Chapter 2. Risk factors were categorized into two priority levels based on significance in 

relation to the reported severe crashes.  

Chapter 4 identifies high priority crash locations using the Level 1 risk factors identified in Chapter 3. Each 

risk factor is scored on a relative scale in terms of the number of crashes that are affected by these 

factors. Scoring criteria include Low number of crashes associated with a specific risk factor, medium 

number of crashes and High number of crashes. The low, medium, and high levels are given points which 

are assigned to each corridor and risk factor. Total points for each corridor are summed and corridors 

ranked based on this total. 

 

2 https://www.ofm.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/dataresearch/pop/april1/ofm_april1_poptrends.pdf 
3https://ofm.wa.gov/sites/default/files/public/dataresearch/pop/GMA/projections17/GMA_2017_county_pop_proj
ections.pdf 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 3 

 

 

Chapter 5 discusses the identification of countermeasures for each of the high priority corridors and local 

concern areas based on the likely effectiveness of the countermeasure in addressing the relevant types of 

crashes and risk factors at each location. 

Chapter 6 presents a further refinement of the identification of countermeasures in the high priority 

corridors focusing on both systemic measures that can be implemented throughout the city and spot 

locations where specific countermeasures can be applied. For systemic improvements, applicable 

locations were identified, and planning level cost estimates were prepared. For spot improvements, the 

discussion focuses on specific activities that can be implemented at these priority locations along with 

planning level cost estimates. 

 

Figure 1. Study Area and Vicinity 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 4 

2 ANALYSIS OF HISTORIC CRASH DATA 

Historical crash data was obtained for the City of Shelton for the five-year time period from January 1, 

2016 through December 31, 2020. Crash data is collected by WSDOT from all crash reports completed by 

responding law enforcement officials. Crash data includes information related to crash circumstances, 

locations, driver behaviors, contributing factors, and severity including degree of injury. This data can be 

used to identify the factors that most clearly indicate the reasons why a crash occurred and provide the 

basis for developing engineering, education, or enforcement countermeasures. 

WSDOT crash data included all streets within the city limits of Shelton plus portions of SR 3 along Pine 

Street, Front Street, Railroad Avenue, First Street and Olympic Highway South. As noted in the 

Introduction, US 101 through the city is not included in the database or the analysis conducted for this 

report as it is a limited access, grade-separated facility through the city. 

During the five-year analysis period, there were a total of 832 crashes with 632 crashes occurring on  

City-operated streets and 200 crashes occurring on SR 3 which is operated by WSDOT. Figure 2 presents 

a graphic image of these crashes by location. The more intense the colors in the figure, the greater the 

number of crashes that occurred during the five-year period. Of particular significance for the analysis 

presented in this report are severe crashes and those involving bicyclists and/or pedestrians. These 

crashes are discussed in the following sections and illustrated in Figures 3 and 4. 

2.1 Severe Crashes 

Of the 832 total crashes on Shelton streets, two crashes resulted in a fatality and 14 resulted in a serious 

injury. Fatalities represent a total of 0.02 percent of all crashes in the city, while serious injuries 

represent a total of 1.7 percent of citywide crashes. Fatal and serious injury crashes, referred to in this 

report as severe crashes, are the focus of the Local Road Safety Plan. Of the 16 severe crashes, four 

occurred on SR 3 within the city limits, three occurred on Olympic Highway North, and the remaining 

nine occurred on other streets. Figure 3 shows the location of the 16 severe collisions during the five-

year study period. 

Seven severe crashes occurred at intersections, and four of those crashes occurred at intersections that 

do not have traffic signals. None of the seven intersections experienced more than one severe crash 

during the 2016-2020 study period. Figure 3 does not show crashes that occurred on US 101 as this is a 

limited access facility under the jurisdiction of WSDOT.  

2.2 Pedestrian and Bicycle Crashes 

There were 38 total crashes in Shelton during the study period which involved a pedestrian or bicyclist. 

Ten, or 26 percent, of these crashes resulted in a serious injury or a fatality, eight for pedestrians and 

two for bicyclists. This high percentage out of all bicycle and pedestrian crashes compares to the low 

percentage that severe crashes represent out of total citywide crashes - less than 2 percent. This high 

bicycle and pedestrian percentage is indicative of the much higher level of risk assumed by vulnerable 

bicyclists and pedestrians as they use the multimodal transportation system. 

 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 5 

 

  

Figure 2. 2016-2020 Crashes in Shelton 

Wallace Kneeland Blvd 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 6 

 

  

Figure 3. 2016-2020 Severe Crashes in Shelton  



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 7 

Figure 4 shows the location of the pedestrian and bicycle crashes. The locations where the most  severe 

pedestrian and bicycle crashes occurred are: 

• Olympic Highway North in the vicinity of I Street (one fatal crash and one serious injury crash 

both of which involved pedestrians) 

• SR 3 in the vicinity of Bellevue Avenue (also one fatal crash and one serious injury crash both of 

which involved pedestrians) 

• Serious injury pedestrian crashes also occurred on: 

o Wallace Kneeland Boulevard in the vicinity of Olympic Highway North 

o 13th Street at Northcliff Road 

o SR 3 at Railroad Avenue 

o Seattle Avenue west of 2nd Street 

• Serious injury bicyclist crashes also occurred on: 

o 1st Street at Franklin Street 

o 7th Street west of Pine Street 

2.3 Corridor Crashes 

The analysis of crash data included identification of the 20 street corridors within the city where the 

most crashes occurred. Table 1 summarizes this data including both crashes by type and a description of 

key corridor characteristics such as segment length, functional classification, number of travel lanes and 

posted speed limit. As shown in the table, common crash types in the 20 highest corridors include rear 

end, sideswipe, right turns, head-on, hitting a parked vehicle, left turns, angles, hitting fixed objects, 

pedestrians, bicyclists (pedal cyclists) and “other”. 

South 1st Street led the list of corridors with the highest number of crashes – 116 in five years or an 

average of 23 per year over its 0.40-mile length between Mill Street and Railroad Avenue. This street is a 

portion of SR 3 through the heart of the city and designated as a Principal Arterial.  

Olympic Highway North between Alder Street and Wallace Kneeland Boulevard experienced 115 

crashes over five years with essentially the same annual average of 23 crashes per year. This corridor is a 

designated Principal Arterial and a total of 1.05 miles in length. 

The corridor with the third highest number of crashes over the five-year period is Olympic Highway 

South, another portion of SR 3 through the city. This highway segment is 1.25 miles long between the 

south city limits and Mill Street and experienced 51 crashes over five years or about ten crashes per 

year. 

2.4 Intersection Crashes 

This section presents a discussion of severe crashes at intersections in the City of Shelton that occurred 

during the five-year analysis period. Table 2 includes data for signalized intersections, while Table 3 

shows data for unsignalized intersections.  

 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 8 

 

 

Figure 4. 2016-2020 Bicycle and Pedestrian Crashes in Shelton 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance     January 2022    |  Page 9 

Table 1. Summary of Crash Data for 20 Highest Corridors 

      Existing Crashes by Type 

Corridor Segment 

Segment 
Length 
(Miles) 

Functional 
Classification 

Number 
of Travel 

Lanes 
Speed 
Limit R

ea
r-

en
d

 

S
id

es
w

ip
e

 

R
ig

h
t 

T
u

rn
 

H
ea

d
 O

n
 

P
ar

ke
d

 V
eh

ic
le

 

L
ef

t 
T

u
rn

 

A
n

g
le

 

F
ix

ed
 O

b
je

ct
 

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 

P
ed

al
 c

yc
lis

t 

O
th

er
 

T
o

ta
l (

S
ev

er
e)

 

S 1st Street 
(SR 3) 

Mill Street to Railroad 
Avenue 

0.40 
Principal 
Arterial 

2 Thru & 
TWLTL 

25 66 2 2 1 1 8 20 9 3 (1) 3 1 116 (1) 

Olympic 
Highway N 

W Alder Street to E Wallace 
Kneeland Boulevard 

1.05 
Principal 
Arterial 

2 thru & 
TWLTL 

30 26 7 5 2 6 3 49 (1) 8 4 (2) 2 3 115 (3) 

Olympic 
Highway S 
(SR 3) 

City limits to Mill Street  1.25  
Principal 
Arterial 

2 Thru & 
TWLTL 

30 16 6 
1 

(1) 
1 1 2 12 7 2 (2) 1 2 51 (3) 

Wallace 
Kneeland 
Boulevard 

Olympic Highway N to 
Shelton Springs Road 

0.55 
Principal 
Arterial 

4 thru & 
TWLTL 

30 10 5 1 0 0 6 11 3 4 (1) 0 1 41 (1) 

W Railroad 
Avenue 

N 1st Street/S First Street/E 
Railroad Avenue to Pacific 
Ct (City limits) 

0.90 
Principal 
Arterial 

2 thru 25 11 2 0 0 6 5 7 3 3 0 4 41 (0) 

N 1st Street 
Railroad Avenue to Moore 
Avenue 

0.55 
Principal 
Arterial 

2 thru 25 6 1 1 1 1 6 14 2 0 1 (1) 3 36 (1) 

N 7th Street 
W Railroad Avenue to W 
Alder Street 

0.25 
Major 

Collector 
2 thru 25 2 1 1 0 3 4 14 0 2 2 (1) 0 29 (1) 

E Brockdale 
Road 

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/E 
Johns Prairie Rd/N 13th St 
to City limits 

0.85 Minor Arterial 2 thru 30 7 1 0 0 0 0 11 (1) 3 0 0 0 22 (1) 

E Pine Street 
(SR 3) 

Front St to city limits 0.61 
Principal 
Arterial 

2 thru 35 4 4 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 2 15 (0) 

W Cota Street S 12th Street to S 1st Street  0.60 -- 2 thru 25 1 1 0 0 5 2 7 1 0 0 1 18 (0) 

W Alder Street 
N 1st Street to Olympic 
Highway N 

0.70 
Principal 
Arterial 

3 thru 30 3 1 0 0 2 2 3 4 1 1 1 18 (0) 



 
Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance     January 2022    |  Page 10 

      Existing Crashes by Type 

Corridor Segment 

Segment 
Length 
(Miles) 

Functional 
Classification 

Number 
of Travel 

Lanes 
Speed 
Limit R

ea
r-

en
d

 

S
id

es
w

ip
e

 

R
ig

h
t 

T
u

rn
 

H
ea

d
 O

n
 

P
ar

ke
d

 V
eh

ic
le

 

L
ef

t 
T

u
rn

 

A
n

g
le

 

F
ix

ed
 O

b
je

ct
 

P
ed

es
tr

ia
n

 

P
ed

al
 c

yc
lis

t 

O
th

er
 

T
o

ta
l (

S
ev

er
e)

 

N 13th Street 
N 12th Street to Wallace 
Kneeland Boulevard/E 
Johns Prairie Road 

1.25 Minor Arterial 
2 thru & 
TWLTL 

30 2 1 0 0 0 2 6 3 1 1 2 18 (0) 

S 7th Street 
W Railroad Avenue to 
Highland Drive 

0.25 
Major 

Collector 
2 thru 25 0 0  0 2 3 (1) 6 4 0 0 0 15 (1) 

Northcliff Road 
Moore Avenue/N 1st Street 
to N 13th Street 

0.80 
Major 

Collector 
2 thru 30 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 5 2 (1) 0 2 15 (1) 

E K Street 
Olympic Highway North - N 
13th Street 

0.55 
Major 

Collector 
2 thru 25 3 0 1 0 1 3 1 3 0 0 0 12 (0) 

N Front Street 
(SR 3) 

E Railroad Avenue to E 
Pine Street 

0.15 
Principal 
Arterial 

2 thru 25 1 0 0 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 11 (0) 

W Franklin 
Street 

N 1st Street to city limits 0.90 -- 2 thru 25 1 0 0 0 2 2 4 1 0 0 1 11 (0) 

E Railroad 
Avenue (SR 3) 

N 1st Street/S 1St Street to N 
Front Street/S Front Street 

0.05 
Principal 
Arterial 

4 thru 25 0 1 0 0 0 0 7 1 0 0 1 10 (0) 

N Shelton 
Springs Road 

N 13th Street/Alpine Way to 
Tarragon Avenue (city 
limits) 

0.85 
Major 

Collector 
2 Thru & 
TWLTL 

30 2 0 0 0 0 1 4 3 (1) 0 0 0 10 (1) 

E Arcadia 
Avenue 

Pioneer Way to Olympic 
Highway S 

0.35 Minor Arterial 2 thru 25 0 0 0 1 1 0 4 4 0 0 0 10 (0) 

Total Crashes - - - - - 165 34 12 7 31 
55 
(1) 

186 
(3) 

65 
(1) 

22 
(7) 

11 
(2) 

16 
612 
(14) 

Note: Numbers in brackets are severe crashes



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance     January 2022  |  Page 11 

Table 2. Data Summary for Signalized Intersections with More than Five Crashes 

Note 1: Intersections in this table had at least an average of one crash per year in period 2016-2020. 
Note 2: Numbers in brackets are severe crashes. 
  

Signalized Intersections R
e

ar
-e

n
d

 

Si
d

e
sw

ip
e 

R
ig

h
t 

T
u

rn
 

H
ea

d
 O

n
 

P
ar

ke
d

 V
eh

ic
le

 

Le
ft

 T
u

rn
 

A
n

gl
e 

Fi
xe

d
 O

b
je

ct
 

P
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 

P
e

d
al

 c
yc

lis
t 

O
th

e
r 

To
ta

l (
Se

ve
re

) 

1st Street at Railroad Avenue 10 0 0 0 0 4 8 2 1 (1) 1 2 28 (1) 

1st Street at Cota Street  14 0 0 1 0 0 3 1 0 1 0 20 (0) 

Wallace Kneeland Boulevard at Olympic 
Highway North 

5 2 1 0 0 2 5 1 2 0 0 18 (0) 

K Street at 13th Street  4 0 0 0 0 4 3 1 2 (1) 0 2 16 (1) 

Railroad Avenue at 7th Street 1 2 0 0 1 5 (1) 6 0 1 0 0 16 (1) 

1St Street at Mill Street 11 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 15 (0) 

Wallace Kneeland Boulevard at Shelton 
Springs Road 

3 0 0 0 0 3 6 0 0 0 1 13 (0) 

Olympic Highway North at K Street 4 1 1 0 0 1 4 1 0 0 0 12 (0) 

Wallace Kneeland Boulevard at Kneeland 
Plaza Access 

3 0 1 0 0 2 5 0 0 0 0 11 (0) 

Olympic Highway South at Cascade 
Avenue  

3 0 0 0 0 2 3 1 0 0 0 9 (0) 

Total 58 6 3 1 1 23 (1) 45 7 6 (2) 3 5 158 (3) 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance     January 2022  |  Page 12 

 

Unsignalized Intersections R
e

ar
-e

n
d

 

Si
d

e
sw

ip
e 

R
ig

h
t 

T
u

rn
 

P
ar

ke
d

 V
eh

ic
le

 

Le
ft

 T
u

rn
 

A
n

gl
e 

Fi
xe

d
 O

b
je

ct
 

P
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 

P
e

d
al

 c
yc

lis
t 

O
th

e
r 

To
ta

l (
Se

ve
re

) 

Wallace Kneeland/Johns Prairie Road at Brockdale 
Road/13th Street  

8 0 0 0 2 10 (1) 0 1 0 0 21 (1) 

1st Street at Pine Street 1 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 13 (0) 

1st Street at Turner Avenue 11 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 12 (0) 

Front Street at Pine Street 1 0 0 0 5 5 0 0 0 0 11 (0) 

1st Street at Alder Street 0 0 0 0 4 3 3 0 0 0 10 (0) 

7th Street at Franklin Street 1 1 1 0 1 5 0 0 1 0 10 (0) 

Cota Street at 7th Street 0 0 0 1 2 7 0 0 0 0 10 (0) 

Railroad Avenue at Front Street 1 1 0 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 9 (0) 

Brockdale Road at N 13th Street/Alpine Way 0 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 9 (0) 

7th Street at Alder Street 1 0 0 0 5 1 0 0 1 0 8 (0) 

1st Street at Grove Street 2 0 1 0 2 1 1 1 0 0 8 (0) 

1st Street at Kneeland Street 3 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 7 (0) 

Olympic Highway North at J Street 5 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 7 (0) 

Wallace Kneeland Boulevard at SR 101 
Northbound Ramps 

5 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 7 (0) 

Olympic Highway North at E Street 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 6 (0) 

Table 3. Data Summary for Unsignalized Intersections with More than Five Crashes 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance     January 2022  |  Page 13 

Unsignalized Intersections R
e

ar
-e

n
d

 

Si
d

e
sw

ip
e 

R
ig

h
t 

T
u

rn
 

P
ar

ke
d

 V
eh

ic
le

 

Le
ft

 T
u

rn
 

A
n

gl
e 

Fi
xe

d
 O

b
je

ct
 

P
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 

P
e

d
al

 c
yc

lis
t 

O
th

e
r 

To
ta

l (
Se

ve
re

) 

Railroad Avenue at 4th Street 2 0 0 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 6 (0) 

Railroad Avenue at 2nd Street 1 0 0 1 0 3 0 1 0 0 6 (0) 

Railroad Avenue at 5th Street 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 2 0 0 6 (0) 

1st Street at Cedar Street 1 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 5 (0) 

1st Street at Franklin Street 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 (1) 0 5 (1) 

7th Street at Cedar Street 1 0 0 1 0 3 0 0 0 0 5 (0) 

1st Street at Park Street 1 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 0 5 (0) 

Cota Street at 2nd Street 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 1 5 (0) 

Total 48 3 5 3 29 87 (1) 5 5 5 (1) 1 191 (2) 

Note 1: Intersections in this table had at least an average of one crash per year in period 2016-2020. 

Note 2: Numbers in brackets are severe crashes. 
 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 14 

Results of the analysis found that three signalized intersections along 1st Street experienced more than 

five total crashes with 28 at Railroad Avenue, 20 at Cota Street, and 15 at Mill Street. An additional three 

signalized intersections along Wallace Kneeland Boulevard experienced more than five crashes including 

18 at Olympic Highway North, 13 at Shelton Springs Road, and 11 at Kneeland Plaza Access. 

A significant share of the total crashes occurring at the signalized intersections included in Table 2 

involved rear end collisions (37 percent). This was followed by angle crashes at 28 percent, and left turns 

at 15 percent. 

The results of analysis at unsignalized intersections found that seven locations experienced ten or more 

crashes during the five-year period. The intersection of Wallace Kneeland Boulevard/Johns Prairie Road 

with Brockdale Road/13th Street experienced 21 total crashes for an average of over four per year. Eight 

unsignalized intersections along 1st Street experienced more than a total of five crashes.  

It should be noted that crashes that occurred at intersections are included in the corridor data 

presented in section 2.3 for both the north/south corridors and the  east/west corridors. This results in 

some double counting between corridors. 

2.5 Comparison with Western Washington 

The severe crashes in Shelton were reviewed to identify and characterize the risk factors associated 

with them. Based on available data from the records of the 16 severe crashes reported in Shelton, key 

crash factors were identified. In developing the list of crash factors that were most significant for 

Shelton city streets, consideration was given to both contributing causes and other features included in 

the crash record and on characteristics of the crash location. These risk factors are included in Table 4 

along with comparable information on the presence of these same risk factors averaged for the 

locations of severe crashes in Western Washington.  

  



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 15 

Table 4. Comparison of Crash Factors Present on City Streets in Severe Crashes  

Crash Risk Factors City of Shelton Western Washington     Cities 

By Crash Type   

   Hit Pedestrian 8 (50%) 26% 

   Entering at Angle 2 (13%) 12% 

   Hit Cyclist 2 (13%) 8% 

   Hit Fixed Object 2 (13%) 20% 

By Light Condition   

   Dark - Street Lights On 8 (50%) 36% 

By Junction Relationship   

   Not at Intersection & Not Related 8 (50%) 45% 

   At Intersection & Related 7 (44%) 39% 

By Roadway Curvature   

   Straight & Level 8 (50%) 58% 

By Traffic Control   

   No Traffic Control 11 (69%) 62% 

   Signal 4 (25%) 26% 

By Posted Speed   

   25 mph 6 (37%) 29% 

   30 mph 10 (63%) 22% 

By Pedestrian Contributing Circumstances   

   Inattentive Pedestrian (including likely) 6 (75%) 12% 

   Did not Grant ROW to Vehicle 1 (13%) 4% 

By Facility Use (Pedestrian)   

   Roadway 4 (50%) 10% 

   Marked Crosswalk 4 (50%) 8% 

Bold = Higher than the rest of Western Washington 

Table 4 summarizes the crash factors present in severe crashes that were higher in the city of Shelton 

compared to other cities in Western Washington. As indicated in bold, many of the key crash factors 

in Shelton are occurring at higher levels than other Western Washington cities, especially those 

related to pedestrians. 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 16 

3 SELECTION OF MOST COMMON RISK FACTORS 

Based on the review severe crash data presented in Chapter 2, an analysis was conducted to identify the 

most common risk factors. Risk factors included crash type, contributing factors, roadway and 

intersection characteristics and driver/pedestrian behavior. 

Based on guidance found in WSDOT’s Target Zero – Washington Strategic Highway Safety Plan, the 

primary risk factors found in severe crashes were grouped into priority levels one and two. The levels 

are based on the percentage of traffic fatalities and serious injuries associated with each factor. 

• Priority Level 1: Contributing risk factors that are involved in 25 percent or more of fatal or 

serious injury crashes  

• Priority Level 2: Risk factors that are involved in less than 25 percent of fatal or serious injury 

crashes  

From the data analysis, patterns arose showing several factors that were present in the fatal and 

serious injury collisions. The risk factors for Priority Levels 1 and 2 are listed below. 

Priority Level 1: As indicated from the data in Table 4, risk factors that represent 25 percent of more of 

the severe crashes within the city include:  

• Hitting pedestrians 

• After dark but with illumination 

• At or between intersections 

• Along straight and level roadways with no traffic control 

• In areas with both 25 and 30 mph speeds (the predominate speed limits within the city) 

• Inattentive pedestrians (or pedestrians for which no contributing cause was identified in the 

crash report but for which inattention is a likely cause) 

• Pedestrian crashes located along roadways and within crosswalks. 

Priority Level 2: All other crash types and potential risk factors identified in Table 4 including: 

• Angle crashes 

• Turning crashes 

• Hitting fixed objects 

• Signalized intersections 

• Failing to grant right of way. 

 
 

 

 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 17 

4 IDENTIFICATION OF HIGH PRIORITY LOCATIONS 

Severe crashes on streets in the city of Shelton are dominated by pedestrian crashes. Both fatal 

collisions during the five-year study period involved pedestrians including one on SR 3 and one on a city 

street. Out of all the risk factors identified under priority level 1, four specifically speak to pedestrians 

(crash type, inattentive pedestrian, failure to grant right of way, and pedestrian crashes along roadways 

or in marked crosswalks.  

Additionally, several of the crashes that occurred under dark but illuminated conditions involved 

pedestrians, occurred in areas that were straight and level with no traffic control (i.e., located away 

from intersections) and largely in areas with 30 mph speeds. None of the crashes were reported to be 

related to speeding vehicles and speed measurements taken during this study at select locations 

indicated that speeds were only slightly higher than posted. 

4.1 Selection of High Priority Locations based on Technical Analysis 

Because risk factors associated with pedestrian and bicycle crashes are the highest Severe crash type in 

Shelton, this has been selected to determine to assess the roadway corridors. The locations of all bicycle 

and pedestrian crashes were used for determining priority roadway corridors. This information, shown 

in Figure 4, indicates the following roadway corridors should be high priority locations: 

• Olympic Highway N 

• W Railroad Avenue 

• N 7th Street 

• Wallace Kneeland Boulevard 

• S 1st Street 

• Olympic Highway S 

4.2 Local Input 

Concerns that have been raised by residents have also been taken into consideration. Eight concerns 

shared are described below: 

• E Arcadia Avenue – Vehicle speeding between Lake Boulevard and Olympic Highway S 

• E K Street – Mountain View Elementary School afternoon parent pick-up 

• Wallace Kneeland Boulevard – Oakland Bay Junior High School mid-block pedestrian crossing 

• W Railroad Avenue – Pedestrian crossing between 4th Street and 2nd Street 

• Pine Street/N 1st Street – Westbound Pine Street intersection sight distance 

• E Fir Street – Steep grade and gravel material between Otter Street and Magnolia Street 

• N 13th Street/Shelton Springs Road – South leg pedestrian crossing 

• Northcliff Road/Terrace Boulevard – North and south leg pedestrian crossings 

Six of these concerns relate to pedestrian safety on roadways. Two of these roadways, W Railroad 

Avenue and Wallace Kneeland Boulevard, are registered as high priority locations while the other four 

roadways, E Arcadia Avenue, N 13th Street, E K Street, and Northcliff Road are included in the top 20 

crash corridors described in Table 1 earlier in this report. However, based on technical review of all 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 18 

existing bicycle and pedestrian crashes, these four locations did not register as high priority locations. 

The remaining two concerns raised both have to do with vehicle sight distance. 

Additional review of pedestrian-related crashes indicated that many occurred in areas with sidewalks, 

crosswalks, and bus stops and largely occurred adjacent to commercial development. None of these 

features would appear to contribute to incidence of pedestrian crashes but may be indicative of areas 

where a higher level of pedestrian activity is experienced resulting in a greater degree of exposure than 

other parts of the city. 

Both E Arcadia Avenue and E K Street are located adjacent to or in close proximity to elementary 

schools, which generate higher levels of pedestrian activity at the beginning and end of each school day. 

While there were no recorded pedestrian or bicycle crashes within the last five years on either roadway, 

the proximity to higher levels of pedestrian activity and local concern for pedestrian safety indicate 

these roadways should be included as secondary priority locations. 

The priority corridors are shown in Figure 5. 

  



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 19 

 

 

 

Figure 5. Priority Corridors and Local Safety Concern Locations 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022  |  Page 20 
 

5 IDENTIFICATION OF COUNTERMEASURES FOR HIGH 

PRIORITY CORRIDORS 

A review of each high priority crash corridor and additional spot locations raised by local residents was 

performed to identify potential safety countermeasures. These countermeasures were selected based 

on a review of the specific crash data and existing roadway conditions, consultation with City staff, and a 

review of safety countermeasure resources from WSDOT and FHWA. Below is a description of each 

identified priority location, the issues specific to that location, and the selected countermeasures. 

5.1 Olympic Highway N 

Olympic Highway N between K Street and B Street has three vehicle travel lanes ( two through and a 

center left) and on-street parking and sidewalks along both sides of the street. There are marked 

pedestrian crossings at the intersections of the roadway with K Street, J Street, I Street, G Street, E 

Street and C Street. With the exception of K Street, these crossing are located at unsignalized locations, 

which are highlighted in Figure 6. 

 

 

Figure 6. Olympic Highway N Unsignalized Pedestrian Crossing Locations 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 21 
 

The last five years of reported crash data included two bicycle crashes and four pedestrian crashes in 

this corridor, including one serious injury and one fatal crash, both involving pedestrians. The 

contributing cause for the pedestrian fatality was inattention on the part of the person walking. While 

not specifically listed, the serious injury pedestrian crash may have also been the result of walker 

inattention. Three of the six pedestrian crashes occurring in the corridor, including both severe crashes, 

happened at the I Street intersection. As noted above, this location is one of several uncontrolled 

intersections in the corridor with fully striped pedestrian crossings on each approach and adjacent 

commercial or pedestrian-generating land uses including hospital access, transit stops and other uses. 

While the specific land uses at this intersection may have contributed to the higher number of reported 

pedestrian crashes, it is assumed that the physical characteristics of this intersection are a factor. With 

several other intersections within the corridor sharing the same physical characteristics, multiple 

systemic improvements have been identified for this corridor. 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Curb extensions on Olympic Highway N for all intersecting streets and enhanced illumination. 

2. Development of ADA-compliant curb cuts with tactile warning strips. 

3. High visibility pedestrian treatments such as Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacons (RRFBs) or 

other advanced pedestrian warning signs. 

These countermeasures are recommended at the I Street intersection specifically but are all also 

considered systemic improvements for the entire corridor. 

5.2 Wallace Kneeland Boulevard 

Wallace Kneeland Boulevard Between the US 101 interchange and Shelton Springs Road has primarily 

two travel lanes in each direction and a two-way left turn lane on the western portion of the road 

adjacent to existing commercial development. There were five reported pedestrian crashes in the last 

five years, with one serious injury crash, but no bicycle crashes. All five of the recorded pedestrian 

crashes on this corridor occurred in the western portion, largely at or near the two signalized 

intersections of Olympic Highway N and Bell Lane. A detailed review of each of these crashes indicate 

that no specific deficiency is apparent. Each crash has an independent cause and the causes for multiple 

crashes were attributed to the pedestrian. 

This roadway corridor also includes one of the locally raised concerns, the mid-block pedestrian crossing 

serving the Oakland Bay Junior High School. This crossing provides a connection between the middle 

school and high school to the north and Mountain View Elementary School and residential properties to 

the south. There are crosswalks at the intersection on the school access road and on Wallace Kneeland 

Road. There are existing active pedestrian crossing signs (Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacons or RRFBs) 

and an overhead pedestrian crossing sign with flashing yellow lights. Over the last five years there have 

been no reported pedestrian or bicycle crashes at this crossing. This existing crossing is shown in Figure 

7. 

  



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 22 
 

 

 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Monitor pedestrian and bicycle safety at the Wallace Kneeland Boulevard/Olympic Highway N 

intersection. 

2. Perform an improvement alternatives study for Wallace Kneeland Boulevard at the Oakland Bay 

Junior High School mid-block crossing, including a public outreach component. 

3. Consider a midblock refuge island  

4. Consider enhanced pedestrian signal treatment that would stop vehicular traffic. 

5.3 N 7th Street 

N 7th Street between W Alder Street and W Railroad Avenue has a single travel lane in each direction 

and on-street parking on both sides of the street. This corridor experienced three reported bicycle 

crashes, including one severe crash, and two reported pedestrian crashes in the last five years. A 

detailed review of each pedestrian and bicycle crash did not indicate any specific deficiencies on the 

corridor, however the presence of three bicycle crashes suggests that this may be a good candidate for 

enhanced bicycle treatments. The planned conversion of the former Simpson Logging Railroad  that runs 

parallel to Park Street to a bicycle path and trail will provide a safe route between S 7th Street and 

Kneeland Park, which may only increase the bicycle volumes on N 7th Street. 

  

Figure 7. Wallace Kneeland Boulevard Mid-Block Pedestrian Crossing 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 23 
 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Develop city-wide bicycle route plan, to include identification of specific bicycle corridors which 

could include 7th Street. 

2. Consider enhanced bicycle treatments on 7th Street which may include designated bicycle lanes 

to enhance access to the future trail. 

5.4 W Railroad Avenue 

W Railroad Avenue between 8th Street and 1st Street has one travel lane in each direction, a two-way 

center left-turn lane, and on-street parking on both sides of the street. Curb extensions with ADA 

crossing warning strips have been provided along Railroad Avenue for many years along with street 

trees. In 2015, this corridor was improved by the city to provide high visibility, enhanced pedestrian 

amenities such as crosswalks with colored pavement, two-way left turn refuge areas, and attractive 

illumination. The corridor is shown in Figure 8. 

 

 

Between 2016 and 2020, this corridor experienced three pedestrian crashes between 7th Street and 2nd 

Street, while the intersection of Railroad Avenue and 1st Street had four pedestrian crashes, including 

one serious injury crash, and two bicycle crashes. Additionally, a vehicular serious injury crashes 

occurred at the intersection of Railroad Avenue with 7th Street.  

The intersection of Railroad Avenue with 7th Street currently is controlled by a traffic signal and there 

are marked crosswalks on all four legs. As noted, there was one serious injury vehicular crash at this 

location and one of the non-severe pedestrian crashes also occurred here. Both the serious injury 

Figure 8. W Railroad Avenue Between 8th Street and 1st Street 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 24 
 

vehicle crash and the pedestrian crash involved a vehicle making a left turn from 7th Street (one turning 

northbound and the other turning southbound). All four approaches currently operate with permissive 

left-turns, meaning all left-turning vehicles must yield to the opposing through traffic. 

Pedestrian crashes also occurred at the intersection with 2nd Street (one involving a left turning vehicle), 

and 5th Street (two with one that involved a drunk driver). None of these crashes suggest a specific 

deficiency on the corridor.  

This corridor does include one of the locally raised safety concerns. Previously the intersection of W 

Railroad Avenue and 4th Street operated under traffic signal control and provided a controlled 

pedestrian crossing to access the Post Office and other destinations in the core commercial area. The 

city removed this control a few years ago and while the vehicle operations at the intersection appear to 

be acceptable, there is concern about the loss of the protected pedestrian crossings that were a part of 

the traffic signal operation. Specific concern regarding pedestrians crossing W Railroad Avenue to reach 

the post office, located between N 2nd Avenue and N 3rd Avenue, was raised. 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Evaluate existing traffic signal and intersection operations at W Railroad Avenue/7th Street to 

determine if protected left-turn phasing could be implemented without a significant impact to 

the vehicle operations. 

2. Consider adding yield to pedestrian crossing signage on the traffic signal mast arms. 

3. As Railroad Avenue already has a good pedestrian environment with the curb extensions, ADA 

ramps and other pedestrian-supportive features, as well as signalization at the intersections 

with 1st and 5th Streets, consider installing an active pedestrian crossing signal at the intersection 

of W Railroad Avenue and 3rd Street which lies roughly midway between the two existing 

signalized crossings. 

5.5 S 1st Street (SR 3) 

S 1st Street between Railroad Avenue and Harvard Avenue has a single travel lane in each direction and a 

two-way left-turn lane. Near the center of this roadway corridor is the concrete trestle bridge crossing 

Goldsborough Creek, which narrows the street to two lanes and provides narrow, separated sidewalks 

on each side.  

There were four reported pedestrian crashes in this corridor, including one serious injury crash, which all 

occurred at the Railroad Avenue intersection. There were also five reported bicycle crashes, two of 

which occurred at the Railroad Avenue intersection. Each of the six total crashes at Railroad Avenue 

were evaluated and were predominately found to be attributed to either a failure on the part of the 

bicycle or pedestrian to yield, a failure to use the striped crosswalks, or involving the influence of 

drugs/alcohol. There does not appear to be a specific pattern to the crashes and no obvious 

countermeasures. Given the high traffic volume at this intersection, it may be a candidate for 

roundabout control, which is considered a safer intersection treatment for bicycles and pedestrians due 

to reduced travel speeds, however, the right of way impacts of a roundabout may preclude its 

implementation. 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 25 
 

The remaining three bicycle crashes occurred on S 1st Street between Park Street and Harvard Avenue, 

all south of the Goldsborough Creek bridge. Sufficient physical space to accommodate bicyclists on 1st 

Street in this area is an issue, particularly with the relatively high volume of truck traffic that uses this 

facility (1st Street in this area functions as SR 3). These crashes suggest the need for enhanced bicycle 

treatments perhaps off the 1st Street corridor. This would be particularly important to access the  

planned rails to trails conversion of the railroad line parallel to Park Street. 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Evaluate the potential for roundabout control at Railroad Avenue/1st Street. 

2. Develop city-wide bicycle route plan, to include identification of specific bicycle corridors to 

address travel needs into and out of the downtown area and to access the proposed rails to 

trails conversion. 

5.6 Olympic Highway S (SR 3) 

Olympic Highway S between Harvard Avenue and Bellevue Avenue, which is at the city boundary of SR 3, 

provides one travel lane in each direction and primarily also provides a two-way left-turn lane. Between 

Harvard Street and Fairmount Avenue, which is a steep downhill drop from south to north, the two-way 

left-turn lane convers to a 2nd southbound travel lane. There were no bicycle crashes reported in this 

corridor but there were two reported pedestrian crashes, one a serious injury crash and the other a fatal 

crash, which were both located in the immediate vicinity of the mid-block pedestrian crossing between 

Cascade Avenue and Bellevue Avenue. Additionally, one of the six serious injury vehicle crashes 

occurred in this corridor, at the intersection of Olympic Highway S and Fairmount Avenue. 

With both severe pedestrian crashes occurring in the immediate vicinity of the midblock crossing 

between Cascade Avenue and Bellevue Avenue, this crossing was evaluated. Olympic Highway S in the 

vicinity of the mid-block crossing is shown below in Figure 9. 

 

 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 26 
 

As shown on Figure 6, there are currently protected pedestrian crossings of Olympic Highway S at both 

Cascade Avenue and Arcadia Avenue, which both operate under traffic signal control. These crossings 

are located approximately 700 feet apart, with the existing mid-block crossing located approximately 

225 feet south of Cascade Avenue, just north of Bellevue Avenue. The Bordeaux Elementary School is 

Figure 9. Olympic Highway S Mid-Block Pedestrian Crossing 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 27 
 

located on Bellevue Avenue west of Olympic Highway S and draws from households east of Olympic 

Highway S. 

The crossing is currently located on a portion of Olympic Highway S with a vertical curve. The vertical 

curve crests near the Cascade Avenue intersection, which limits the available sight distance for vehicles 

travelling southbound on Olympic Highway S. The existing crossing does not provide direct overhead 

lighting and only provides an advance sign in the northbound direction. The existing sidewalk on the 

east side of Olympic Highway S extends south from Cascade Avenue and ends at the mid-block crossing. 

As this is the only mid-block crossing within the corridor and is the only location with reported bicycle or 

pedestrian crashes, the recommended countermeasures are limited to this location. 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Evaluate the viability of the mid-block crossing and if maintained: 

• Extend east sidewalk south to connect to Arcadia Avenue 

• Relocate mid-block crossing to the south side of Bellevue Avenue 

5.7 Additional Local Concern Locations 

Of the seven locally raised safety concerns, two of them have been covered in the priority corridor 

descriptions above. The remaining five concerns are evaluated below: 

5.7.1 Arcadia Avenue – Vehicle speeding between Lake Boulevard and Olympic 

Highway S 

Arcadia Avenue is an east/west minor arterial that runs from Lake Boulevard on the west end to the 

Puget Sound on the east end, well outside of the Shelton city limits. The identified area of concern is 

very near the western end of the roadway and is one block south of the Bordeaux Elementary School. In 

this area, the surrounding land uses are primarily residential, and there are multiple striped pedestrian 

crossings of Arcadia Avenue connecting the residential properties to the elementary school. There are 

currently no sidewalks provided on this portion of Arcadia Avenue and intermittent street lighting.  

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Collect vehicle speed data on Arcadia Avenue 

2. Identify speed reduction strategies and coordinate with the local residents. These could include: 

• Mini roundabout(s) 

• Speed bumps/speed tables 

• Raised pedestrian crossings 

3. Curb, gutter and sidewalk installation 

4. Enhanced street lighting 

5.7.2 E K Street – Mountain View Elementary School afternoon parent activity 

The Mountain View Elementary School has recently completed a new school building, adjacent to the 

previous building. This new school was designed to provide more on-site vehicle storage for parent pick-

up, but currently there is still a substantial vehicle queue on K Street during the afternoons. This queue 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 28 
 

results in congestion for vehicles trying to travel on K Street and is creating an unsafe environment for 

children trying to cross K Street. The school and adjacent street network are shown on Figure 10. 

 

 

As shown on Figure 10, there are currently two pedestrian crosswalks on K Street, both based on the 

location and orientation the previous school building. The new school’s primary path does not align with 

either crosswalk, which is across from King Street. Students have been observed crossing at King Street, 

even without a striped crosswalk. The previous main school entrance, across from N Callanan Street, 

provides a curb extension and a diagonal crossing to directly connect the school entrance path to the 

southwest corner of the E K Street/N Callanan Street intersection. With the new school location this 

curb extension prohibits the parent vehicle queue from advancing along the edge of the street, forcing 

vehicles to stay complete in the single westbound travel lane. 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. In cooperation with the school and school district, conduct an evaluation of access and on-site 

circulation and identify improvements that will accommodate the parent vehicle activity while 

reducing existing on-street conflicts and delays. 

Figure 10. Mountain View Elementary School 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 29 
 

2. Consider installation of a pedestrian crossing at King Street. 

3. Consider In-Street Pedestrian Crossing signs. 

4. If supported by the evaluation of on-site access and circulation, consider removal of the curb 

extension at N Callanan Street and realign the existing crosswalk to be perpendicular to E K 

Street. 

5.7.3 Pine Street/N 1st Street – Westbound Pine Street intersection sight 

distance 

This is an existing four-way intersection that operates under two-way stop control for the Pine Street 

approaches. There is an existing building on the south side of Pine Street that extends the entire block 

between N 1st Street and N Front Street. This building, as shown in Figure 11, is very tight to the 

southeast corner of the intersection and limits the ability of stopped vehicles on Pine Street from seeing 

oncoming vehicles from northbound N 1st Street. 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Conduct a study of the intersection to determine if a different control type could operate 

acceptably and reduce the sight distance need. 

5.7.4 E Fir Street – Steep grade and gravel material between Otter Street and 

Magnolia Avenue 

E Fir Street is an existing city roadway that is part of the roadway grid network serving the Capitol Hill 

area of northeast Shelton. Between Otter Street and Magnolia Avenue this road is currently gravel and 

very steep, especially as it approaches Magnolia Avenue. This leads to access issues for City 

maintenance vehicles and concerns regarding sight distance due to frequent dust and from the gravel 

roadway surface. This approach is shown on Figure 12. There are several residential driveways accessing 

this portion of E Fir Street, but much of the adjacent property on the south side is undeveloped 

Figure 11. Westbound Pine Street approaching N 1st Street 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 30 
 

 

 

 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Upgrade the roadway surface chip seal or pavement. This could be developer driven if/when the 

adjacent property is developed. 

 

5.7.5 N 13th Street/Shelton Springs Road – South leg pedestrian crossing 

The N 13th Street at Shelton Springs Road/Alpine Way intersection is located in north Shelton, just south 

of Wallace Kneeland Boulevard and is close proximity to Olympia, Middle School, Mountain View 

Elementary School, and the Olympic College Shelton Campus. N 13th Street travels north/south and 

provides access to the neighborhoods along Olympic Highway N and, via Northcliff Road, access to 

downtown Shelton. This intersection currently operates under two-way stop control for the Shelton 

Springs Road and Alpine Way, with striped crosswalks on all four approaches. The intersection is shown 

in Figure 13. 

  

Figure 12. E Fir Street approaching Magnolia Avenue 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 31 
 

Figure 13. N 13th Street/Shelton Springs Road Intersection 

Concerns have been expressed for the south leg pedestrian crossing. This crossing is across the free-

flowing N 13th Street roadway, and there are currently four travel lanes to cross. Additionally, it has been 

noted that vehicles waiting to make a left turn from northbound N 13th Street onto westbound Shelton 

Springs Road obstruct the visibility of the pedestrians for the two northbound through lanes, which has 

potentially contributed to some near miss crashes. Given the adjacent schools, this is a common 

crossing for kids to make during school hours.   

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Evaluate existing intersection operations to assess alternative control options, including all-way 

stop control, traffic signal control, and roundabout control. 

2. Consider installation of high visibility pedestrian treatments such as Rectangular Rapid Flashing 

Beacons (RRFBs) or other advanced pedestrian warning signs. 

5.7.6 Northcliff Road/Terrace Boulevard – North and south leg pedestrian 

crossings 

The Northcliff Road at Terrace Boulevard intersection is located in north Shelton, just south of Wallace 

Kneeland Boulevard and is close proximity to Olympic Middle School, Mountain View Elementary 

School, and the Olympic College Shelton Campus. N 13th Street travels north/south and provides access 

to the neighborhoods along Olympic Highway N and, via Northcliff Road, access to downtown Shelton. 

The intersection, and pedestrian crossings, are shown on Figure 14. 

 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 32 
 

Figure 14. Northcliff Road/Terrace Boulevard Intersection 

 

Concerns have been expressed regarding the safety of both Northcliff Road pedestrian crossings at this 

location. There are currently advance pedestrian signs north and south of the intersection as well as 

pedestrian crossing signs at each crosswalk. Northcliff Road is travelling uphill from south to north at 

this location, and the road has a horizontal curve immediately north of the intersection. 

Recommended Countermeasures: 

1. Monitor pedestrian and bicycle safety at the Northcliff Road/Terrace Boulevard intersection. 

2. Perform a speed study for Northcliff Road at the Terrace Boulevard intersection. 

3. Consider installation of high visibility pedestrian treatments such as Rectangular Rapid Flashing 

Beacons (RRFBs) or other advanced pedestrian warning signs. 

4. Consider installation median refuge for the south crosswalk. 

6  PRIORITIZED LIST OF COUNTERMEASURES 

Based on the detailed evaluation of each priority corridor and local concern area the recommended 

systemic and spot countermeasures were assessed, and a prioritization was established. All of the 

recommended countermeasures we divided into three tiers: 

1. Top Priorities 

2. Additional Needs 

3. Studies and Further Evaluation 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 33 
 

This prioritization was based on the severity of the existing safety issue, the nature of the proposed 

countermeasure, and the cost of the proposed countermeasure. Planning level cost estimates have been 

prepared for each potential countermeasure. The estimates provided represent the cost of independent 

implementation. However, should multiple countermeasures be implemented at the same time, the 

collective cost would likely be lower. This grouping of improvements would apply to city-wide 

implementation of a single countermeasure, like advanced pedestrian signage across town, or if multiple 

different countermeasures were implemented at the same time in a single location. Many of the 

identified countermeasures would group together naturally, for example: 

• High visibility pedestrian treatments, advance stop/yield lines, and advanced pedestrian signage 
could all group together or with any other pedestrian improvement 

• New ADA Ramp and midblock pedestrian refuge or curb extension with possible RRFB 

installation. 

The summary of proposed countermeasures, including the prioritization and estimated cost, are 

provided in Table 5. 

Table 5. Countermeasure Prioritization and Cost Estimates 

# Location Improvement Total Cost 

Tier 1 – Priority Improvements  

1-A 
Olympic Highway N at I 
Street 

• Install curb extensions 

• Enhance illumination 

• Develop ADA-compliant curb cuts and tactile warning strips 

• Install advanced pedestrian crossing warning signs 

• Install high visibility pedestrian treatments 

$350,000 

1-B 
Olympic Highway S (SR 3) 
Mid-Block Pedestrian 
Crossing 

• Extend east sidewalk south to connect to Arcadia Avenue 

• Relocate mid-block crossing to the south side of Bellevue 
Avenue 

$610,000 

Tier 2 – Additional Improvements  

2-A 
Olympic Highway N 
Between K Street and B 
Street 

• Install curb extensions 

• Enhance illumination 

• Develop ADA-compliant curb cuts and tactile warning strips 

• Install advanced pedestrian crossing warning signs 

• Install high visibility pedestrian treatments 

$1,210,000 

2-B 
W Railroad Avenue 
Between 8th Street and 
1st Street 

• Evaluate existing traffic signal and intersection operations at 
W Railroad Avenue/7th Street to assess potential protected 
left-turn phasing 

• Consider adding yield to pedestrian crossing signage on 
traffic signal mast arms at W Railroad Avenue/7th Street 

• Install active pedestrian crossing signal at the intersection of 
W Railroad Avenue and 3rd Street 

$100,000 

2-C 
E K Street at Mountain 
View Elementary School 

• Evaluate on-site circulation improvements to accommodate $180,000 



 

Shelton Local Road Safety Plan 

 

SCJ Alliance    January 2022   |  Page 34 
 

afternoon parent pick-up 

• Consider installation a pedestrian crossing at King Street 

• If supported by on-site access/circulation analysis, consider 
removing existing curb extensions at N Callanan Street and 
realign existing crosswalk 

• Consider in-street pedestrian crossing signs 

2-D 
E Fir Street Between 
Otter Street and 
Magnolia Avenue 

• Upgrade roadway surface to chip seal or pavement $175,000 

Tier 3 – Studies and Further Evaluation  

3-A 
Wallace Kneeland 
Boulevard at Mid-Block 
Pedestrian Crossing 

• Monitor pedestrian and bicycle safety 

• Perform an improvement alternatives study 
$50,000 

3-B 

S 1st Street (SR 3) 
Between Railroad 
Avenue and Harvard 
Avenue 

• Evaluate potential for roundabout control at Railroad 
Avenue and 1st Street 

• Develop citywide bicycle route plan to connect with 
downtown and rails to trails project south of downtown 

$4,100,000 

3-C 
Arcadia Avenue Between 
Lake Boulevard and 
Olympia Highway S 

• Perform a speed study 

• Consider installation of a mini roundabout 

• Consider installation of speed bumps/speed tables/raised 
pedestrian crossings 

• Consider installation of curb, gutter, and sidewalk 

• Consider installation of enhanced illumination 

$1,800,000 

3-D 
N 7th Street Between W 
Alder Street and W 
Railroad Avenue 

• Develop city-wide bicycle route plan, to include 
identification of specific bicycle corridors 

• Consider enhanced bicycle treatments on 7th Street 

$50,000 

3-E 
Pine Street at 1st Street 
Intersection Sight 
Distance 

• Conduct an evaluation of the intersection to determine if a 
different control type could operate acceptably and reduce 
the sight distance needs 

$2,000 

3-F 
N 13th Street at Shelton 
Springs Road 

• Evaluate existing intersection operations and assess 
alternative control options 

• Consider installation of high visibility pedestrian treatments 
such as Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacons (RRFBs) or other 
advanced pedestrian warning signs 

$60,000 

3-G 
Northcliff Road/Terrace 
Avenue Pedestrian 
Crossing 

• Monitor pedestrian and bicycle safety 

• Perform a speed study 

• Consider installation of refuge island 

• Consider installation of enhanced pedestrian signal 
treatment 

$140,000 

 

 



 
          Page 9 

Application submittal checklist: 

☐   Completed application form (One application per agency which includes all projects being considered for 

        funding in priority order as reflected in the agency local road safety plan) 

☐   Local Road Safety Plan/ Systemic Safety Plan 

☐   Cost estimates for each project being considered for funding 

☐   Vicinity map showing the location(s) of each project 

☐   Project conceptual plans 

☐   Project cross sections 

☐   Cross jurisdictional letter of concurrence (as applicable) 

Submit completed application and required documents to HLPGrants@wsdot.wa.gov. 

 

mailto:HLPGrants@wsdot.wa.gov


Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item C5) 

Touch Date:  08/05/2024  
Brief Date:     08/20/2024   
Action Date:  09/03/2024 

Department: Public Works 
   
Presented By:  Jay Harris, Public Works Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
Grant Acceptance of Railway 
Crossing Removal 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 
 - Resolution No. 1344-0824  
 - Application/Project Award Notice  

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head      J.O.H 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
Program: FHWA Safety Program (Section 130) 
Agency: City of Shelton  
Date: 12/15/2022 
Project Title: SR 3, S 7th St, Hulbert Rd E, Railroad Crossing Closure Project Number: To be assigned 
USDOT Crossing Number: 856745E (SR-3), 856746L (S 7th Street), and 856751H (Hulbert Road East) 
Project Description:  Crossing Closures 
Detailed Project Description: 
Removing the existing railroad track and panels, associated equipment, warning devices, and railroad  
cabinet(s). improving sight lines, providing clearer delineation of pathways for pedestrians and cyclists,  
and removing potential roadside hazards. Restoration will include repaving SR-3 and reestablishing  
vegetation and installing channelization and signing. Restoration of the roadway surface and installation  
of new sidewalk will provide a smoother passage for vehicles, pedestrians, and cyclists and will remove  
a potential hazard for wheelchairs, strollers, and bikes caused by the gap between the tracks and railroad 
panels. 
 
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
The City Council may elect not to accept these funds and to not proceed with these projects. These  
grant monies and projects would not be able to proceed, as intended and the grant money sent back  
to the granting agency.    
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION: 
The project is slated to be fully funded by the awarded grant funds.   
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
All documents associated with this grant and project are available from the Public Works Department with the  
City of Shelton.    
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to adopt Resolution No. 1344-0824 within the consent agenda at the September 3, 2024 Council 
meeting.”  



   

RESOLUTION NO. 1344-0824 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACCEPT GRANT FEDERAL FUNDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $679,000 

FOR PROPOSED RAILWAY LINE REMOVAL PROJECTS  
 

 
WHEREAS, the City was awarded funds by the Rail-Highway Crossing (Section 130) Safety Program; and 
 
WHEREAS, the projects (3 in total) consist of removing existing railroad track and panels, associated 
equipment, warning devices, and railroad cabinet(s). improving sight lines, providing clearer delineation 
of pathways for pedestrians and cyclists, and removing potential roadside hazards; and 
 
WHEREAS, it makes the most sense for the City to utilize this grant award in the design and 
improvements associated with removing these railways in the vicinity of State Route 3, South 7th Street 
and Hulbert Road East. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Shelton, Washington, as follows: 
 

1. The City Manager is authorized to accept grant funds in the amount of $679,000 for the design 
and construction of improvements in removing existing railways within the City of Shelton, as 
outlined within the attached grant materials. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 20th of August 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting on the 
3rd of September 2024. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault  
 
 
 



 
 
February 22, 2023 
 
Mr. Jay Harris, PE 
Public Works Director 
City of Shelton 
525 West Cota Street 
Shelton, Washington 98584 
 
SR 3, S 7th St, Hulbert Rd E, Railroad Crossing Closure 
2023 Rail-Highway Crossings Program Selections 
Federal Funding 
 
Dear Mr. Harris: 
 
WSDOT is pleased to advise you that the above-mentioned safety project was recently selected 
to receive funding through the Rail-Highway Crossings (Section 130) Safety Program. The 
federal funding is limited to the amount shown below: 

 
SR 3, S 7th St, Hulbert Rd E, Railroad Crossing Closure   $679,000 
Scope: See attached Project Summary – delivered as one contract.  
 
NOTE: The project is eligible for 100% Section 130 funding, for all phases authorized prior to 
September 10, 2026. If any phase is not obligated by this date, remaining funding will be 
rescinded, and the agency will need to re-compete for funding or construct the project with local 
funds. Scope and funding modifications require prior approval from WSDOT Local Programs.  
 
In order to meet state and federal requirements, the following are required: 
 Project expenditures incurred before receiving notice from Local Programs of federal 

fund authorization are not eligible for reimbursement. 
 Please refer to the Local Programs web page for detailed information, including: 

(https://wsdot.wa.gov/business-wsdot/support-local-programs) 
 Local Agency Guidelines (LAG) manual for the requirements regarding 

programming, authorization, reimbursement, etc.; 
 Projects utilizing federal funds must be included in your current Transportation 

Improvement Program (TIP) as a complete programmed project. Once your TIP 
amendment is approved, WSDOT will amend the Statewide Transportation 
Improvement Program (STIP); 

 Funding and billing forms; 

https://wsdot.wa.gov/business-wsdot/support-local-programs


Mr. Jay Harris, PE 
City of Shelton 
February 22, 2023 
 
 

 Local Project Report is required to be completed by the end of June and 
December each year. To access the database you will need an account name and 
password. Your account name is Shelton and your password is Shelt396. The 
password is case sensitive. 

 If the project is not actively pursued, or becomes inactive (23 CFR 630), the project is at 
risk of being cancelled, and funds reprogrammed. 

 FHWA requires that all projects are ADA compliant upon completion or the federal 
funds must be repaid. 

 
As a reminder, Local Programs requires all agencies to submit monthly progress billings to 
ensure timely reimbursement of eligible federal expenditures. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact your Region Local Programs Engineer, John Ho at 
John.Ho@wsdot.wa.gov or 564.669.1018. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
      
Jay Drye, PE 
Director 
Local Programs 
 
 
JD:km:cdm 
Enclosure 
cc: Bek Ashby, Executive Board Chair, Pennisula RTPO 

John Ho, Olympic Region Local Programs Engineer 
Ken Gill, Shelton City Engineer 

mailto:John.Ho@wsdot.wa.gov






 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
City Council Meeting Minutes 

July 16, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel: 
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler  
Deputy Mayor Sharon Schirman City Clerk Donna Nault 
George Blush Finance Director Mike Githens  
Tom Gilmore Capital Projects Manager Aaron Nix 
Miguel Gutierrez   
Lyndsey Sapp 
Melissa Stearns     
   
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Onisko 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – All Present 
 
LATE CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
None 
 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
None 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Vouchers numbered 111066 through 111094 and EFT payment numbers 466 through 480 in the total amount 

of $160,277.59 
2. Vouchers numbered 111101 through 111129 and EFT payment numbers 481 through 497 in the total amount 

of $134,224.12 
 
City Clerk Nault read the items on the consent agenda. A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and 
seconded by Councilmember Stearns to approve the consent agenda as read. Passed. 
 
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT (3-minute time limit) 
In-Person: Zoom: 
Jackie Jewett None 
Dean Jewett 
 
There were some interactions between the Council and members of the public. Mayor Onisko asked if anyone 
wanted to make a motion to remove Councilmember Gutierrez from the meeting. Councilmember Gutierrez 
made a motion to remove himself from the meeting. The motion was seconded by Deputy Mayor Schirman. 
Passed. 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
1. May Financial Status Report – Presented by Finance Director Mike Githens 
 
Finance Director Githens presented an overview of the financial reports through the month of May. Discussion 
followed. 
    



 

City Council – July 16, 2024 - Meeting Minutes 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform  Page 2 of 2 

BUSINESS AGENDA 
1. Resolution No. 1341-0724 Grant Acceptance for Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd – Presented by   
    Capital Projects Manager Aaron Nix 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix presented information regarding accepting a grant for the Wallace Kneeland 
Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd intersection upgrades. Discussion followed. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gilmore and seconded by Councilmember Blush to place Resolution 
No. 1341-0724 on the consent agenda of the August 6, 2024 council meeting. Passed 

  
ACTION AGENDA 
No action items 
 
ADMINISTRATION REPORT 
1. City Manager Report 

• The City will have a booth at the Chamber’s Expo & Bite of Shelton this Friday 
• Call from USPS to continue looking at the lease agreement for Post Office Park 
• Fifth Tuesday on July 30th, 2024. There will be no city council meeting 

 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
Councilmember Blush made a motion to suspend 20.38.030 Section A of the temporary sign code until 
December 31, 2024 so we have time for public input, and we can address some issues and concerns that our 
community members have. Councilmember Sapp seconded the motion. No public comment. Discussion 
followed. Councilmember Blush amended his motion to state that we suspend 20.38.030 Section A of the 
temporary sign code until we can get it in front of a committee and a study session as soon as our City 
Manager can get it arranged for public input. Mayor Onisko seconded the amended motion. Passed. The 
original motion was withdrawn. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING 
Study Session – July 23, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.  
City Council Meeting – August 6, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:41 p.m. 
 
 
 
___________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko  City Clerk Donna Nault 



 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
Study Session Minutes 

July 23, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

 

City Council - Study Session 
July 23, 2024 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform Page 1 of 1 
 

 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel:  
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler   
Deputy Mayor Sharon Schirman City Clerk Donna Nault 
George Blush   
Tom Gilmore Guest: 
Miguel Gutierrez (via Zoom) Troy Nichols – Government Affairs Consultant 
Lyndsey Sapp 
Melissa Stearns 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – All Present 
 
STUDY AGENDA 
1. Annual Report – Presented by Troy Nichols of The Nichols Group Government Relations 
 
Troy Nichols presented his annual report. Discussion followed. 
 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:46 p.m. 
 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko     City Clerk Donna Nault 



 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 6, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 

Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel: 
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler  
Deputy Mayor Sharon Schirman City Clerk Donna Nault 
George Blush Finance Director Mike Githens  
Tom Gilmore Superintendent Brent Armstrong 
Miguel Gutierrez Police Chief Chris Kostad  
Lyndsey Sapp  
Melissa Stearns Guest:     

Deidre Peterson 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:02 p.m. (due to technical difficulties) 
Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Onisko 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – All Present 
 
LATE CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
None 
 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

• Mason County Board of Health  
• SMPD – Blue Zone Grant 
• Shelton Memorial Parks District 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Vouchers numbered 111157 through 111213 and EFT payment numbers 498 through 520 in the total amount 

of $389,912.64 
2. Vouchers numbered 111226 through 111257 and EFT payment numbers 521 through 541 in the total amount 

of $226,166.12 
3. Vouchers numbered 111258 through 111285 and EFT payment numbers 542 through 553 in the total amount 

of $138,939.02 and bank drafts 00110379, DFT0001624 through DFT0001722 in the total amount of 
$1,486,514.59 

4. Payroll warrants numbered 3988 through 3990 and 12835 through 12939. Warrants 111130 through 111149 
in the amount of $529,012.10 

5. Payroll warrants numbered 3991 and 12940 through 13038. Warrants 111214 through 111225 in the amount 
of $389,968.13 

6. Resolution No. 1341-0724 Grant Acceptance for Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Road 
7. Minutes: 

• Study Session of June 25, 2024 
• Business Meeting of July 2, 2024 
• Study Session of July 9, 2024 

 
City Clerk Nault read the items on the consent agenda. A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and 
seconded by Councilmember Stearns to approve the consent agenda as read. Passed. 
 



 

City Council – August 6, 2024 - Meeting Minutes 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform  Page 2 of 3 

 
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT (3-minute time limit) 
In-Person: Zoom: 
Jackie Jewett     Colleen Carmichael 
Dean Jewett 
Kathy McDowell 
Susan Kirchoff 
Kathleen Blanchette 
Jasmine (no last name given) 
Jamie Ellertsen 
Marie Marbet 
 
PRESENTATIONS 
1. Shelton-Mason County Chamber Q1 LTAC Report – Presented by President/CEO Deidre Peterson 
 
President/CEO Peterson presented her Quarter 1 LTAC report. No discussion. 
    
BUSINESS AGENDA 
1. Resolution No. 1342-0724 Contract Amendment No. 3 with Aspect Consulting for C Street Landfill Post-

Cleanup Monitoring – Presented by Superintendent Brent Armstrong 
 
Superintendent Armstrong presented information regarding a contract amendment with Aspect Consulting for 
the C Street landfill post-cleanup monitoring. Discussion followed. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Stearns to place Resolution 
No. 1342-0724 on the August 20, 2024 council meeting action agenda for further consideration. Passed. 
 
2. Contract with Flock Safety – Presented by Police Chief Chris Kostad 
 
Chief Kostad presented information regarding a contract with Flock Safety. No discussion. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Deputy Mayor Schirman to place this item 
on the August 20, 2024 council meeting action agenda for further consideration. Passed. 
 
3. PUD Poles for Automatic License Plate Recognition (ALPR) Cameras – Presented by Police Chief Chris 

Kostad 
 
Chief Kostad presented information regarding PUD poles for automatic license plate recognition (ALPR) 
cameras. Discussion followed. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Stearns to place this PUD 
agreement on the August 20, 2024 council meeting action agenda for further consideration. Passed. 
 
ACTION AGENDA 
None 
 
ADMINISTRATION REPORT 
1. City Manager Report 

• Thank you to all involved in the Art Walk 
• Mayor, Deputy Mayor & Councilmember Gutierrez (budget sub-committee) met on August 5, 2024 
• LTAC grant period is now open, through August 31, 2024 

 
 



 

City Council – August 6, 2024 - Meeting Minutes 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform  Page 3 of 3 

 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING 
Study Session – August 13, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.  
City Council Meeting – August 20, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:58 p.m. 
 
 
 
___________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko  City Clerk Donna Nault 



 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
Study Session Minutes 

August 13, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

 

City Council - Study Session 
August 13, 2024 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform Page 1 of 1 
 

 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel:  
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler   
Deputy Mayor Sharon Schirman City Clerk Donna Nault 
George Blush Community & Economic Development Director Jae Hill  
Tom Gilmore 
Miguel Gutierrez  
Lyndsey Sapp 
Melissa Stearns 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – All Present 
 
STUDY AGENDA 
1. Height Limit Ordinance – Presented by Community & Economic Development Director Jae Hill 
 
Community & Economic Development Director Hill presented information regarding the building height 
limit ordinance. Discussion followed. 
 
2. Shopping Cart Regulations – Presented by Community & Economic Development Director Jae Hill 
 
Community & Economic Development Director Hill presented information regarding shopping cart 
regulations. Discussion followed. 
 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:35 p.m. 
 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko     City Clerk Donna Nault 



Mason County  

His to r i c a l  

Museum

Q2 2024 Report for the City of 
Shelton  Lodging Tax Funds

Liz Arbaugh, Executive Director



Total Museum Visitor Count – Quarter 2 - 2024

Total 

Visitors

Local 

Visitors

>50

Miles

Out of 

State 

Visitors

Inter-

national 

Visitors

Calls Email

/Web

April 127 92 25 10 15 6

May 215 127 48 38 2 28 9

June 305 189 67 45 4 38 21

Q2 Totals 647 408 140 93 6 81 36



W E B S I T E  

T R A F F I C  –

G O O G L E  

A N A L Y T I C S



S Q UA R E

W E B S I T E  T R A F F I C  

A N D  S A L E S  

S U M M A R I E S



FAC E B O O K  

I N T E R AC T I O N S





C RU S I N ’  

T H RO U G H  

T I M E  C A R 

S H OW

J U N E  3 0 , 2 0 2 4

O V E R  3 0 0  C A R S  

A N D  T H O U S A N D S  

O F  V I S I T O R S



 

427 WEST RAILROAD AVENUE, SHELTON, WA  98584 
T 360-426-1020 U WWW.MASONCOUNTYHISTORICALSOCIETY.ORG 

Mason County Historical Society 
 

Final Report “Cruisin Through Time” Car Show  

To:  City Council, City of Shelton WA 

cc.  Lodging Tax Advisory Committee 

From:  Elizabeth Arbaugh, Executive Director  

             Mason County Historical Society Museum 

The “Cruisin’ Through Time” Car Show took place on June 30, 2024.  This was 

the second year the Mason County Historical Society partnered with the Shelton 

Downtown Merchants Association to produce the car show.  It had been put on 

by the Friends of The Mason County Museum for 19 years prior to the pandemic 

and had been the primary fundraiser for the museum during that time.   

This year’s car show brought in over 300 classic cars, of which 267 were 

registered.  In 2023, there were 146 cars registered.  This year's car show 

brought over a thousand spectators supporting local businesses, shops and 

restaurants on a normally slow Sunday.   

Of the registered participants, 33 were from distances greater than 50 miles, of 

which half could be expected to use commercial lodging.  48 were from outside 

Mason County, and the remaining 186 cars were from Mason County.  

Advertising for the car show was in the car show “Yellow Book,” promotion 

through social media by both the Downtown Merchants and the Museum, and 

on the Museum website. 

The “Cruisin’ Through Time” Car Show had 29 local sponsors donating cash and 

items, and over 50 volunteers.  Expenses for the event totaled over $4700, with 

total revenue of $10,250.  Profits will be equally shared by the museum and by 

the Shelton Downtown Merchants Association.  

 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F1) 

Touch Date: 08/13/2024 
Brief Date:    09/03/2024        
Action Date: 11/05/2024  

Department:     Community & Economic Development 
   
Presented By:  Jae Hill, Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

  PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
  Repeal of Building Height Limits 
 
  ATTACHMENTS:  
  - Ordinance No. 2021-0824   

 
Action Requested: 
 

X Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  JBH 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
The City Council has expressed the desire to increase the viability of development within City limits; as such, 
the Council has indicated that the elimination of height limits in all zones within City limits might help to increase 
the production of affordable and multifamily housing and increase the viability of development projects. 
 
At its August 13, 2024 study session the Council received a presentation from Community and Economic 
Development staff that presented the attached ordinance. Council discussion confirmed that applicable 
building, fire, and life safety codes would regulate materials and general safety of buildings based on height and 
method of construction and that height limits would remain in place in the Airport Industrial zone and would 
similarly stay in place for wireless facilities and freestanding signs as well as certain accessory structures and 
uses. The ordinance presented to the Council at the August 13 meeting has been amended to include the 
Neighborhood Residential zoning district. 
   
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
The Council may adopt the ordinance as written, amend the ordinance, or leave height limits in place. 
   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
Enforcement of the ordinance would be performed by existing staff.   
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Notice of Public Hearing was published in the Shelton/Mason Journal on August 22, 2024  
 
The proposed ordinance constitutes changes to the City’s development regulations, which requires a 60-day 
review by the State Department of Commerce. Final action and adoption by Council can’t occur until at least 
October 22, 2024; the next regular business meeting of the City Council is November 5, 2024.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move that we place Ordinance No. 2021-0824 on the action agenda at the November 5, 2024 regular Council 
meeting.”   



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-0824 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON, AMENDING TITLE 20 OF THE SHELTON 
MUNICIPAL CODE FOR THE PURPOSE OF ABOLISHING BUILDING HEIGHT LIMITS 

WHEREAS, the development regulations in the Shelton Municipal Code (SMC) have long 
established height limits by zoning district; and 

WHEREAS, current height limits are not tied by building code regulation to the applicable 
zoning codes; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council desires to increase the production of affordable and multifamily 
housing in the City of Shelton; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council also desires to increase the feasibility and viability of 
development projects throughout City limits for the purposes of economic development; and 

WHEREAS, applicable building codes will still regulate the materials and safety of buildings 
based on height and method of construction; and 

WHEREAS, height limits will remain in place in the Airport Industrial (AI) Zone to protect the 
utility of Sanderson Field; and 

WHEREAS, height for properties located in the Airport Overlay Zone will still be regulated by 
the applicable flight path contours; and 

WHEREAS, height limits for wireless facilities, freestanding signs, and accessory uses or 
structures shall still be regulated by the specific content of each applicable zoning district or 
supplementary regulations; 

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Shelton ordains as follows: 

 Section 1. Table 20.06.030(A) of the Shelton Municipal Code, pertaining to dimensional 
standards by zoning district, is amended as follows: 

Table 20.06.030 
A. General Considerations: Lot Size, Setbacks, Building Height and Size. 

    ZONES:   

    NR AI PS MU ME CR-V CR-G DT GC CI I LI-C PR-A 

General: Units:                           

Design 
review? 

yes or no by 
use 

yes4 yes5 y n y y y yes3 n n yes, where 
indicated 

yes 

Minimum lot 
size 

square 
feet 

varies none 6,000 6,000 none 6,000 varies none none none none 6,000 6,000 



 

Front yard, 
minimum 

feet 10 0 10 15 10 10 10 0 0 0 0 10 10 

Front yard, 
maximum 

feet none none none none none none none 10 none none none none none 

Side yard feet 5 0 10 10 5 5 5 0 0 0 0 5 5 

Side yard on 
R-O-W 

feet 7 0 10 10 10 10 10 0 0 0 0 7 7 

Rear yard feet 15 0 10 n/a 10 n/a 5 0 0 0 0 15 12 

Rear yard, 
alley 

feet 2 0 3 n/a n/a n/a 2 0 0 0 0 n/a 5 

Building 
ground floor, 
maximum 

square 
feet 

n/a none none 6,000 n/a 6,000 n/a none none none none 3,0001 3,000 

Building size, 
maximum2 

square 
feet 

n/a none none 9,000 n/a 15,000 n/a none none none none 12,000 12,000 

Building 
height 

feet/floor 30/2 

none 

45 60 

none 

35 

none 

35 

none 

35 

none 

n/a 

none 

35/3 

none 

35/2 

none 

35/2 

none 

35/2 

none 

35/3 

none 

35/2 

none 

Building 
coverage 

% 35 n/a 60 35/55 35 35/55 45 n/a n/a n/a n/a 35/55 35/55 

Development 
coverage 

% 45 n/a 80 60/80 65 60/80 65 n/a n/a n/a n/a 60/80 70 

Outside 
storage? 

yes or no n/a y n n n n n/a n y y y conditional 
use where 
specifically 
indicated 

n 

1.    Buildings up to 6,000 square feet ground floor may be allowed as a conditional use. See 
Section 20.44.330. 

2.    For purposes of calculating maximum building size, floor area in basements used for storage, 
mechanical equipment, and/or noncommercial or nonresidential uses shall not be included. 

3.    Design review required only in portions of the GC zone within a designated gateway corridor per 
the comprehensive plan. For purposes of this section, the gateway corridor shall include all 
property within 100 feet of the public right-of-way concerned. 

4.    Design standards shall be required for the gateway and neighborhood commercial districts of 
the Sanderson Field master plan. See Section 20.64.110. 

5.    Site plan review required for all new projects within the PS zoning district, with additional 
consideration given to ensure the project is sensitive to existing residences and commercial uses, 
reinforces the character of surrounding properties, and incorporates traditional forms and 
materials into the development. See Chapter 20.49. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Shelton/#!/Shelton20/Shelton2044.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Shelton/#!/Shelton20/Shelton2064.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Shelton/#!/Shelton20/Shelton2049.html


 

Section 2. Table 20.08.050, pertaining to dimensional standards in the NR Neighborhood 
Residential District, is amended as follows:  

Minimum Lot Standards With Alleys Without Alleys 

Lot area 4,500 sq. ft. 
6,000 sq. ft. 
for a corner 
lot 

4,500 sq. ft. 
6,000 sq. ft. 
for a corner 
lot 

Front yard 10 ft. 
15 ft. for garages and carports 
to the entrance, side entry ex-
empt 

Side yard 5 ft. 

Flanking street 7 ft. 
15 ft. for garages and carports 
to the entrance, side entry ex-
empt 

Rear yard 15 ft. 
(5 feet for a 
detached 
garage) 

15 ft. 

Corner lots Corner lot setbacks at 10 ft. for 
each street frontage. Side and 
back yard setbacks determined 
by owner at the time of permit 
application 
For lots under 6,000 sq. ft. one 
street frontage setback shall be 
7 ft. 

Building height 35 Feet 
None 

Development coverage 50% 
60% development coverage is 
allowed for the construction of 
an accessory dwelling unit per 
Section 20.08.020(B) as of the 
adoption of this code or June 
16, 2021 

Lot width 30 ft. 

Street frontage/street 
access 

Per IFC and IBC, Title 18 

 

Section 3.  Table 20.09.050, pertaining to dimensional standards in the LI-C LOW INTENSITY 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

Table 20.09.050  

Minimum 
Standards 

With Al-
leys 

Without 
Alleys 

Lot area 4500 sq. 
ft. 

6000 
sq. ft. 

Front yard 10 feet 10 feet 

Side yard* 5 feet 5 feet 



 

Flanking 
street 7 feet 7 feet 

Rear yard 
15 feet 

15 feet (2 for 
garage) 

Building 
cover-
age** 

35—55% 35—
55% 

Building 
height 

35 feet 
none 

35 feet 
none 

Develop-
ment cov-
erage** 

60—80% 60—
80% 

*    Side yards are measured 
from perimeter, not interior, lot 
lines in cases of multilot projects. 
**    Increased coverage permit-
ted if through block access pro-
vided. 

 

Section 4. SMC Section 20.09.080, pertaining to dimensional standards in the LI-C LOW INTENSITY 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.09.080 Development standards for commercial uses in LI-C district. 

Low-intensity commercial uses shall be allowed in all low-intensity commercial (LI-C) zones subject 
to the following conditions: 

A.    Allowed uses within low-intensity commercial areas: see chart at Section 20.06.030 LI-C zone. 

1.    Uses similar to uses listed may be approved by the site plan review committee upon finding the 
use is consistent with the intent of this chapter and in the best interests of the surrounding 
neighborhood. Uses shall only be considered similar if they have similar noise, traffic, and artificial 
light impacts. 

2.    Uses other than those identified or described in subsection (A)(1) of this section are prohibited. 

B.    Community Environmental Performance Standards. 

1.    General Character. Developments in this district shall generally be characterized by small 
buildings, low traffic generation, considerable walk-in trade, moderate interior and exterior lighting, 
quiet operations, and little or no night activity. Operating hours shall be limited to the hours 
between six a.m. and ten p.m. 

2.    Storage. Outdoor storage shall be permitted only as a conditional use and shall meet the 
standards of notes 15(a), (b), and (c) in the matrix at Table 20.06.030. 

C.    Site Area. The size and shape of the sites shall be as follows: 

1.    Minimum lot size from the development of a site in this classification shall be six thousand 
square feet except that three-thousand-square-foot lots existing at the time of adoption of this 
chapter shall be legal building lots; 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Shelton/#!/Shelton20/Shelton2006.html


 

2.    Where open space is provided, commercial uses shall be arranged around that open space. 
Where open space is not provided, arrangement of commercial uses around an intersection is 
required where possible or shall face each other across a street (strip development along one side 
of a street is strong discouraged). Other configurations may be deemed appropriate by the site plan 
review committee upon finding that the overall design fits the intent of this section. 

D.    Building Size Dimensions. The size height, setbacks, and other dimensional standards of the 
buildings shall be as follows:  provided in Table 20.06.030(A)  

1.    Maximum gross floor area of building for single use: twelve thousand square feet; with a 
maximum of three thousand square feet being on the ground floor unless a larger amount is 
permitted as a conditional use per this chapter and Section 20.44.330. In no case shall a second 
floor exceed the area of the ground floor; 

2.    Maximum building coverage: thirty-five to fifty-five percent; 

3.    Maximum development coverage: sixty to eighty percent; 

4.    Maximum building height: thirty-five feet; 

5.    Setbacks: 

a.    Front: minimum ten feet, 

b.    Rear: minimum fifteen feet, 

c.    Side: minimum five feet, seven on a flanking street. 

 

Section 5. SMC Section 20.10.070, pertaining to dimensional standards in the MU LOW INTENSITY 
MIXED USE DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.10.070 Lot, yard, and open space requirements. 

A.    Minimum lot size: six thousand square feet. Lots may contain more than one use and will be a 
shape and design appropriate to the zone and intended uses as determined by the city. 

B.    Front yard: minimum fifteen feet. 

C.    Side yard: minimum ten feet. 

D.    Rear yard: zero feet, except when property adjoins a land use district with greater setbacks, the 
setback of the adjacent use shall apply. 

E.    Maximum building coverage: thirty-five percent, however, this may be increased up to a 
maximum of fifty-five percent if the following bonus is used: 

1.    Projects providing a corridor that facilitates pedestrian access through the block or along a 
creek, lake, or other natural amenity: twenty percent bonus; 

Note: This bonus is to be added to the base allowable building coverage. 

F.    Maximum development coverage: Maximum coverage by impervious surfaces shall be sixty 
percent, unless increased up to a maximum of eighty percent if the following bonus is used: 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Shelton/#!/Shelton20/Shelton2044.html


 

1.    Projects providing a corridor that facilitates pedestrian access through the block or along a 
creek, lake, or other natural amenity: twenty percent bonus; 

Note: This bonus is to be added to the base allowable impervious surface coverage. The provisions 
of the Shelton Municipal Code regarding stormwater runoff, parking, landscaping, and design 
requirements may further limit impervious surfaces. 

G.    Building height: not more than thirty-five feet. Building height requirements shall be as 
provided in Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 6. SMC Section 20.12.060, pertaining to dimensional standards in the CR-V VALLEY 
COMMERCIAL/RESIDENTIAL MIX DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.12.060 Building height. 

A.    Building height: not more than thirty-five feet. Building height requirements shall be as provided 
in Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 7. SMC Section 20.14.060, pertaining to dimensional standards in the CR-G GOOSE LAKE 
COMMERCIAL/RESIDENTIAL MIX DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.14.060 Building height. 

Building height: not more than thirty-five feet. Building height requirements shall be as provided in 
Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 8. SMC Section 20.16.050, pertaining to dimensional standards in the PS—PUBLIC 
SERVICES DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.16.050 Building height. 

A.    Maximum building height: sixty feet. Exception: when buildings abut the public services overlay 
district boundary and/or residential uses, buildings shall not exceed thirty-five feet unless a buffer 
between the building and the required setback from the adjoining property line equivalent to or 
greater than the building height exceeding thirty-five feet is provided. Construction of buildings in 
excess of two stories and/or thirty-five feet in height may trigger nonconventional building and/or 
fire safety requirements. Any structures constructed within the overlay district are required to 
conform to the building and construction provisions within Title 18.   Building height requirements 
shall be as provided in Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 9. SMC Section 20.20.060, pertaining to dimensional standards in the DT DOWNTOWN 
DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.20.060 Building height. 

https://www.codepublishing.com/WA/Shelton/#!/Shelton18/Shelton18.html


 

Maximum height for the DT district shall be as follows: three stories, but not to exceed forty feet for 
buildings, structures, and appurtenant facilities. Exception: If the DT zoned property directly abuts 
a less intense zoned property, the maximum building height shall not exceed thirty-five feet in 
height. Building height requirements shall be as provided in Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 10. SMC Section 20.22.050, pertaining to dimensional standards in the ME 
MEDICAL/EDUCATIONAL DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.22.050 Maximum height. 

Maximum height for the ME district shall be as follows: thirty-five feet for buildings, structures, and 
appurtenant facilities. Building height requirements shall be as provided in Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 11. SMC Section 20.26.050, pertaining to dimensional standards in the GC GENERAL 
COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.26.050 Maximum height. 

Maximum height for the GC district shall be as follows: not to exceed forty-five feet for buildings, 
structures, and appurtenant facilities. Exception: If the GC zoned property directly abuts a less 
intense zoned property, the maximum building height shall not exceed thirty-five feet in height. 
Building height requirements shall be as provided in Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 12. SMC Section 20.28.050, pertaining to dimensional standards in the CI COMMERCIAL—
INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.28.050 Maximum height. 

Maximum height for the CI district shall be as follows: none required, except when adjoining a more 
restrictive use district, the height required shall apply. Building height requirements shall be as 
provided in Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 13. SMC Section 20.30,040, pertaining to dimensional standards in the I INDUSTRIAL 
DISTRICT, is amended as follows: 

20.30.040 Maximum height. 

Maximum height for the industrial district shall be as follows: none required, except when adjoining 
a more restrictive use district, the height required shall apply. Building height requirements shall be 
as provided in Table 20.06.030(A). 

 

Section 14. SMC Section 20.44.170, pertaining to dimensional standards in the CU CONDITIONAL 
USES, is amended as follows: 

20.44.170 Churches. 



 

E.    The height limitations of the pertinent use district need not be observed; however, if the height 
limitation of such use district is exceeded, then each side yard shall be equal in width to at least 
fifty percent of the height of the building, spires and towers excluded. 

Section 15. This Ordinance shall take effect five days after approval and publication, as required by 
law.  

Passed by the City Council at its regular meeting held on the 5th day of November 2024. 

 

                                                               _________________________________ 
 Mayor Eric Onisko 
 
 
ATTEST:  
  
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk Donna Nault  

 

 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F2) 

Touch Date:  08/13/2024 
Brief Date:    09/03/2024        
Action Date:  09/17/2024  

Department:     Community & Economic Development 
   
Presented By:  Jae Hill, Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

  PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
  Shopping Cart Regulations 
 
  ATTACHMENTS:  

Ordinance No. 2022-0824   

 
Action Requested: 
 

X Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  JBH 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
The City Council has expressed the desire to regulate shopping carts to minimize the removal of shopping carts 
from retail establishments and to encourage better monitoring and stewardship of shopping carts by local 
retailers within City limits. The Council has found that carts removed from the premises of a business and 
abandoned in various locations throughout the City can create conditions of blight, interfere with pedestrian and 
vehicular traffic on pathways, driveways, public and private streets, and pose other hazards and problems. 
 
At its August 13, 2024 study session the Council received a presentation from Community and Economic 
Development staff outlining the general method for regulation of shopping carts utilized in other communities 
and received a draft ordinance intended to do the same within City limits. That ordinance was reviewed and 
amended by the City’s legal counsel. The amendments shorten the ordinance, but it retains the same process 
and intended outcomes presented to the Council on August 13. 
   
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
Enacting the ordinance, or a version of the ordinance, would likely result in less shopping cart related impacts 
throughout the City and give staff a more effective tool to work with local retailers to encourage better 
monitoring and stewardship of their shopping carts. 
   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
Enforcement of the ordinance would be performed by existing staff.   
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Notice of Public Hearing was published in the Shelton/Mason Journal on August 22, 2024   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move that we place Ordinance No. 2022-0824 on the action agenda at the September 17, 2024 regular 
Council meeting”.   



1 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-0824 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON, ADDING CHAPTER 8.30 TO THE 
SHELTON MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO REGULATION OF SHOPPING CARTS 

WHEREAS, shopping carts that are removed from the premises of a business and left 
abandoned on public or private property throughout the City can create conditions of blight in 
the community, obstruct free access to sidewalks, streets and other rights-of-way, interfere 
with pedestrian and vehicular traffic on pathways, driveways, public and private streets, 
impede emergency services, or pose other dangers; and 

WHEREAS, many jurisdictions located in the State of Washington have adopted 
regulations pertaining to shopping carts; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Shelton regulates Public Health and Sanitation, including 
nuisances and littering, in Title 8 of the City’s Municipal Code; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has requested adoption of regulations to prevent the theft 
and removal of shopping carts in the community;  

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Shelton ordains as follows: 

 Section 1. A new Chapter 8.30 of the Shelton Municipal Code, Shopping Cart Regulation, 
is added as follows: 

Chapter 8.30 SHOPPING CART REGULATION 

8.30.010  Definitions. 

Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, the following words and terms as used in 
this chapter shall have the following meanings: 

A. “Identification sign” or “cart sign” means a clearly visible sign fastened to each cart 
that provides ownership information required by this chapter. 

B. “Parking area” means a parking lot or other property provided by a retail 
establishment for the use of customers of said retail establishment for the parking of 
customer vehicles. The parking area of a retail establishment located in a multistore 
complex or a shopping center shall include the entire parking area used by the 
multistore complex or shopping center. 

C. “Retail establishment” means any business located in the City of Shelton which offers 
or provides shopping carts for the use of the customers of such business regardless of 
whether such business is advertised or operated as a retail or wholesale business, and 
regardless of whether such business is open to the general public, is a private club or 
business, or is a membership store. 



2 
 

D. “Security measures” means physical impediments or methods to prevent removal of 
shopping carts from the premises of the retail establishment including, but not limited 
to: 

1. Electronically activated self-braking wheels; 

2. Poles mounted to shopping carts, which prevent their removal from the 
interior of the retail establishment; 

3. Bollards, chains, or other devices meant to prevent carts from leaving the 
retail establishment; 

4. Utilization of a cart patrol and retrieval company; 

5.  Dedicated security personnel; and/or 

6. Other measures deemed appropriate and effective by the Director. 

E. “Shopping cart” or “cart” means a basket which is mounted on wheels, or a similar 
device generally used in a retail establishment by a customer for the purpose of 
transporting goods of any kind.  

8.30.020  Shopping cart containment and retrieval required. 

Every owner who provides shopping carts to customers for use on the premises of any 
retail establishment shall be responsible for the containment of such shopping carts to 
the premises of the business establishment and for the immediate retrieval of any lost, 
stolen, or abandoned shopping carts which have been removed from the premises of 
the retail establishment. 

Businesses which are not exempt from the provisions of this chapter shall institute the 
following control measures to contain shopping carts on the site of the business. 

A. Employee Training. The owner of the retail establishment shall ensure employees are 
aware of the requirements of this chapter and the provisions of state law prohibiting the 
unauthorized removal of shopping carts from the premises of the retail establishment. 

B. Measures to Contain Shopping Carts On Site. The owner of the retail establishment 
must utilize security measures, as defined in this chapter, to contain shopping carts on 
business premises.  

8.30.030  Shopping cart signage. 

A. Shopping Cart Identification Signs Required. Each shopping cart made available for 
use by customers shall have a cart sign permanently affixed to it that includes the 
following information in accordance with RCW 9A.56.270, as now enacted or hereafter 
amended: 

https://issaquah.municipal.codes/WA/RCW/9A.56.270


3 
 

1. Identifies the owner of the shopping cart or the name of the business 
establishment, or both; 

2. Notifies the public of the procedure to be utilized for authorized removal of 
the cart from the premises; 

3. Notifies the public that the unauthorized removal of the cart from the 
premises of the business or parking area of the retail establishment, or the 
unauthorized possession of the cart, is unlawful; and 

4. Lists a current telephone number or address for returning carts removed 
from the premises or parking area to the owner or retailer. 

B. Notice to Customers. Conspicuous signs warning customers that removal of shopping 
carts from the premises is prohibited by state and City law must be placed and 
maintained on the premises near all customer entrances and exits and throughout the 
premises, including the parking area. 

8.30.040  Removal and collection by City. 

The City may immediately remove or relocate lost, stolen, or abandoned carts from 
public spaces such as sidewalks and parks, from locations that would impede traffic flow 
or emergency services, and from private property at the request of the owner. Any cart 
with the required identification sign affixed thereto, which is not retrieved by the owner 
or the owner’s agent within 72 hours of the notification by the City, may be disposed of 
at the City’s discretion.  

If a shopping cart does not have the required identification sign affixed thereto, City 
enforcement personnel are authorized to immediately retrieve the shopping cart from 
the public or private property and dispose of it without notice. 

8.30.050  Fees. 

A.  The owner of a lost, stolen, or abandoned shopping cart that is relocated or 
otherwise disposed of by the City pursuant to this chapter shall be liable for a flat fee of 
$100 per cart. Fees must be paid within 60 days of the date of the invoice provided by 
the City. Fees that are not timely paid may be referred to a collection agency or 
recovered by any lawful means. 

B.  Nothing contained herein shall be interpreted or construed as placing an affirmative 
obligation on the City to pick up and return lost, stolen, or abandoned shopping carts.  

8.30.060  Exemptions. 

The requirements of this chapter shall not apply to any retail establishment which 
provides a total of 15 or fewer shopping carts for use by customers of such business, or 
businesses containing less than 3000 square feet of retail area.  



4 
 

8.30.070  Illegal possession or accumulation of carts. 

There is a rebuttable presumption that a shopping cart found abandoned somewhere 
off the premises was removed from the premises without the cart owner’s consent. 

A. Any person removing a shopping cart from the premises of an owner, without the 
written permission of the owner or the owner’s authorized agent, shall be guilty of 
shopping cart theft, which is a misdemeanor pursuant to RCW 9A.56.270. 

B. Anyone who knowingly possesses a shopping cart without the written permission of 
the owner is guilty of possession of stolen property in the third degree, which is a gross 
misdemeanor. 

8.30.080  Additional relief authorized. 

The City may seek other legal or equitable relief to enjoin any acts or practices or to 
abate any conditions that violate this chapter. All costs and expenses incurred by the 
City during abatement of such violations shall be assessed to the person(s) responsible 
for the condition, and responsibility for all costs and expenses is joint and several. 

Section 2. This Ordinance shall take effect January 1, 2025.  

Passed by the City Council at its regular meeting held on the 17th day of September, 2024.  

 

                                                               _________________________________ 
 Mayor Eric Onisko 
 
 
ATTEST:  
  
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk Donna Nault  

 

 

https://issaquah.municipal.codes/WA/RCW/9A.56.270


Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F3) 

Touch Date:  06/24/2024  
Brief Date:     09/03/2024   
Action Date:  09/17/2024 

Department: Community & Economic Development 
   
Presented By:  Jae Hill, Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
Acceptance of Washington State 
Commerce Department Funding for 
Rail Trail Design 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 
- Resolution No. 1336-0824  
- Shelton Grant Award Letter  

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head      JBH 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
In 2023, the City requested that the State legislature fund construction and design of the City’s long-proposed 
rail trail. The legislature approved a smaller amount; $206,000 was awarded in May 2024, of which the City will 
receive $199,820 and the remainder is kept by the Department of Commerce for administration of the funds. 
The City will use this appropriation to design Phase 1 of the proposed Cross-Town Trail project—from 
Kneeland Park to US 101—with other funding being used for Phase 2 from Kneeland Park to the Shelton Yacht 
Club Marina. 
 
The City seeks now to formally accept the funding from the Department of Commerce, contract with the state to 
receive the funding and begin soliciting proposals for planning and design of the trail. 
 
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
Phase 1 of the project will be constructed 100% within the Simpson Timber Railroad right-of-way that was 
deeded to the City in 2017. This is arguably the easier phase of the proposed trail, as the abandoned rails will 
be removed and replaced with a compacted gravel surface by October 2024, and the Goldborough Creek 
crossing has an existing bridge. 
 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 
  
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION: 
The project is slated to be fully funded by the awarded grant funds. Any excess funds can be utilized for project 
elements like right-of-way acquisition and construction. 
 
Construction funding is not yet identified, but when the construction-level design is complete, the City will be 
able to build the trail as soon as funding is secured. This project is part of the City’s Capital Improvement 
Program and the County’s Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) list.  
 
The City does not have the funding to complete this design project without the awarded funds. 
  
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
All documents associated with this grant and project are available from the City’s Community & Economic 
Development Department.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place Resolution No. 1336-0624 on the consent agenda at the September 17, 2024 Council 
meeting.” 
   



   

RESOLUTION NO. 1336-0624 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACCEPT $199,820 FROM THE WASHINGTON STATE 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE FOR RAIL TRAIL DESIGN  
 

 
WHEREAS, the City has envisioned a rail trail on the Simpson Timber Railroad properties since the rail 
alignment was deeded to the City in 2017; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City requested state funding for design and construction of the trail through the 
Washington State Legislature; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City was awarded $199,820 in the 2024 state supplemental budget to be disbursed by 
the state Department of Commerce for the purposes of hiring a consultant to conduct planning & design 
efforts and prepare construction drawings for the future trail;  
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Shelton, Washington, as follows: 
 

1. The City Manager is authorized to accept grant funds in the amount of $199,820 for the design 
of Phase 1 of the cross-town trail. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 3rd of September 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting on the 
17th of September 2024. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault  
 
 
 



STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE 
1011 Plum Street SE  PO Box 42525  Olympia, Washington 98504-2525  (360) 725-4000 

May 16, 2024  

Jae Hill 
City of Shelton 
525 West Cota Street  
Shelton, WA  98584 

Dear Jae: 

Congratulations!  Governor Inslee recently signed the 2024 Supplemental State Capital Budget, which 
includes an appropriation of $206,000 for the Shelton Multi-Use Trail Project.  The Department of 
Commerce, which will administer the project, will retain three percent (up to a maximum of $50,000) to 
cover our administrative costs. Accordingly, your net grant award will be $199,820. 

Prior to receiving funds, your organization will need to fulfill the following requirements: 
 Provide documentation of your organization’s financial ability to complete the project.  All funds 

from sources other than the state must be expended, raised, or secured by documented pledges or 
loans. 

 For nonprofit grantees, any property relevant to the project must be owned or secured by a long-
term lease that remains in effect for a minimum of ten years following the final payment date the 
date the facility becomes usable by the public, whichever is later.  A lien on owned property is 
also required when receiving grants over $250,000. 

 Prevailing wages must be paid for all construction labor costs incurred as of March 29, 2024. 
 Review by the Washington State Department of Archaeology and Historic Preservation and any 

affected Tribes (Governor’s Executive Order 21-02).  
 Your project may also need to comply with the state’s green buildings standards (RCW 39.35D).  
 Additional details are available online within our CCF Resource Toolkit.   

Please fill out the linked Contract Readiness Survey and submit at your earliest convenience.  

Also enclosed is a comprehensive set of contracting guidelines to assist you with the process.  If you 
have any questions or need additional information, please contact your Project Manager, Dylan Godsey, 
at 206-454-2257 or Dylan.Godsey@commerce.wa.gov. 

Sincerely, 

Addeline Craig, Managing Director 
Community Capital Facilities

https://www.commerce.wa.gov/building-infrastructure/capital-facilities/resource-toolkit/
https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/LSSHQVY


Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F4) 

Touch Date:  06/24/2024  
Brief Date:     09/03/2024   
Action Date:  09/17/2024 

Department: Community & Economic Development 
   
Presented By:  Jae Hill, Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
Acceptance of WSDOT Sandy 
Williams Connecting Communities 
Grant for Rail Trail Design 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 
- Resolution No. 1338-0624  
- Shelton Grant Award Letter  

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head      JBH 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
In November 2023, the City applied for a $250,000 grant from the Washington State Department of 
Transportation’s (WSDOT) Sandy Williams Connecting Communities (SWCC) program to fund construction 
level design of Phase 2 of the proposed Cross-Town Trail project. At the end of March 2024, the City was 
awarded $275,000 for the Phase 2 design. The City seeks now to formally accept the grant from WSDOT, 
contract with the State to receive the funding, and begin soliciting proposals for planning and design of the trail. 
 
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
Phase 2 of the project generally extends from Kneeland Park to the Shelton Yacht Club & Marina. The exact 
route is unknown, but crossings of State Highway 3 and Goldsborough Creek will be necessary before the trail 
can follow the Front Street right-of-way, head west through the Pear Orchard, and reach the Yacht Club. This 
segment is approximately 1.1 miles and can likely be constructed within existing city property or rights of way.  
 

 
  
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION: 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

The project is slated to be fully funded by the awarded grant funds. Any excess funds can be utilized for project 
elements like right-of-way acquisition and construction. 
 
There is an element of risk, as this funding was established by the State’s Climate Commitment Act. If repeal of 
the CCA is successful, unobligated funding may be in jeopardy, so getting the project underway as soon as 
possible is imperative. 
 
Construction funding is not yet identified, but when the construction-level design is complete, the City will be 
able to build the trail as soon as funding is secured. This project is part of the City’s Capital Improvement 
Program and the County’s Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS) list. 
 
The City does not have the funding to complete this design project without the awarded funds. 
  
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
All documents associated with this grant and project are available from the City’s Community & Economic 
Development Department.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place Resolution No. 1338-0624 on the consent agenda at the September 17, 2024 Council 
meeting.” 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   

RESOLUTION NO. 1338-0624 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACCEPT $275,000 FROM THE WASHINGTON STATE 

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION FOR RAIL TRAIL DESIGN  
 

 
WHEREAS, the City has envisioned a rail trail on the Simpson Timber Railroad properties since the rail 
alignment was deeded to the City in 2017; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City applied for funding from the Washington State Department of Transportation’s 
(WSDOT) Sandy Williams Connecting Communities (SWCC) Grant program to design an extension of that 
rail trail that connects to the Shelton Yacht Club & Marina; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City was awarded $275,000 to hire a consultant to conduct planning & design efforts and 
prepare construction drawings for the future trail;  
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Shelton, Washington, as follows: 
 

1. The City Manager is authorized to accept grant funds in the amount of $275,000 for the design 
of Phase 2 of the cross-town trail. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 3rd of September 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting on the 
17th of September 2024. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault  
 
 
 



 
 
March 25, 2024 
 
Mr. Jay Harris, PE 
Public Works Director 
City of Shelton 
525 West Cota Street 
Shelton, WA 98584 
 
RE: Cross-town Trail, Phase 2 

2023-25 Connecting Communities Pilot Program 
State Funding 
 

Dear Mr. Harris: 
 
WSDOT is pleased to advise you that the above-mentioned project was selected to receive 
funding through the Connecting Communities Pilot program. The state funding is limited as 
shown below: 

Cross-town Trail, Phase 2      $275,000 
Scope: See attached project summary. 

 
In order to meet state requirements, the following are required: 

• Project expenditures incurred before receiving notice from Local Programs of state fund 
authorization are not eligible for reimbursement. 

• Please refer to the Local Programs webpage for detailed authorization information, 
including: (https://wsdot.wa.gov/business-wsdot/support-local-programs) 
 Local Agency Guidelines (LAG) manual for detailed requirements; 
 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) and Statewide Transportation 

Improvement Program (STIP) amendments, as applicable; 
 Funding and billing forms; 
 Local Project Report is required to be completed by the end of June and 

December each year. To access the database you will need an account name and 
password. Your account name is Shelton and your password is Shelt396. The 
password is case sensitive.  

• On January 16, 2024, Governor Inslee issued Directive 24-01 “Use of Climate 
Commitment Act Branding in Agency Contracts.” The directive compels agencies like 
WSDOT that administer Climate Commitment Act (CCA)-funded programs to require 
subrecipients to implement consistent branding and funding acknowledgements. 

https://wsdot.wa.gov/business-wsdot/support-local-programs


Mr. Jay Harris, PE 
City of Shelton 
March 25, 2024 

 
 

Therefore, you are required to use the governor’s branding guidance for this CCA-
funded project. If CCA is a portion of your project’s overall funding, please also list 
other funding sources as applicable on your communications including webpages. It is 
important to note that there is no additional funding for this effort, so please do what is 
feasible relative to your grant award. The Governor’s directive and related branding 
requirements are attached. 

 
As a reminder, Local Programs encourages all agencies to submit monthly progress billings to 
ensure timely reimbursement of eligible expenditures. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact your Region Local Programs Engineer, John Ho at 
John.Ho@wsdot.wa.gov or 564.669.1018. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Jay Drye, PE 
Director 
Local Programs  
 
JD:st:cdm 
Attachment 
 
cc: Ken Gill, Shelton City Engineer  

John Ho, Olympic Region Local Programs Engineer 

mailto:John.Ho@wsdot.wa.gov


1 

Project Summary 

Program: Sandy Williams Connecting Communities Program 

Date:               February 9, 2024 

Agency:        City of Shelton 

Project Title: Cross-town Trail, Phase 2 

Location: City of Shelton, parallel to State Highway 3 

If on a state route: (SR stands for state route, SRMP stands for state route milepost, ARM stands 
for accumulated route mileage) 

SR: SRMP start: SRMP end: ARM star: ARM end: 

 3  2.43  3.50     

1. Summary Project Description Example: 

The City of Shelton has been planning a 1.5 mile non-motorized trail along the defunct Simpson 
Timber Railroad alignment since the property was deeded to the City in 2015.  The funding 
provided by the Sandy Williams Connecting Communities program will add a second phase—
another mile to the proposed trail—for a total of 2.5 miles.  The vision for a 12-foot wide paved 
path across town will promote access to parks, schools, shopping, transit options, and nature 
along Goldborough Creek, the Oakland Bay waterfront, and the City’s new Creative Arts District. 

This funding will provide planning and design money for Phase Two of the project. We’ll engage 
stakeholders, identify the route, plan for amenities, avoid obstacles, and design cross-sections. 

 2. Project Benefits for High Equity Needs residents: 

The City of Shelton’s median household income in 2021 was roughly $48,000—which is 60% of 
the Mason County median of $80,139.  One in five Shelton residents over the age of 25 does 
not have a high school diploma.  And though 92% of City residents identify as white or 
Caucasian, nearly 25% identify as Latino/Hispanic.  The City has a substantial Guatemalan 
population, many of whom live adjacent to downtown and frequent the myriad of Latino-owned 
shops and restaurants within a four-block vicinity of the proposed trail alignment. 

The combined trail will serve thousands of lower-income residents—many of whom do not have 
cars—in the downtown area, connecting the City’s highest density residential areas with an 
elementary school, an alternative high school, the city’s largest public playground, three of the 
City’s five largest employers, and the waterfront. The trail will also run past a number of 



2 

affordable housing projects, including several homes along Park Street under construction by 
Habitat for Humanity.  The trail will also serve two Park and Rides, and will provide access to 
within two blocks of the MTA Transit Center, which has bus connections to Bremerton and 
Olympia. 

 3. Community Engagement:  

The City is still in the scoping action of this phase of the project; our planning process will 
determine how the trail will cross Goldsborough Creek, will determine the future alignment and 
trail amenities, and will identify opportunities for other pedestrian improvements 
adjacent/connected to the separated path. 

We’ve already had a public briefing at City Council, which was recorded and shared with the 
public. We’ve had a few meetings with stakeholders and adjacent property owners, and those 
will continue.  There’s even been an article published in the local Shelton Mason Journal. 

Our next steps include conducting outreach to potential trail users and adjacent property 
owners.  We’ll also speak with the Squaxin Tribe, who are vested in the waters of Oakland Bay 
and Goldsborough Creek for shellfish and salmon habitat.  We intend on talking to civic groups in 
a “road show” style format, and also holding pop-up events on and near the trail to help the 
community envision what a trail could look like there! 

Our targeted outreach for specific populations includes: 

• schoolchildren (in-classroom planning charettes and the School District Office one block 
from the trail),  

• seniors (at the Senior Center and skilled nursing facilities),  
• the Latino community in Spanish language materials (through pop-up events at their 

downtown businesses near the trail),  and  
• downtown workers (at major employers like Mason County, Shelton Schools, and the 

Sierra Pacific mill). 

Our contract design consultant will also assist the City with outreach and participatory design 
using online platforms. 

 4. Detailed Project Description 

In 2015, the City of Shelton was deeded 1.5 miles of the defunct Simpson Timber Railroad from 
the western edge of the City through to Kneeland Park, the City’s most heavily used park.  The 
City has since been planning a trail network using this old rail line as a backbone.  

In 2023, the City identified the possibility of extending the trail another mile from Kneeland Park 
to the Shelton Marina along Front Street and SR 3.  This segment of the trail will follow the 
eastern boundary of the City’s proposed Creative Arts District.  



3 

 

 

When connected with the other phase of the project, trail users would be able to access more 
than 2.5 miles of safe, separated, paved pathways for various non-motorized transportation 
options.  The combined trail will serve thousands of residents in the downtown area, connecting 
the City’s highest density residential areas with two schools, the park, three of the City’s five 
largest employers, and the waterfront, which is currently inaccessible to pedestrians. 

The conceptual vision for the trail is a twelve-foot wide separated pathway, with seating, 
lighting, and public art.  It will provide safe crossings for three major streets, including Railroad 
Avenue and State Route 3. 

The City and State own nearly all of the right of way necessary to complete the entirety of both 
phases of the project, but depending on final alignment, there may be impacts on one or two 
properties. 

Phase One is a rail trail with separate environmental concerns; Phase Two will be constructed in 
existing, previously-impacted, and mostly impervious rights-of-way. The crossing of 
Goldsborough Creek may require further environmental review if a new or expanded bridge is 
necessary. 

Traffic analysis for Phase Two will require traffic counts at the intersection of Park St and SR3 to 
determine how best to create a safe crossing for trail users at that location. 

The $200,000 funding awarded by this program for Phase Two will augment $100,000 in City 
funds already allocated for design of Phase One.  At the end of the planning and design process, 
the City will have preferred alignments and complete design documents for the entirely of the 
2.5 mile trail project. 

Finally, we hope to have historically and culturally significant public art, as well as interpretive 
signage, at key locations along the trail. 
 
5. Project Schedule (Preliminary and Aspirational): 



4 

Begin Planning March 2024  

Planning Complete September 
2024  

Begin PE June 2024  

Design Complete December 2024  

Environmental Documents Approved March 2025  

Right-of-Way Approved complete  

Estimated Contract Ad December 2024  

Estimated Contract Award Date April 2025  

Open to Users August 2025  

  

6. Project Cost and Award Amount: 

Phase Total Project 
Cost 

Amount 
Requested 

Amount Awarded 

Grant Match     

Planning $25,000  $25,000  $25,000  

Community Engagement $25,000  $25,000  $25,000  

Preliminary Engineering $250,000  $150,000  $225,000  

Right-of-Way $0  $0  $0  

Construction Future phase Requested via 
state leg 

appropriation  

  

        

Total $300,000  $200,000  $275,000  



5 

  

 If you agree to the project summary described above, please sign below and return it to Clara 
Cheeves 

  

Concurrence:  I agree with the project summary described above. 

  

Approving Authority Name (Print): ______________________________________________ 

  

Approving Authority Signature: _________________________________________________ 

  
Date: __________________________________________________________ 

Jae Hill, Community & Economic Development Director

8 March 2024

mailto:cheevec@wsdot.wa.gov
mailto:cheevec@wsdot.wa.gov


 

 

 
DIRECTIVE OF THE GOVERNOR 

24-01 
 
 
Date:  January 16, 2024 
 
To:  Executive and Small Cabinet Agencies 
 
From:  Governor Jay Inslee 
 
Subject:  Use of Climate Commitment Act Branding in Agency Contracts  
 
 
As agencies begin deploying appropriations from the Climate Commitment Act (CCA), we 
are creating tools to ensure transparency about how CCA funding is being put to work across 
the state. One of the ways we can help people see CCA benefits in their own neighborhoods 
and communities is through consistent branding and funding acknowledgements. 

Effective today, January 16, 2024, agency contracts related to CCA-funded programs and 
projects must include provisions consistent with the attached branding contract guidelines.  

The CCA is supercharging state efforts to reduce pollution and keep our air clean. The 
projects and programs supported by the CCA provide Washingtonians more options for 
cleaner, healthier homes, schools, businesses and communities. Examples include keeping 
kids safe from asthma by switching to electric school buses and improving air ventilation 
systems in schools; helping thousands of families reduce utility bills by weatherizing their 
homes and upgrading to energy-efficient heat pumps; and creating clean energy jobs in solar, 
wind, clean hydrogen and other clean energy sectors.  

The attached CCA branding contract guidelines are similar to the kinds of funding 
requirements often seen in federally-funded programs or other infrastructure funding 
programs. 

For CCA-funded contracts that were executed prior to this effective date, agencies should 
evaluate on a case-by-case basis if amendments to include any or all of these requirements are 
feasible or justifiably infeasible. 

I appreciate everyone’s dedication and progress toward a cleaner, healthier, safer Washington 
for all.   

 
 



 

 
 

Climate Commitment Act funding 
acknowledgments and branding: 
Contract guidelines for agencies 

 
Last updated: January 16, 2024 

Issued by Office of the Governor Pursuant to Directive 24-01 

 
The Climate Commitment Act (CCA) is the centerpiece of the state’s climate action efforts. 
Revenue from the program will support thousands of projects, programs and jobs that reduce 
pollution, and improve the health, safety, and resilience of neighborhoods and communities 
across Washington state. 
 
To strengthen public awareness of how CCA funding is used, the Office of the Governor is 
directing state agencies that administer funding or manage a CCA-supported program to 
include CCA funding acknowledgement and branding provisions in funding or contract 
agreements.  
 
The following guidance and sample contract language is intended to help agencies identify 
when and how to include requirements for funding acknowledgments and branding. These flow-
down provisions apply to contractors, subcontractors, service providers and others doing 
business with the agency to implement a program that is receiving CCA funding. Such 
guidelines are similar to routine funding conditions from the federal government and will feel 
familiar to many agencies, particularly those who do federally-funded public works projects. 
 
This guidance is effective January 16, 2024. For CCA-funded contracts that were executed prior 
to this effective date, agencies should evaluate on a case-by-case basis if amendments to 
include any or all of these requirements are feasible or justifiably infeasible. 
 
Appendix A provides the official brand guide for “Climate Commitment Act” logo usage, signage 
guidelines, and access to high-resolution files. The brand guide is also available at 
climate.wa.gov/brandtoolkit. Please feel free to refer grantees and contractors to that web 
page.  

Funding source acknowledgement 
Administering agencies and all funding recipients, including sub-grantees and local agencies 
that receive CCA funding to supplement existing programs, must include recognition of CCA 
funding in alignment with this guidance. 
 



   

2 
 

The funding source acknowledgment should be used in related publications, websites, signage, 
invitations and other media-related and public-outreach products. This is the standard funding 
language to be used on websites and included in announcements, press releases, and 
publications:  
 

“The [PROGRAM NAME / GRANT / ETC.] is supported with funding from Washington’s 
Climate Commitment Act. The CCA supports Washington’s climate action efforts by 
putting cap-and-invest dollars to work reducing climate pollution, creating jobs, and 
improving public health. Information about the CCA is available at www.climate.wa.gov.” 

Logo and signage, decals, stickers 
In addition to including a funding acknowledgement on websites and media or outreach 
materials, recipients must display the “Climate Commitment Act” logo if logos for other 
partnering organizations are included.  
 
Logos must be printed on publicly-visible equipment and signage, as applicable and to the 
extent practical. If equipment and signage includes logos from other partners, it must also 
include a “Climate Commitment Act” logo. Likely examples include EV charging station signs, 
the side of an electric school bus, or the exterior surface of a heat pump.  
 

Examples of applicable projects and programs 
 
Large capital projects  
Examples include but are not limited to large-scale or solar projects, shore power at ports, or 
retrofits on public buildings. 
 

o Pre- and during construction project signs 
If the project is installing pre-construction signage or will have signage up during 
construction, signage must include a CCA logo. 

 
o Website information 

If the project has a related website or webpage, it must include the funding 
acknowledgement. If the website or webpage includes logos for other project partners 
or funding sources, it must also include a CCA logo.  

 
o Public outreach or promotional materials 

Fliers, brochures, public meeting notices, and other similar education and outreach 
materials must include the funding acknowledgement. If materials include logos for 
other project partners, they must also include a CCA logo.  

 
o Permanent signs 

Once the project is complete, any prominent signage that will remain permanently within 
the footprint of the site must include a CCA logo. 
 

  

http://www.climate.wa.gov/


   

3 
 

Small capital projects 
Examples include but are not limited to culvert projects along major roadways, community solar 
projects, new or upgraded EV charging stations, new or upgraded air quality monitoring 
stations. 

 
o Pre- and during construction project signs 

If the project is installing pre-construction signage or will have signage up during 
construction, it must include a CCA logo. 

 
o Website information 

If the project has a related website or webpage, it must include the funding 
acknowledgement. If the website or webpage includes logos for other project partners 
or funding sources, it must also include a CCA logo.  

 
o Public outreach or promotional materials 

Fliers, brochures, public meeting notices, and other similar education and outreach 
materials must include the funding acknowledgement. If materials include logos of other 
project partners, they must also include a CCA logo. 

 
o Permanent signs 

Once the project is complete, any prominent signage that will remain permanently within 
the footprint of the site must include a CCA logo.  

 
 

Stationary projects or consumer incentive programs 
Examples include but are not limited to weatherization or heat pump programs for homes or 
apartments, new electric school buses, free youth transit. 
 

o Website information 
If the project has a related website or webpage, it must include the funding 
acknowledgement. If the website or webpage includes logos for other project partners 
or funding sources, it must also include a CCA logo.  
 

o Public outreach or promotional materials 
Fliers, brochures, public meeting notices, and other similar education and outreach 
materials must include the funding acknowledgement. If materials include logos of other 
project partners, they must also include a CCA logo. 
 

o On-product  
Equipment such as heat pumps, updated electrical panels, zero-emission or electric-
hybrid vehicles including drayage trucks, buses or ferries, and other products or 
equipment purchased with CCA funding must include a CCA logo decal in a place that is 
generally visible to the consumer or user. This includes equipment installed in residential 
buildings as well as commercial, industrial and community buildings or settings. 

 
  



   

4 
 

Sample contract language 
 
This sample contract language is a starting point. Please work with your contracts manager to 
ensure contract language is appropriate for the specific circumstances of your project or 
program. The intent and spirit of this contract language is to ensure the Climate Commitment 
Act is consistently and properly recognized as a source of funding, particularly to emphasize the 
benefit to the end user. 
  
Section X.Y: Ensure coordinated Climate Commitment Act branding 
[PROGRAM/PROJECT NAME] received funding from Washington’s Climate Commitment Act 
(CCA). To strengthen public awareness of how CCA funding is used, the Office of the Governor 
is directing state agencies that administer funding or manage a CCA-supported program to 
ensure consistent branding and funding acknowledgments are used in all communications and 
included in funding agreements and contracts. The “Climate Commitment Act” logo and funding 
acknowledgment make it easy for consumers and the public to see how the state is using CCA 
funds to reduce climate pollution, create jobs, and improve public health and the environment, 
particularly for low-income and overburdened populations.  
 
The following provisions apply to all contractors, subcontractors, service providers and others 
who assist CONTRACTOR in implementing [PROGRAM/PROJECT NAME].  
 
Logo requirements. The CCA logo must be used in the following circumstances, consistent with 
the branding guidelines posted at climate.wa.gov/brandtoolkit. 

o Any PROGRAM/PROJECT website or webpage that includes logos from other 
funding partners. 

o Any PROGRAM/PROJECT media or public information materials that include logos 
from other funding partners. 

o On-site signage [for consumer-related projects or programs this could instead say 
something like: Decal placed on front of installed heat pump OR logo printed on 
delivery tag]   

 
Funding source acknowledgement. This standard funding language must be used on websites 
and included in announcements, press releases and publications used for media-related 
activities, publicity and public outreach.  
 
“The [PROGRAM/PROJECT] is supported with funding from Washington’s Climate Commitment 
Act. The CCA supports Washington’s climate action efforts by putting cap-and-invest dollars to 
work reducing climate pollution, creating jobs, and improving public health. Information about 
the CCA is available at www.climate.wa.gov.” 

 
 
 
  

http://www.climate.wa.gov/


   

5 
 

Appendix A: Official brand guide and toolkit 
This brand guide and logo and font files are available online at climate.wa.gov/brandtoolkit.  
 
To strengthen public awareness of how Climate Commitment Act (CCA) funding is put to work, 
state agencies and recipients of programs or projects funded by the CCA are directed to use a 
funding acknowledgement and/or logo. 
 
The Climate Commitment Act logo is a symbol of the state's commitment to fighting climate 
change and pollution. The simple but powerful design conveys our progress towards a cleaner, 
zero emission future. The primary color palette is the three shades of green representing the 
Evergreen State's natural beauty and its commitment to environmental protection.  
 
The funding acknowledgement provides standard language for websites, press releases, public 
outreach materials and other related promotional products.   
 
The guidance below provides general information about funding acknowledgement language and 
logo usage. Funding recipients should refer to their contracts for information about if and when 
these requirements apply. 
 
Funding acknowledgement 
Administering agencies and all funding recipients, including sub-grantees and local agencies that 
receive CCA funding to supplement existing programs, must include recognition of CCA funding 
in alignment with this guidance.  
 
The funding source acknowledgment should be used in project- or program-related publications, 
websites, signage, invitations, and other media-related and public-outreach products. The 
standard funding language to be used is:   
 
“The [PROGRAM NAME / GRANT / ETC.] is supported with funding from Washington’s Climate 
Commitment Act. The CCA supports Washington’s climate action efforts by putting cap-and-
invest dollars to work reducing climate pollution, creating jobs, and improving public health. 
Information about the CCA is available at www.climate.wa.gov.”  
 
Logo usage 
The logo should always be used in its entirety, with the wordmark and symbols together. The logo 
should not be altered in any way, including changing the colors, proportions or fonts. 
 
The logo should be displayed on a white background. If a white background isn’t possible, use 
the primary logo with the border or one of the approved white logos. The primary color palette is 
the shades of green, but it can also be used in black and white and/or gray scale as required.  
 
The logo can be used in a variety of applications, including websites, social media, print materials, 
and signage. When using the logo in digital applications or printing for signage, it is important to 
use a high-resolution version of the logo file. 
 
 
 
 



   

6 
 

Primary logo  

 
 
  
Primary with border & white background  

 
 
Social media icon: For social media sites where a round icon is necessary or useful. 

 
Grayscale logo: ONLY use the grayscale logo for black and white printing, limited color printing, 
or low-resolution displays. 
 

 
 
 
White logo 
While the primary CCA logo is always preferred, circumstances may necessitate using an 
alternative white logo. To ensure optimal visual impact, use only the listed logos with the black 
background or one of the approved CCA green hues. 
 



   

7 
 

 
 

 
 
 
Non-allowable logo modifications - DO NOT:  
Squeeze, stretch, or condense logo out of proportion or reduce size smaller than 100px: 

               .           
 
Retype or change the font in the logotype: 
 

 
Combine with other elements: 

 
 

Outline the logo: 
 

 



   

8 
 

Place logo on low contrasted background: 

          
 

These are just a few examples of non-allowable modifications. For more information, please 
contact the Office of the Governor. 

 
COLORS & FONTS 

 
PRIMARY GREEN | Color codes for copy/paste on next page. 

 

         
 
GRAYSCALE 

          
 

 
FONTS  
 

 
 

 
 

 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F5) 

Touch Date:  08/23/2024  
Brief Date:    09/03/2024   
Action Date:  09/17/2024 

Department:  Community & Economic Development 
   
Presented By:  Jae Hill, Director 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
On-Call Building Services Pool 
   
ATTACHMENTS: 

01- Resolution No. 1347-0824  
02- Contract with Clarity Consulting 
03- Contract with CodePros 
04- Contract with SAFEbuilt 
05- Contract with West Coast Code 

Consultants 
   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head      JBH 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION: 
The City has, for over a decade, held contracts with a number of firms to provide outside building services 
review. Typically, this outside review is used as a relief valve to augment staff review of projects when 
workloads are high, when specific skills or certifications are required for difficult projects, or to cover 
extended absences. 
 
The City’s previous pool contracts expired at the end of 2023 and the Building Official left City service in 
January 2024. An interim contract was signed with CodePros to cover the gap until a new Building Official 
could be hired and brought up to speed; CodePros has been handling all plan reviews and inspections since 
that time. In July 2024, the City hired a new Building Inspector who will be obtaining additional certifications 
to achieve his Building Official certification, so in the interim, commercial plan reviews and inspections will 
need to be performed by outside firms. The City is also anticipating at least 400 new housing units in the 
next year, so outside firms will be essential in workload balancing and moving permits along efficiently and 
quickly. 
 
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
Without additional outside resources, the City will not be able to meet state-mandated permit review timelines 
or be responsive to permit applications. The only other alternative would be to hire additional staff in house, 
which has budgetary implications as well as difficulties with current labor market conditions. 
 
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION: 
The contracts will be funded by the permit fees. 
 
The use of on-call services isn’t a fixed cost to the city, but is conducted on either a time & materials basis, or 
as a percentage of the plan review fees. Thusly, the use of on-call services dramatically reduces the revenue to 
the city from permit fees, but also prevents the city from having to hire additional staff who may not be needed 
after the reviews are complete. 
 
If the City continues to see several hundred new homes per year, as is currently expected for 2025 through 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

2027, the CED department will have to also hire additional in-house staff. 
  
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
All documents associated with this pool certification and contract award are available from the Community & 
Economic Development Department with the City of Shelton.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place Resolution No. 1347-0824 on the action agenda of the September 17, 2024 Council meeting.” 
   



   

RESOLUTION NO. 1347-0824 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON 
ESTABLISHING AN ON-CALL BUILDING SERVICES QUALIFIED POOL LIST AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

MANAGER TO CONTRACT WITH THE SELECTED FIRMS 
 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Shelton’s Community & Economic Development Department has need for outside 
building services to augment existing staff resources; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City issued a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) soliciting services from interested and 
qualified firms; and 
 
WHEREAS, a panel of City staff evaluated the five responses and has selected four qualified firms to be 
placed on the rotating pool list, wherein specific work orders will be assigned to firms on a rotating basis 
based on skills and availability; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Shelton, Washington, as follows: 
 

1. The City hereby establishes an On-Call Building Services Pool with the firms of Clarity Consulting, 
CodePros, SAFEbuilt, and West Coast Code Consultants. 
 

2. The City Manager is authorized to sign the contracts for services with the firms identified in the 
pool. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 3rd of September 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting on the 
17th of September 2024. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault  
 
 
 



CITY OF SHELTON 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
On-Call Building Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and effec�ve the 21st day of August, 2024 by and between the City of Shelton, 
Washington, (“City”) and Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC, (“Consultant”), a Washington State 
professional limited liability company whose address is P.O. Box 523, 13013 Lala Cove Lane, Olalla, WA 
98359. 

WHEREAS, the City’s Community & Economic Development Department (CED) desires to engage the 
Consultant to provide on-call plan review and inspec�on services; and 

WHEREAS, Consultant represented, and by entering into this Agreement now represents, that it is fully 
qualified to execute the work to be performed hereunder. 

NOW THEREFORE, the par�es herein do mutually agree as follows: 

1. Engagement of Consultant 
The City hereby agrees to engage the Consultant, and the Consultant hereby agrees to perform the 
work in a competent and professional manner and provide the services described in Exhibit A – 
Scope of Work, atached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. The Scope of Work so 
iden�fied is herea�er referred to as “Work”. Without a writen direc�ve of an authorized 
representa�ve of the City, the Consultant shall not perform any services that are in addi�on to, or 
beyond the scope of, the Work. If the Consultant’s proposal is atached as an exhibit, and if such 
proposal contains or incorporates any condi�ons or terms in addi�on to or different from the terms 
of this Agreement, then the Consultant expressly agrees that such condi�ons or terms are neither 
incorporated nor included into this Agreement between the City and Consultant. 

2. Dura�on of Agreement 
This Agreement shall commence as of the date of execu�on of this Agreement and shall be 
completed by December 31st, 2025.  The City may, upon mutual agreement with the Consultant but 
with the same terms and condi�ons herein, issue a writen extension of the contract for twelve 
months un�l December 31st, 2026. 

3. Compensa�on 
A. Total compensa�on, including all services and reimbursable expenses, shall not exceed a 

maximum of $50,000.00 without writen approval by CED and City Manager. The Consultant 
shall be paid in such manner, as described in Exhibit B. The City shall not compensate the 
Consultant for invoices that exceed the maximum amount without a mutually agreed contract 
amendment executed prior to the date of expenses/services incurred. The City reserves the right 
to disallow invoices that exceed the maximum amount and which, in the City’s opinion, do not 
add value. 

B. The Consultant shall be paid by the City only for completed Work and for services actually 
rendered and authorized by this Contract, which are described herein. Such payment shall be full 
compensa�on for Work performed or services rendered, including, but not limited to, all labor, 
materials, supplies, equipment, and incidentals necessary to complete the Work. 

C. Consultant may receive payment as reimbursement for Eligible Expenses actually incurred. 
“Eligible Expenses” means those types and amounts of expenses either listed in Exhibit C or such 
expenses as are approved for reimbursement by the City’s Contract Manager, in wri�ng, prior to 
the expense being incurred. Expenses not specifically iden�fied in Exhibit C may not be 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 2 | Page 

reimbursed unless prior writen approval has been obtained from the City. An expense shall not 
be reimbursed if: 1) the expense is not iden�fied in Exhibit C; 2) the expense would exceed the 
contract value iden�fied in part A of this Sec�on; 3) the expense was not approved in wri�ng by 
the City’s Contract Manager, or an authorized City representa�ve, prior to the Consultant 
incurring the expense. 

D. The Consultant shall submit �mely invoices to the City for authorized work performed, but not 
more o�en than once every thirty (30) days. Timely is to mean within 60 days following either 1) 
comple�on of work/tasks for Fixed-Price Contracts, or 2) hours performed for Time & Materials 
Contracts. Year-end invoices shall be submited no later than January 10th each year. 

E. If Consultant fails or refuses to correct its work when so directed by the City, the City may 
withhold from any payment otherwise due an amount that the City in good faith believes is 
equal to the cost to the City of correc�ng, re-procuring, or remedying any damage caused by 
Consultant’s conduct. 

4. Method of Payment 
The City shall pay the Consultant for services rendered within thirty (30) days of receipt of an 
approved invoice. To obtain payment, the Consultant shall: 
A. File its request for payment accompanied by evidence sa�sfactory to the City jus�fying the 

request for payment.  
B. Follow the invoicing guidelines described in Exhibit D – Invoicing Requirements, including the 

Billing Voucher form provided in the Exhibit.  
A completed Billing Voucher must accompany each invoice submited. 

C. To the extent reimbursement of Eligible Expenses is sought, submit itemiza�on of such expenses 
and all documenta�on required, as defined in Exhibit C – Reimbursable Expenses. 

D. Comply with all applicable provisions of this Agreement. 
E. All requests for payment, including the required Billing Voucher, Cover Leter Report, and any 

applicable documenta�on, shall be submited either via email (preferred method) to 
accounts.payable@sheltonwa.gov, or via postal mail addressed to: City of Shelton Atn: Accounts 
Payable, 525 W Cota Street, Shelton, WA 98584. 

5. Ownership of Tangible Property, Intellectual Property, and Deriva�ve Rights 
A. Any and all intellectual and tangible property which shall include, but is not limited to, data, 

analyses, documents, photographs, plans, processes, designs, drawings, specifica�ons, surveys, 
films, reports, and other work products created, prepared, produced, constructed, assembled, 
made, performed, or otherwise produced by the Consultant or Consultant’s subconsultants for 
delivery to the City pursuant to this Agreement shall become the sole and absolute property of 
the City upon comple�on of the work and payment for the service. Such property shall 
cons�tute “work made for hire” as defined by the U.S. Copyright Act of 1976, 17 U.S.C. § 101, 
and the ownership of the copyright and any other intellectual property rights in such property 
shall vest in the City at the �me of its crea�on. Ownership of the intellectual property includes 
the right to copyright, patent, and register, and the ability to transfer these rights. Material 
which the Consultant uses to perform this Agreement but is not created, prepared, constructed, 
assembled, made, performed, or otherwise produced for or paid for by the City is owned by the 
Consultant and is not “work made for hire” within the terms of this Agreement. 

B. The City may make or permit to be made any modifica�ons to the plans and specifica�ons 
without the prior writen authoriza�on of the Consultant. 

C. Consultant warrants that its subconsultants have conveyed to it, all rights to intellectual and 
tangible property consistent with the foregoing. Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold the 
City harmless for and against any and all infringement claims brought or threatened as a result of 
a material breach of this provision. 

mailto:accounts.payable@sheltonwa.gov


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 3 | Page 

6. Submission of Reports and Other Documents 
The Consultant shall submit all reports and other documents required, as specified in Exhibit A, to 
the person iden�fied in Sec�on 22 - No�ces. Said informa�on shall be subject to review by the City, 
and if found to be unacceptable based upon industry standards, Consultant shall correct any 
deficient work and promptly deliver to the City at the Consultant’s expense. All informa�on, reports, 
and documents required under this Agreement shall be submited not later than: 
 

New and Remodel Single Family Home 
First Review 7 Working Days 
Subsequent Reviews 5 Working Days 
 
New and Remodel Mul�-Family Home 
First Review 15 Working Days 
Subsequent Reviews 7 Working Days 
 
Commercial / Industrial Complex, Condominium < $5 Million 
First Review 15 Working Days 
Subsequent Reviews 10 Working Days 
 
Commercial / Industrial Complex, Condominium >$5 Million 
First Review 20 Working Days 
Subsequent Reviews 15 Working Days         

7. Changes 
The City may, from �me to �me, unilaterally change the scope of the services of the Consultant to be 
performed hereunder. Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the scope of work (and 
resul�ng increase or decrease in compensa�on), shall: (a) be made only in wri�ng and signed by an 
authorized City representa�ve, (b) be explicitly iden�fied as an Amendment to the Agreement, and 
(c) become a part of this Agreement. 

8. Independent Consultant 
The Consultant and the City agree that the Consultant is an Independent Contractor with respect to 
the services provided pursuant to this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered to 
create the rela�onship of employer and employee between the par�es. Neither the Consultant nor 
any employee of the Consultant shall be en�tled to any benefits accorded City employees by virtue 
of the services provided under this Agreement. The City shall not be responsible for paying, 
withholding, or otherwise deduc�ng any customary state or federal payroll deduc�ons, including but 
not limited to FICA, FUTA, state industrial insurance, state workers compensa�on, or otherwise 
assuming the du�es of an employer with respect to the Consultant or any employee of the 
Consultant. 

9. Registra�on, Licensing, and Bonding 
Consultant shall at all �mes maintain appropriate registra�on, licensing, and bonding applicable to 
professional services to be performed and pursuant to this Agreement, and has provided or will 
provide writen evidence of the same to the City upon execu�on of this Agreement, and shall require 
and produce the same with respect to any subcontractors/assignees (if the same are authorized by 
the City to perform pursuant to this Agreement).  

In accordance with Shelton Municipal Code, for the privilege of accep�ng or execu�ng a contract 
with the City of Shelton, irrespec�ve of whether goods or services are delivered within or outside 
the city, or whether the person’s office is within or outside the city, the consultant is subject to the 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 4 | Page 

licensing requirements and business and occupa�on tax levied in SMC Chapters 5.04.030 and 
3.52.060. 

10. Provisions of Facili�es, Equipment, Personnel 
The Consultant shall furnish the facili�es, equipment, and personnel necessary to perform the 
services required under this Agreement, unless otherwise provided herein. 

11. Suble�ng/Assignment of Contracts 
Consultant shall not sublet or assign any of the Work without the express, prior writen consent of 
the City. 

12. No Conflict of Interest 
The Consultant represents to the City that it has no conflict of interest in performing any of the 
services set forth in Exhibit "A."  In the event that the Consultant is asked to perform services for a 
project with which it may have a conflict, it will disclose such conflict to the City.  At the discre�on of 
the City, the City may direct the Consultant to refrain from entering into a contract with 
representa�ves of the conflic�ng project. 

13. Compliance with Applicable Industry Standards, Laws, and Requirements 
In performing such services, the Consultant shall at all �mes comply with all federal, state, and local 
laws applicable to the performance of such services. It is the Consultant's responsibility to iden�fy 
and comply with such laws, including but not limited to, Washington’s laws against discrimina�on; 
Washington’s Industrial Safety and Health Act and associated regula�ons; Washington’s 
Unemployment Compensa�on provisions, and any other applicable laws, statutes, regula�ons, or 
requirements otherwise applicable to the services provided under this Agreement. 

14. Cer�fica�on Regarding Suspension, Debarment, Ineligibility, or Voluntary Exclusion 
A. Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.213, the Consultant, by signing this agreement, cer�fies that it is not 

suspended, debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or otherwise excluded from 
contrac�ng with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal funds. 
If the Consultant is unable to cer�fy, they must provide an explana�on as to why they cannot 
prior to signing the agreement. The Consultant shall provide immediate writen no�ce to the 
City if at any �me the Consultant learns that its cer�fica�on was erroneous or has become 
erroneous by reason of changed circumstances, or have received no�ce that they have been 
suspended, debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or otherwise excluded from 
contrac�ng with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal funds. 
The terms covered transac�on, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower �er covered transac�on, 
par�cipant, person, primary covered transac�on, principal, proposal, and voluntarily excluded, 
as used in this clause, have the meaning set out in 2 CFR 180. 

B. The Consultant agrees it shall not knowingly enter into any lower �er covered transac�on with a 
person who is proposed for debarment under the applicable Code of Federal Regula�ons, 
debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from par�cipa�on in this 
covered transac�on. Pursuant to 2 CFR 180.330, the Consultant is responsible for ensuring that 
any lower �er covered transac�on complies with cer�fica�on of suspension and debarment 
requirements. The Consultant agrees that it will include this clause without modifica�on in all 
lower �er covered transac�ons. 

15. Discrimina�on Prohibited 
The Consultant shall not discriminate against any employee, applicant for employment, or any 
person seeking the services of the Consultant under this Agreement on the basis of race, color, 
religion, creed, sex, age, na�onal origin, marital status, or presence of any sensory, mental, or 
physical handicap, or any other protected class. 

16. Indemnifica�on / Hold Harmless 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 5 | Page 

Consultant shall defend, indemnify, and hold the Public En�ty, its officers, officials, employees, and 
volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses, or suits including atorney 
fees, arising out of or resul�ng from the acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant in performance 
of this Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the sole negligence of the Public 
En�ty. 
Should a court of competent jurisdic�on determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24.115, 
then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to 
property caused by or resul�ng from the concurrent negligence of the Consultant and the Public 
En�ty, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers, the Consultant's liability, including the duty 
and cost to defend, hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Consultant’s negligence.  It is further 
specifically and expressly understood that the indemnifica�on provided herein cons�tutes the 
Consultant’s waiver of immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, solely for the purposes of 
this indemnifica�on.  This waiver has been mutually nego�ated by the par�es.  The provisions of this 
sec�on shall survive the expira�on or termina�on of this Agreement. 

A. Insurance Term 
The Consultant shall procure and maintain for the dura�on of the Agreement, insurance against 
claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connec�on with 
the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representa�ves, or 
employees. 

B. No Limita�on 
The Consultant’s maintenance of insurance as required by the Agreement shall not be construed 
to limit the liability of the Consultant to the coverage provided by such insurance, or otherwise 
limit the Public En�ty’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 

C. Minimum Scope of Insurance 
The Consultant shall obtain insurance of the types and coverage described below: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased vehicles.  
Coverage shall be as least as broad as Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 01. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be at least as broad as ISO occurrence form CG 
00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, opera�ons, stop-gap independent 
contractors and personal injury and adver�sing injury.  The Public En�ty shall be named as 
an addi�onal insured under the Consultant’s Commercial General Liability insurance policy 
with respect to the work performed for the Public En�ty using an addi�onal insured 
endorsement at least as broad as ISO CG 20 26. 

3. Workers’ Compensa�on coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the State of 
Washington. 

4. Professional Liability insurance appropriate to the Consultant’s profession. 

D. Minimum Amounts of Insurance 
The Consultant shall maintain the following insurance limits: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily injury and 
property damage of $1,000,000 per accident. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be writen with limits no less than $2,000,000 
each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate. 

3. Professional Liability insurance shall be writen with limits no less than $2,000,000 per 
claim and $2,000,000 policy aggregate limit. 

E. Other Insurance Provision 
The Consultant’s Automobile Liability and Commercial General Liability insurance policies are to 
contain, or be endorsed to contain that they shall be primary insurance as respect the Public 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 6 | Page 

En�ty.  Any insurance, self-insurance, or self-insured pool coverage maintained by the Public 
En�ty shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

F. Acceptability of Insurers 
Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best ra�ng of not less than A:VII. 

G. Verifica�on of Coverage 
The Consultant shall furnish the Public En�ty with original cer�ficates and a copy of the 
amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the addi�onal insured 
endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Consultant before commencement 
of the work. 

H. No�ce of Cancella�on 
The Consultant shall provide the Public En�ty with writen no�ce of any policy cancella�on 
within two business days of their receipt of such no�ce. 

I. Failure to Maintain Insurance 
Failure on the part of the Consultant to maintain the insurance as required shall cons�tute a 
material breach of contract, upon which the Public En�ty may, a�er giving five business days 
no�ce to the Consultant to correct the breach, immediately terminate the contract or, at its 
discre�on, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connec�on 
therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to the Public En�ty on demand, or at the 
sole discre�on of the Public En�ty, offset against funds due the Consultant from the Public 
En�ty. 

J. Public En�ty Full Availability of Consultant Limits 
If the Consultant maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums shown above, the Public 
En�ty shall be insured for the full available limits of Commercial General and Excess or Umbrella 
liability maintained by the Consultant, irrespec�ve of whether such limits maintained by the 
Consultant are greater than those required by this contract or whether any cer�ficate of 
insurance furnished to the Public En�ty evidences limits of liability lower than those maintained 
by the Consultant. 

17. Record Keeping and Repor�ng 
A. The Consultant shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property, financial, and 

programma�c records, which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any 
nature expended and services performed pursuant to this Agreement.  The Consultant shall also 
maintain such other records as may be deemed necessary by the City to ensure proper 
accoun�ng of all funds contributed by the City to the performance of this Agreement. 

B. These records shall be maintained for a period of seven (7) years a�er termina�on hereof unless 
permission to destroy them is granted by the Office of the Archivist in accordance with RCW 
Chapter 40.14 and by the City. 

18. Audits and Inspec�ons 
The records and documents with respect to all maters covered by this Agreement shall be subject at 
all �mes to inspec�on, review, or audit as allowed by law during the performance of this Agreement.  
The City shall have the right to conduct an audit of the Consultant's financial statement and 
condi�on and to a copy of the results of any such audit or other examina�on performed by or on 
behalf of the Consultant. 

19. Termina�on 
This Agreement may at any �me be terminated for any reason by the City upon giving to the 
Consultant thirty (30) days writen no�ce of the City's inten�on to terminate the same. If the 
Consultant's insurance coverage is canceled for any reason, the City shall have the right to terminate 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 7 | Page 

this Agreement immediately.  Consultant will be paid for sa�sfactory work performed through the 
date of termina�on. 

20. Disputes 
The Consultant shall present any disputed issue not resolved in accordance with this agreement in 
wri�ng to the City Manager within 10 days. The decision of the City Manager or designee shall be 
final, subject to judicial review. The Mason County Superior Court shall have jurisdic�on over 
disputes. In the event of li�ga�on, each party shall bear its own costs and fees.  

21. En�re Agreement 
This Agreement and Exhibits A, B, C, & D contain the en�re agreement between the par�es hereto, 
and no other agreements, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject mater of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to exist or bind either party.  Either party may request changes to the Agreement.  Proposed 
changes, which are mutually agreed upon and signed by each par�es authorized signatory, shall be 
incorporated by writen amendments to this Agreement. 

22. No�ces 
No�ces shall be sent to the following addresses: 

 CITY OF SHELTON     Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 
 Atn: Jae Hill                   Atn: Hoyt D. Jeter 
 525 West Cota street     P.O. Box 523, 13013 Lala Cove Lane,  
 Shelton, WA 98584     Olalla, WA 98359 
 jae.hill@sheltonwa.gov    hoyt@clarityconsul�ngengineers.com  
 

23. Authority to Obligate 
Each person signing this Agreement on behalf of either party individually warrants that he or she has 
full legal power to execute this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom he or she is signing and 
bind and obligate such party with respect to all provisions contained in this Agreement. 

24. Counterparts 
Original signatures transmited and received via electronic transmission of a scanned document, 
(e.g. PDF or similar format) are true and valid signatures for all purposes hereunder and shall bind 
the par�es to the same extent as that of an original signature. Any such electronic mail transmission 
shall cons�tute the final agreement of the par�es and conclusive proof of such agreement. Any such 
electronic counterpart shall be of sufficient quality to be legible either electronically or when printed 
as hardcopy. The City shall determine legibility and acceptability for public record purposes. This 
Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all purposes be 
deemed to be an original and all of which shall cons�tute the same instrument. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Shelton and Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC have executed this 
Agreement as of the date first above writen. 
 
 CITY OF SHELTON     Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 
 
 __________________________________  _______________________________________ 
 Mark Ziegler     Hoyt D. Jeter 
 City Manager     President 
         

 

mailto:jae.hill@sheltonwa.gov
mailto:hoyt@clarityconsultingengineers.com


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 8 | Page 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 

Consultant shall provide building code plan review, or building code plan review and 
inspection services, to the City of Shelton on an on-call basis, subject to supervision 
and direction by the City’s Community & Economic Development Director and/or 
their assignee. The general scope of services needed by the City of Shelton typically 
fall into the following categories: 

· Review of submitted commercial and residential contract documents which consist 
of plans, specifications, and engineering data to determine whether the items comply 
with all applicable adopted state and local codes. 

· Inspections of building construction for adopted code compliance in the City of 
Shelton. 

 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 9 | Page 

EXHIBIT B 
COMPENSATION 

The City shall pay the Consultant a sum equal to the number of hours actually worked , mul�plied by the 
rate iden�fied herein for the staff performing work as authorized, subject to the maximum stated in 
Paragraph 3(A) of this Agreement, as summarized and stated below. Upon prior no�fica�on to the City, 
the Consultant’s actual hourly rates may adjust during the course of this agreement, however, such 
adjustments shall not affect the total compensa�on. 

 

BUILDING CODE REVIEW FEE STRUCTURE 

Commercial/Multi-Family Non-Structural Fire/Life Safety and Structural review only: 

Valuation of Construction 
Clarity Consulting Plan 

Review Fee (% of Building 
Department Plan review fee) 

Hourly rate  
(Reviews in excess of 2) 

$1 to $500,000 80% $110 
$500,001 to $2,500,000 75% $110 
$2,500,001 and above 65% $110 

 

Commercial/Multi-Family Non-Structural, Fire/Life Safety, Mechanical, LEED, Plumbing or 
Structural review only 

Valuation of Construction Clarity Consulting Plan 
Review Fee  (% of Building 

Department Plan review fee) 

Hourly rate  
(Reviews in excess of 2) 

$1 to $500,000 75% $110 
$500,001 to $2,500,000 65% $110 
$2,500,001 and above 55% $110 

 

Single Family Residence Full Review 

Clarity Consulting Plan Review Fee  
(% of Building Department Permit Fee) 

Hourly rate (Reviews in Excess of 2) 

50% $110 

Fire Suppression and/or fire alarm review is based on hourly fees at a rate of $110 per hour. 

The Consultant shall provide a maximum of two rechecks without any additional fees. 

The above fees include all labor, material, and expenses required for the completion of these services. 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 10 | Page 

Hourly Rate Schedule 
 

 

Personnel Description Hourly Billing Rates 

Professional Engineer $120  
Architect $110  

Certified Code Review Personnel $100 
Fire Protection Engineer $110 

Certified Inspector $85 
Electrical Specialty $95 
Permit Technician $60 

Administration Support $45 
 
If prevailing wages are required on a project, then CCE’s rates will be adjusted to accommodate 
prevailing rate payroll rules. 
 
In addition, CCE’s rates will be adjusted to accommodate for overtime, evening, and night shift premiums 
with authorization by the City. 
 
Personal vehicles used for inspections shall be billed mileage at the standard federal rate. The mileage 
shall only be from the city hall to the site for inspections. 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 11 | Page 

Exhibit C – Reimbursable Expenses 
 

Reimbursable expenses for Consultants/Contractors and Sub-Consultants/Sub-Contractors working for the City of Shelton shall 
follow the guidelines outlined below, unless otherwise specified in the Agreement. All reimbursable expenses will be billed at the 
actual direct cost, unless otherwise indicated below. 
  

Expense Type Reimbursement Policies Documentation 
Required 

Pre- Approval 
Required?* 

Hotel 

Lodging reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem 
daily lodging rate allowance for Mason County plus tax 
(https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources). The City does not 
reimburse for in-room purchases, laundry, or any other 
incidentals. The City will not reimburse extra booking fees or 
related charges. 

Itemized Receipt 
from check out – 
Booking receipts 

will not be 
accepted 

Yes 

Airfare 
Based on the most economical flights with reasonable routing. 
Business class and first class are not reimbursable. 
Baggage fees are limited to one bag per person.  

Receipt Yes 

Airport Shuttle/ 
Taxi/Rideshare Actual expense, may include a customary gratuity. Receipt Yes 

Rental Car Reimbursement for rental cars will be for a standard size car or 
smaller and reimbursed for the actual expense. Receipt Yes 

Ferry Service 
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other modes & routes are available, the cheaper 
route and mode shall be utilized. 

Receipt No 

Privately-Owned 
or Company Car 

Mileage shall be calculated from the actual local office or office 
identified below and reimbursed at the IRS allowable rate for the 
current year.  

Printed Map w/ 
Mileage No 

Zipcar/Similar 
Service 

The City will reimburse contractual car rental fees to the extent 
they do not exceed the comparable mileage rate reimbursement. 

Receipt & Printed 
Map No 

Tolls 
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other non-toll routes are possible, the cheapest route 
shall be utilized. 

Good to Go or 
other statement No 

Meals 

Meal reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem meal 
allowance, and only allowed when consultant travels overnight or 
at least 150 miles per one-way trip.  https://www.gsa.gov/travel-
resources 

Itemized Receipt - 
Identify Person(s), 

Meal Type, and 
Dates of Travel 

Yes 

Courier or Parcel 
Services 

Reimbursable only if required to fulfill a request of the City. Does 
not include routine correspondence. Receipt No 

Printing, copying 

Reimbursement will be allowed for documents that are to be 
provided to the owner or provided to an outside entity on behalf 
of the owner, only. Prints/copies of documents used by the 
Consultant/Contractor to perform normal services and not 
provided to the City are not reimbursable. 

Receipt No 

Sub-Consultants/ 
Sub-Contractors 

Up to 5% markup allowed unless grant/funding guidelines prohibit. 
All subs are subject to these reimbursement guidelines. Sub-
Consultants hired to perform basic services required by the 
Contract are not eligible for reimbursement. 

Sub-Invoices Yes 

* Pre-approval means an approval in writing from the Contract Manager prior to the cost(s) being incurred.  Documentation of 
approval shall be included with the invoice. 
 
Office Address Mileage will be calculated from:         

             

https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 12 | Page 

EXHIBIT D 
INVOICING REQUIREMENTS 

The City acknowledges that each consul�ng firm has their own accoun�ng so�ware and that, in many cases, it 
may be difficult to change the output or appearance of reports. For City Staff to effec�vely manage projects and 
process invoices, however, certain informa�on is cri�cal. 

The following are guidelines which the City requires all consultants to follow when preparing invoices for City of 
Shelton projects.  

1. Timing: Due to poten�al audit issues, the City cannot pay for work done prior to the date listed as the 
“effec�ve date” noted at the top of the executed Professional or Personal Services Agreement (PSA). Services 
shall be invoiced for within sixty (60) days of performance but not more frequently than every thirty (30) 
days. 

2. Individual Invoicing: In the case of mul�ple contracts/projects with the City of Shelton, separate invoices 
shall be submited per Contract. 

3. Cover Leter Report: A cover leter summarizing the work done on the project during the period of the 
invoice, signed by the project manager, must accompany each invoice submited. Please iden�fy the period 
covered by the invoice in the heading. The level of detail in the report should be commensurate with the 
quan�ty of work occurring during the billing period. Even for the most complex projects, however, a short 
paragraph for each major task should be sufficient. 

4. Billing Voucher: A Billing Voucher (page 2, atached to this Exhibit) must be completed and accompany each 
invoice submited; a digital pdf or fillable Word version of the document can be emailed upon request. The 
Billing Voucher summarizes the following:  
a. Submital Number - the sequen�al number of invoices submited to date, including the current invoice. 
b. Consultant Informa�on – Name, Mailing Address, Phone Number 
c. Contract Informa�on – Title of the Contract/Project, and Contract Expira�on Date. 
d. Repor�ng Period - shall be a range between two specific dates for which the invoice covers. 
e. Invoice Number - a unique number assigned to each invoice by the Consul�ng Firm in order to 

dis�nguish one invoice submission from another. 
f. Indicates whether the invoice submital is the final billing for the Contract. 
g. Budget Summary – shows the total Contract Budget, Previous Payments, Current Request, Total 

Requested to Date, and Balance Remaining. 

5. Task Breakout: Each invoice should list the amount being billed by tasks as shown in the Scope of Work. 
Under each task, include a list of all people that have worked on the project during the invoice period by 
name, job title, and billing rate; A lis�ng by job �tle only is not acceptable. 

6. Time Sheet Detail: Timesheet detail with comments (Diary Logs) are required for all �me charged. 

7. Backup: The City requires backup for all reimbursable expenses, and the guidelines outlined in Exhibit C - 
Reimbursable Expenses, must be followed. 

8. Subconsultants: All requirements asked of the prime consultant must be followed by sub-consultants as 
well, including reimbursable expenses and Diary Logs. 

9. Rates: It is the Consultant’s responsibility to verify that rates included on the invoice are consistent with the 
rates approved by the City, as iden�fied in the executed Contract and any Contract Amendments. 

10. Invoice Submital: The invoice package shall be submited to accounts.payabale@SheltonWA.gov, or via 
postal mail or courier addressed to: City of Shelton Atn: Accounts Payable, 525 W Cota Street, Shelton, WA 
98584.

mailto:accounts.payabale@SheltonWA.gov


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

Clarity Consul�ng Engineers, PLLC 13 | Page 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF SHELTON 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
On-Call Building Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and effec�ve the 21st day of August, 2024 by and between the City of Shelton, 
Washington, (“City”) and CodePros, (“Consultant”), a Washington State Limited Liability Corpora�on 
whose address is P.O. Box 185, Allyn, WA 98524. 

WHEREAS, the City’s Community & Economic Development Department (CED) desires to engage the 
Consultant to provide on-call plan review and inspec�on services; and 

WHEREAS, Consultant represented, and by entering into this Agreement now represents, that it is fully 
qualified to execute the work to be performed hereunder. 

NOW THEREFORE, the par�es herein do mutually agree as follows: 

1. Engagement of Consultant 
The City hereby agrees to engage the Consultant, and the Consultant hereby agrees to perform the 
work in a competent and professional manner and provide the services described in Exhibit A – 
Scope of Work, atached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. The Scope of Work so 
iden�fied is herea�er referred to as “Work”. Without a writen direc�ve of an authorized 
representa�ve of the City, the Consultant shall not perform any services that are in addi�on to, or 
beyond the scope of, the Work. If the Consultant’s proposal is atached as an exhibit, and if such 
proposal contains or incorporates any condi�ons or terms in addi�on to or different from the terms 
of this Agreement, then the Consultant expressly agrees that such condi�ons or terms are neither 
incorporated nor included into this Agreement between the City and Consultant. 

2. Dura�on of Agreement 
This Agreement shall commence as of the date of execu�on of this Agreement and shall be 
completed by December 31st, 2025.  The City may, upon mutual agreement with the Consultant but 
with the same terms and condi�ons herein, issue a writen extension of the contract for twelve 
months un�l December 31st, 2026. 

3. Compensa�on 
A. Total compensa�on, including all services and reimbursable expenses, shall not exceed a 

maximum of $50,000.00 without written approval by CED and City Manager.  The Consultant 
shall be paid in such manner, as described in Exhibit B. The City shall not compensate the 
Consultant for invoices that exceed the maximum amount without a mutually agreed contract 
amendment executed prior to the date of expenses/services incurred. The City reserves the right 
to disallow invoices that exceed the maximum amount and which, in the City’s opinion, do not 
add value. 

B. The Consultant shall be paid by the City only for completed Work and for services actually 
rendered and authorized by this Contract, which are described herein. Such payment shall be full 
compensa�on for Work performed or services rendered, including, but not limited to, all labor, 
materials, supplies, equipment, and incidentals necessary to complete the Work. 

C. Consultant may receive payment as reimbursement for Eligible Expenses actually incurred. 
“Eligible Expenses” means those types and amounts of expenses either listed in Exhibit C or such 
expenses as are approved for reimbursement by the City’s Contract Manager, in wri�ng, prior to 
the expense being incurred. Expenses not specifically iden�fied in Exhibit C may not be 
reimbursed unless prior writen approval has been obtained from the City. An expense shall not 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 2 | Page 

be reimbursed if: 1) the expense is not iden�fied in Exhibit C; 2) the expense would exceed the 
contract value iden�fied in part A of this Sec�on; 3) the expense was not approved in wri�ng by 
the City’s Contract Manager, or an authorized City representa�ve, prior to the Consultant 
incurring the expense. 

D. The Consultant shall submit �mely invoices to the City for authorized work performed, but not 
more o�en than once every thirty (30) days. Timely is to mean within 60 days following either 1) 
comple�on of work/tasks for Fixed-Price Contracts, or 2) hours performed for Time & Materials 
Contracts. Year-end invoices shall be submited no later than January 10th each year. 

E. If Consultant fails or refuses to correct its work when so directed by the City, the City may 
withhold from any payment otherwise due an amount that the City in good faith believes is 
equal to the cost to the City of correc�ng, re-procuring, or remedying any damage caused by 
Consultant’s conduct. 

4. Method of Payment 
The City shall pay the Consultant for services rendered within thirty (30) days of receipt of an 
approved invoice. To obtain payment, the Consultant shall: 
A. File its request for payment accompanied by evidence sa�sfactory to the City jus�fying the 

request for payment.  
B. Follow the invoicing guidelines described in Exhibit D – Invoicing Requirements, including the 

Billing Voucher form provided in the Exhibit.  
A completed Billing Voucher must accompany each invoice submited. 

C. To the extent reimbursement of Eligible Expenses is sought, submit itemiza�on of such expenses 
and all documenta�on required, as defined in Exhibit C – Reimbursable Expenses. 

D. Comply with all applicable provisions of this Agreement. 
E. All requests for payment, including the required Billing Voucher, Cover Leter Report, and any 

applicable documenta�on, shall be submited either via email (preferred method) to 
accounts.payable@sheltonwa.gov, or via postal mail addressed to: City of Shelton Atn: Accounts 
Payable, 525 W Cota Street, Shelton, WA 98584. 

5. Ownership of Tangible Property, Intellectual Property, and Deriva�ve Rights 
A. Any and all intellectual and tangible property which shall include, but is not limited to, data, 

analyses, documents, photographs, plans, processes, designs, drawings, specifica�ons, surveys, 
films, reports, and other work products created, prepared, produced, constructed, assembled, 
made, performed, or otherwise produced by the Consultant or Consultant’s subconsultants for 
delivery to the City pursuant to this Agreement shall become the sole and absolute property of 
the City upon comple�on of the work and payment for the service. Such property shall 
cons�tute “work made for hire” as defined by the U.S. Copyright Act of 1976, 17 U.S.C. § 101, 
and the ownership of the copyright and any other intellectual property rights in such property 
shall vest in the City at the �me of its crea�on. Ownership of the intellectual property includes 
the right to copyright, patent, and register, and the ability to transfer these rights. Material 
which the Consultant uses to perform this Agreement but is not created, prepared, constructed, 
assembled, made, performed, or otherwise produced for or paid for by the City is owned by the 
Consultant and is not “work made for hire” within the terms of this Agreement. 

B. The City may make or permit to be made any modifica�ons to the plans and specifica�ons 
without the prior writen authoriza�on of the Consultant. 

C. Consultant warrants that its subconsultants have conveyed to it, all rights to intellectual and 
tangible property consistent with the foregoing. Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold the 
City harmless for and against any and all infringement claims brought or threatened as a result of 
a material breach of this provision. 

6. Submission of Reports and Other Documents 

mailto:accounts.payable@sheltonwa.gov


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 3 | Page 

The Consultant shall submit all reports and other documents required, as specified in Exhibit A, to 
the person iden�fied in Sec�on 22 - No�ces. Said informa�on shall be subject to review by the City, 
and if found to be unacceptable based upon industry standards, Consultant shall correct any 
deficient work and promptly deliver to the City at the Consultant’s expense. All informa�on, reports, 
and documents required under this Agreement shall be submited not later than: 
 
IRC Residen�al Projects- 10 working days  
IBC Small Commercial Project (Valua�on less than $5M)-20 working days  
IBC Large Commercial Project (Valua�on greater than $5M)-30 working days 
Building Inspec�ons Performed Next Day (for project support – 48 hours supplemental).  
 

7. Changes 
The City may, from �me to �me, unilaterally change the scope of the services of the Consultant to be 
performed hereunder. Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the scope of work (and 
resul�ng increase or decrease in compensa�on), shall: (a) be made only in wri�ng and signed by an 
authorized City representa�ve, (b) be explicitly iden�fied as an Amendment to the Agreement, and 
(c) become a part of this Agreement. 

8. Independent Consultant 
The Consultant and the City agree that the Consultant is an Independent Contractor with respect to 
the services provided pursuant to this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered to 
create the rela�onship of employer and employee between the par�es. Neither the Consultant nor 
any employee of the Consultant shall be en�tled to any benefits accorded City employees by virtue 
of the services provided under this Agreement. The City shall not be responsible for paying, 
withholding, or otherwise deduc�ng any customary state or federal payroll deduc�ons, including but 
not limited to FICA, FUTA, state industrial insurance, state workers compensa�on, or otherwise 
assuming the du�es of an employer with respect to the Consultant or any employee of the 
Consultant. 

9. Registra�on, Licensing, and Bonding 
Consultant shall at all �mes maintain appropriate registra�on, licensing, and bonding applicable to 
professional services to be performed and pursuant to this Agreement, and has provided or will 
provide writen evidence of the same to the City upon execu�on of this Agreement, and shall require 
and produce the same with respect to any subcontractors/assignees (if the same are authorized by 
the City to perform pursuant to this Agreement).  

In accordance with Shelton Municipal Code, for the privilege of accep�ng or execu�ng a contract 
with the City of Shelton, irrespec�ve of whether goods or services are delivered within or outside 
the city, or whether the person’s office is within or outside the city, the consultant is subject to the 
licensing requirements and business and occupa�on tax levied in SMC Chapters 5.04.030 and 
3.52.060. 

10. Provisions of Facili�es, Equipment, Personnel 
The Consultant shall furnish the facili�es, equipment, and personnel necessary to perform the 
services required under this Agreement, unless otherwise provided herein. 

11. Suble�ng/Assignment of Contracts 
Consultant shall not sublet or assign any of the Work without the express, prior writen consent of 
the City. 

12. No Conflict of Interest 
The Consultant represents to the City that it has no conflict of interest in performing any of the 
services set forth in Exhibit "A."  In the event that the Consultant is asked to perform services for a 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 4 | Page 

project with which it may have a conflict, it will disclose such conflict to the City.  At the discre�on of 
the City, the City may direct the Consultant to refrain from entering into a contract with 
representa�ves of the conflic�ng project. 

13. Compliance with Applicable Industry Standards, Laws, and Requirements 
In performing such services, the Consultant shall at all �mes comply with all federal, state, and local 
laws applicable to the performance of such services. It is the Consultant's responsibility to iden�fy 
and comply with such laws, including but not limited to, Washington’s laws against discrimina�on; 
Washington’s Industrial Safety and Health Act and associated regula�ons; Washington’s 
Unemployment Compensa�on provisions, and any other applicable laws, statutes, regula�ons, or 
requirements otherwise applicable to the services provided under this Agreement. 

14. Cer�fica�on Regarding Suspension, Debarment, Ineligibility, or Voluntary Exclusion 
A. Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.213, the Consultant, by signing this agreement, cer�fies that it is not 

suspended, debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or otherwise excluded from 
contrac�ng with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal funds. 
If the Consultant is unable to cer�fy, they must provide an explana�on as to why they cannot 
prior to signing the agreement. The Consultant shall provide immediate writen no�ce to the 
City if at any �me the Consultant learns that its cer�fica�on was erroneous or has become 
erroneous by reason of changed circumstances, or have received no�ce that they have been 
suspended, debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or otherwise excluded from 
contrac�ng with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal funds. 
The terms covered transac�on, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower �er covered transac�on, 
par�cipant, person, primary covered transac�on, principal, proposal, and voluntarily excluded, 
as used in this clause, have the meaning set out in 2 CFR 180. 

B. The Consultant agrees it shall not knowingly enter into any lower �er covered transac�on with a 
person who is proposed for debarment under the applicable Code of Federal Regula�ons, 
debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from par�cipa�on in this 
covered transac�on. Pursuant to 2 CFR 180.330, the Consultant is responsible for ensuring that 
any lower �er covered transac�on complies with cer�fica�on of suspension and debarment 
requirements. The Consultant agrees that it will include this clause without modifica�on in all 
lower �er covered transac�ons. 

15. Discrimina�on Prohibited 
The Consultant shall not discriminate against any employee, applicant for employment, or any 
person seeking the services of the Consultant under this Agreement on the basis of race, color, 
religion, creed, sex, age, na�onal origin, marital status, or presence of any sensory, mental, or 
physical handicap, or any other protected class. 

16. Indemnifica�on / Hold Harmless 
Consultant shall defend, indemnify, and hold the Public En�ty, its officers, officials, employees, and 
volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses, or suits including atorney 
fees, arising out of or resul�ng from the acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant in performance 
of this Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the sole negligence of the Public 
En�ty. 
Should a court of competent jurisdic�on determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24.115, 
then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to 
property caused by or resul�ng from the concurrent negligence of the Consultant and the Public 
En�ty, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers, the Consultant's liability, including the duty 
and cost to defend, hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Consultant’s negligence.  It is further 
specifically and expressly understood that the indemnifica�on provided herein cons�tutes the 
Consultant’s waiver of immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, solely for the purposes of 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 5 | Page 

this indemnifica�on.  This waiver has been mutually nego�ated by the par�es.  The provisions of this 
sec�on shall survive the expira�on or termina�on of this Agreement. 

A. Insurance Term 
The Consultant shall procure and maintain for the dura�on of the Agreement, insurance against 
claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connec�on with 
the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representa�ves, or 
employees. 

B. No Limita�on 
The Consultant’s maintenance of insurance as required by the Agreement shall not be construed 
to limit the liability of the Consultant to the coverage provided by such insurance, or otherwise 
limit the Public En�ty’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 

C. Minimum Scope of Insurance 
The Consultant shall obtain insurance of the types and coverage described below: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased vehicles.  
Coverage shall be as least as broad as Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 01. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be at least as broad as ISO occurrence form CG 
00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, opera�ons, stop-gap independent 
contractors and personal injury and adver�sing injury.  The Public En�ty shall be named as 
an addi�onal insured under the Consultant’s Commercial General Liability insurance policy 
with respect to the work performed for the Public En�ty using an addi�onal insured 
endorsement at least as broad as ISO CG 20 26. 

3. Workers’ Compensa�on coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the State of 
Washington. 

4. Professional Liability insurance appropriate to the Consultant’s profession. 

D. Minimum Amounts of Insurance 
The Consultant shall maintain the following insurance limits: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily injury and 
property damage of $1,000,000 per accident. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be writen with limits no less than $2,000,000 
each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate. 

3. Professional Liability insurance shall be writen with limits no less than $2,000,000 per 
claim and $2,000,000 policy aggregate limit. 

E. Other Insurance Provision 
The Consultant’s Automobile Liability and Commercial General Liability insurance policies are to 
contain, or be endorsed to contain that they shall be primary insurance as respect the Public 
En�ty.  Any insurance, self-insurance, or self-insured pool coverage maintained by the Public 
En�ty shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

F. Acceptability of Insurers 
Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best ra�ng of not less than A:VII. 

G. Verifica�on of Coverage 
The Consultant shall furnish the Public En�ty with original cer�ficates and a copy of the 
amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the addi�onal insured 
endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Consultant before commencement 
of the work. 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 6 | Page 

H. No�ce of Cancella�on 
The Consultant shall provide the Public En�ty with writen no�ce of any policy cancella�on 
within two business days of their receipt of such no�ce. 

I. Failure to Maintain Insurance 
Failure on the part of the Consultant to maintain the insurance as required shall cons�tute a 
material breach of contract, upon which the Public En�ty may, a�er giving five business days 
no�ce to the Consultant to correct the breach, immediately terminate the contract or, at its 
discre�on, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connec�on 
therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to the Public En�ty on demand, or at the 
sole discre�on of the Public En�ty, offset against funds due the Consultant from the Public 
En�ty. 

J. Public En�ty Full Availability of Consultant Limits 
If the Consultant maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums shown above, the Public 
En�ty shall be insured for the full available limits of Commercial General and Excess or Umbrella 
liability maintained by the Consultant, irrespec�ve of whether such limits maintained by the 
Consultant are greater than those required by this contract or whether any cer�ficate of 
insurance furnished to the Public En�ty evidences limits of liability lower than those maintained 
by the Consultant. 

17. Record Keeping and Repor�ng 
A. The Consultant shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property, financial, and 

programma�c records, which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any 
nature expended and services performed pursuant to this Agreement.  The Consultant shall also 
maintain such other records as may be deemed necessary by the City to ensure proper 
accoun�ng of all funds contributed by the City to the performance of this Agreement. 

B. These records shall be maintained for a period of seven (7) years a�er termina�on hereof unless 
permission to destroy them is granted by the Office of the Archivist in accordance with RCW 
Chapter 40.14 and by the City. 

18. Audits and Inspec�ons 
The records and documents with respect to all maters covered by this Agreement shall be subject at 
all �mes to inspec�on, review, or audit as allowed by law during the performance of this Agreement.  
The City shall have the right to conduct an audit of the Consultant's financial statement and 
condi�on and to a copy of the results of any such audit or other examina�on performed by or on 
behalf of the Consultant. 

19. Termina�on 
This Agreement may at any �me be terminated for any reason by the City upon giving to the 
Consultant thirty (30) days writen no�ce of the City's inten�on to terminate the same. If the 
Consultant's insurance coverage is canceled for any reason, the City shall have the right to terminate 
this Agreement immediately.  Consultant will be paid for sa�sfactory work performed through the 
date of termina�on. 

20. Disputes 
The Consultant shall present any disputed issue not resolved in accordance with this agreement in 
wri�ng to the City Manager within 10 days. The decision of the City Manager or designee shall be 
final, subject to judicial review. The Mason County Superior Court shall have jurisdic�on over 
disputes. In the event of li�ga�on, each party shall bear its own costs and fees.  

21. En�re Agreement 
This Agreement and Exhibits A, B, C, & D contain the en�re agreement between the par�es hereto, 
and no other agreements, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject mater of this Agreement shall be 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 7 | Page 

deemed to exist or bind either party.  Either party may request changes to the Agreement.  Proposed 
changes, which are mutually agreed upon and signed by each par�es authorized signatory, shall be 
incorporated by writen amendments to this Agreement. 

22. No�ces 
No�ces shall be sent to the following addresses: 

 CITY OF SHELTON     CodePros, LLC 
 Atn: Jae Hill           Atn: Michael J. Barth, M.C.P. 
 525 West Cota Street     P.O. Box 185 
 Shelton, WA 98584     Allyn, WA 98524 
 jae.hill@sheltonwa.gov    mbarth@codeproswa.com  
 

23. Authority to Obligate 
Each person signing this Agreement on behalf of either party individually warrants that he or she has 
full legal power to execute this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom he or she is signing and 
bind and obligate such party with respect to all provisions contained in this Agreement. 

24. Counterparts 
Original signatures transmited and received via electronic transmission of a scanned document, 
(e.g. PDF or similar format) are true and valid signatures for all purposes hereunder and shall bind 
the par�es to the same extent as that of an original signature. Any such electronic mail transmission 
shall cons�tute the final agreement of the par�es and conclusive proof of such agreement. Any such 
electronic counterpart shall be of sufficient quality to be legible either electronically or when printed 
as hardcopy. The City shall determine legibility and acceptability for public record purposes. This 
Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all purposes be 
deemed to be an original and all of which shall cons�tute the same instrument. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Shelton and CodePros, LLC have executed this Agreement as of 
the date first above writen. 
 
 CITY OF SHELTON     CodePros, LLC 
 
 __________________________________  _______________________________________ 
 Mark Ziegler     Michael J. Barth 
 City Manager     Managing Member 
         

 

mailto:jae.hill@sheltonwa.gov
mailto:mbarth@codeproswa.com


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 8 | Page 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 

Consultant shall provide building code plan review, or building code plan review and 
inspection services, to the City of Shelton on an on-call basis, subject to supervision 
and direction by the City’s Community & Economic Development Director and/or 
their assignee. The general scope of services needed by the City of Shelton typically 
fall into the following categories: 

· Review of submitted commercial and residential contract documents which consist 
of plans, specifications, and engineering data to determine whether the items comply 
with all applicable adopted state and local codes. 

· Inspections of building construction for adopted code compliance in the City of 
Shelton. 

 

 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 9 | Page 

EXHIBIT B 
COMPENSATION 

 
The City shall pay the Consultant a sum equal to the number of hours actually worked , mul�plied by the 
rate iden�fied herein for the staff performing work as authorized, subject to the maximum stated in 
Paragraph 3(A) of this Agreement, as summarized and stated below. Upon prior no�fica�on to the City, 
the Consultant’s actual hourly rates may adjust during the course of this agreement, however, such 
adjustments shall not affect the total compensa�on. 

 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 10 | Page 

Exhibit C – Reimbursable Expenses 
 

Reimbursable expenses for Consultants/Contractors and Sub-Consultants/Sub-Contractors working for the City of Shelton shall 
follow the guidelines outlined below, unless otherwise specified in the Agreement. All reimbursable expenses will be billed at the 
actual direct cost, unless otherwise indicated below. 
  

Expense Type Reimbursement Policies Documentation 
Required 

Pre- Approval 
Required?* 

Hotel 

Lodging reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem 
daily lodging rate allowance for Mason County plus tax 
(https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources). The City does not 
reimburse for in-room purchases, laundry, or any other 
incidentals. The City will not reimburse extra booking fees or 
related charges. 

Itemized Receipt 
from check out – 
Booking receipts 

will not be 
accepted 

Yes 

Airfare 
Based on the most economical flights with reasonable routing. 
Business class and first class are not reimbursable. 
Baggage fees are limited to one bag per person.  

Receipt Yes 

Airport Shuttle/ 
Taxi/Rideshare Actual expense, may include a customary gratuity. Receipt Yes 

Rental Car Reimbursement for rental cars will be for a standard size car or 
smaller and reimbursed for the actual expense. Receipt Yes 

Ferry Service 
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other modes & routes are available, the cheaper 
route and mode shall be utilized. 

Receipt No 

Privately-Owned 
or Company Car 

Mileage shall be calculated from the actual local office or office 
identified below and reimbursed at the IRS allowable rate for the 
current year.  

Printed Map w/ 
Mileage No 

Zipcar/Similar 
Service 

The City will reimburse contractual car rental fees to the extent 
they do not exceed the comparable mileage rate reimbursement. 

Receipt & Printed 
Map No 

Tolls 
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other non-toll routes are possible, the cheapest route 
shall be utilized. 

Good to Go or 
other statement No 

Meals 

Meal reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem meal 
allowance, and only allowed when consultant travels overnight or 
at least 150 miles per one-way trip.  https://www.gsa.gov/travel-
resources 

Itemized Receipt - 
Identify Person(s), 

Meal Type, and 
Dates of Travel 

Yes 

Courier or Parcel 
Services 

Reimbursable only if required to fulfill a request of the City. Does 
not include routine correspondence. Receipt No 

Printing, copying 

Reimbursement will be allowed for documents that are to be 
provided to the owner or provided to an outside entity on behalf 
of the owner, only. Prints/copies of documents used by the 
Consultant/Contractor to perform normal services and not 
provided to the City are not reimbursable. 

Receipt No 

Sub-Consultants/ 
Sub-Contractors 

Up to 5% markup allowed unless grant/funding guidelines prohibit. 
All subs are subject to these reimbursement guidelines. Sub-
Consultants hired to perform basic services required by the 
Contract are not eligible for reimbursement. 

Sub-Invoices Yes 

* Pre-approval means an approval in writing from the Contract Manager prior to the cost(s) being incurred.  Documentation of 
approval shall be included with the invoice. 
 
Office Address Mileage will be calculated from:         

             

https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 11 | Page 

EXHIBIT D 
INVOICING REQUIREMENTS 

The City acknowledges that each consul�ng firm has their own accoun�ng so�ware and that, in many cases, it 
may be difficult to change the output or appearance of reports. For City Staff to effec�vely manage projects and 
process invoices, however, certain informa�on is cri�cal. 

The following are guidelines which the City requires all consultants to follow when preparing invoices for City of 
Shelton projects.  

1. Timing: Due to poten�al audit issues, the City cannot pay for work done prior to the date listed as the 
“effec�ve date” noted at the top of the executed Professional or Personal Services Agreement (PSA). Services 
shall be invoiced for within sixty (60) days of performance but not more frequently than every thirty (30) 
days. 

2. Individual Invoicing: In the case of mul�ple contracts/projects with the City of Shelton, separate invoices 
shall be submited per Contract. 

3. Cover Leter Report: A cover leter summarizing the work done on the project during the period of the 
invoice, signed by the project manager, must accompany each invoice submited. Please iden�fy the period 
covered by the invoice in the heading. The level of detail in the report should be commensurate with the 
quan�ty of work occurring during the billing period. Even for the most complex projects, however, a short 
paragraph for each major task should be sufficient. 

4. Billing Voucher: A Billing Voucher (page 2, atached to this Exhibit) must be completed and accompany each 
invoice submited; a digital pdf or fillable Word version of the document can be emailed upon request. The 
Billing Voucher summarizes the following:  
a. Submital Number - the sequen�al number of invoices submited to date, including the current invoice. 
b. Consultant Informa�on – Name, Mailing Address, Phone Number 
c. Contract Informa�on – Title of the Contract/Project, and Contract Expira�on Date. 
d. Repor�ng Period - shall be a range between two specific dates for which the invoice covers. 
e. Invoice Number - a unique number assigned to each invoice by the Consul�ng Firm in order to 

dis�nguish one invoice submission from another. 
f. Indicates whether the invoice submital is the final billing for the Contract. 
g. Budget Summary – shows the total Contract Budget, Previous Payments, Current Request, Total 

Requested to Date, and Balance Remaining. 

5. Task Breakout: Each invoice should list the amount being billed by tasks as shown in the Scope of Work. 
Under each task, include a list of all people that have worked on the project during the invoice period by 
name, job title, and billing rate; A lis�ng by job �tle only is not acceptable. 

6. Time Sheet Detail: Timesheet detail with comments (Diary Logs) are required for all �me charged. 

7. Backup: The City requires backup for all reimbursable expenses, and the guidelines outlined in Exhibit C - 
Reimbursable Expenses, must be followed. 

8. Subconsultants: All requirements asked of the prime consultant must be followed by sub-consultants as 
well, including reimbursable expenses and Diary Logs. 

9. Rates: It is the Consultant’s responsibility to verify that rates included on the invoice are consistent with the 
rates approved by the City, as iden�fied in the executed Contract and any Contract Amendments. 

10. Invoice Submital: The invoice package shall be submited to accounts.payabale@SheltonWA.gov, or via 
postal mail or courier addressed to: City of Shelton Atn: Accounts Payable, 525 W Cota Street, Shelton, WA 
98584.

mailto:accounts.payabale@SheltonWA.gov


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

CodePros, LLC 12 | Page 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF SHELTON 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
On-Call Building Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and effec�ve the 21st day of August, 2024 by and between the City of Shelton, 
Washington, (“City”) and SAFEbuilt, LLC, (“Consultant”), a Washington State limited liability corpora�on 
whose address is 1621 114th Avenue SE, Suite 219, Bellevue, WA 98004. 

WHEREAS, the City’s Community & Economic Development Department (CED) desires to engage the 
Consultant to provide on-call plan review and inspec�on services; and 

WHEREAS, Consultant represented, and by entering into this Agreement now represents, that it is fully 
qualified to execute the work to be performed hereunder. 

NOW THEREFORE, the par�es herein do mutually agree as follows: 

1. Engagement of Consultant 
The City hereby agrees to engage the Consultant, and the Consultant hereby agrees to perform the 
work in a competent and professional manner and provide the services described in Exhibit A – 
Scope of Work, atached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. The Scope of Work so 
iden�fied is herea�er referred to as “Work”. Without a writen direc�ve of an authorized 
representa�ve of the City, the Consultant shall not perform any services that are in addi�on to, or 
beyond the scope of, the Work. If the Consultant’s proposal is atached as an exhibit, and if such 
proposal contains or incorporates any condi�ons or terms in addi�on to or different from the terms 
of this Agreement, then the Consultant expressly agrees that such condi�ons or terms are neither 
incorporated nor included into this Agreement between the City and Consultant. 

2. Dura�on of Agreement 
This Agreement shall commence as of the date of execu�on of this Agreement and shall be 
completed by December 31st, 2025.  The City may, upon mutual agreement with the Consultant but 
with the same terms and condi�ons herein, issue a writen extension of the contract for twelve 
months un�l December 31st, 2026. 

3. Compensa�on 
A. Total compensa�on, including all services and reimbursable expenses, shall not exceed a 

maximum of $50,000.00 without written approval by CED and City Manager.  The Consultant 
shall be paid in such manner, as described in Exhibit B. The City shall not compensate the 
Consultant for invoices that exceed the maximum amount without a mutually agreed contract 
amendment executed prior to the date of expenses/services incurred. The City reserves the right 
to disallow invoices that exceed the maximum amount and which, in the City’s opinion, do not 
add value. 

B. The Consultant shall be paid by the City only for completed Work and for services actually 
rendered and authorized by this Contract, which are described herein. Such payment shall be full 
compensa�on for Work performed or services rendered, including, but not limited to, all labor, 
materials, supplies, equipment, and incidentals necessary to complete the Work. 

C. Consultant may receive payment as reimbursement for Eligible Expenses actually incurred. 
“Eligible Expenses” means those types and amounts of expenses either listed in Exhibit C or such 
expenses as are approved for reimbursement by the City’s Contract Manager, in wri�ng, prior to 
the expense being incurred. Expenses not specifically iden�fied in Exhibit C may not be 
reimbursed unless prior writen approval has been obtained from the City. An expense shall not 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 2 | Page 

be reimbursed if: 1) the expense is not iden�fied in Exhibit C; 2) the expense would exceed the 
contract value iden�fied in part A of this Sec�on; 3) the expense was not approved in wri�ng by 
the City’s Contract Manager, or an authorized City representa�ve, prior to the Consultant 
incurring the expense. 

D. The Consultant shall submit �mely invoices to the City for authorized work performed, but not 
more o�en than once every thirty (30) days. Timely is to mean within 60 days following either 1) 
comple�on of work/tasks for Fixed-Price Contracts, or 2) hours performed for Time & Materials 
Contracts. Year-end invoices shall be submited no later than January 10th each year. 

E. If Consultant fails or refuses to correct its work when so directed by the City, the City may 
withhold from any payment otherwise due an amount that the City in good faith believes is 
equal to the cost to the City of correc�ng, re-procuring, or remedying any damage caused by 
Consultant’s conduct. 

4. Method of Payment 
The City shall pay the Consultant for services rendered within thirty (30) days of receipt of an 
approved invoice. To obtain payment, the Consultant shall: 
A. File its request for payment accompanied by evidence sa�sfactory to the City jus�fying the 

request for payment.  
B. Follow the invoicing guidelines described in Exhibit D – Invoicing Requirements, including the 

Billing Voucher form provided in the Exhibit.  
A completed Billing Voucher must accompany each invoice submited. 

C. To the extent reimbursement of Eligible Expenses is sought, submit itemiza�on of such expenses 
and all documenta�on required, as defined in Exhibit C – Reimbursable Expenses. 

D. Comply with all applicable provisions of this Agreement. 
E. All requests for payment, including the required Billing Voucher, Cover Leter Report, and any 

applicable documenta�on, shall be submited either via email (preferred method) to 
accounts.payable@sheltonwa.gov, or via postal mail addressed to: City of Shelton Atn: Accounts 
Payable, 525 W Cota Street, Shelton, WA 98584. 

5. Ownership of Tangible Property, Intellectual Property, and Deriva�ve Rights 
A. Any and all intellectual and tangible property which shall include, but is not limited to, data, 

analyses, documents, photographs, plans, processes, designs, drawings, specifica�ons, surveys, 
films, reports, and other work products created, prepared, produced, constructed, assembled, 
made, performed, or otherwise produced by the Consultant or Consultant’s subconsultants for 
delivery to the City pursuant to this Agreement shall become the sole and absolute property of 
the City upon comple�on of the work and payment for the service. Such property shall 
cons�tute “work made for hire” as defined by the U.S. Copyright Act of 1976, 17 U.S.C. § 101, 
and the ownership of the copyright and any other intellectual property rights in such property 
shall vest in the City at the �me of its crea�on. Ownership of the intellectual property includes 
the right to copyright, patent, and register, and the ability to transfer these rights. Material 
which the Consultant uses to perform this Agreement but is not created, prepared, constructed, 
assembled, made, performed, or otherwise produced for or paid for by the City is owned by the 
Consultant and is not “work made for hire” within the terms of this Agreement. 

B. The City may make or permit to be made any modifica�ons to the plans and specifica�ons 
without the prior writen authoriza�on of the Consultant. 

C. Consultant warrants that its subconsultants have conveyed to it, all rights to intellectual and 
tangible property consistent with the foregoing. Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold the 
City harmless for and against any and all infringement claims brought or threatened as a result of 
a material breach of this provision. 

6. Submission of Reports and Other Documents 

mailto:accounts.payable@sheltonwa.gov


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 3 | Page 

The Consultant shall submit all reports and other documents required, as specified in Exhibit A, to 
the person iden�fied in Sec�on 22 - No�ces. Said informa�on shall be subject to review by the City, 
and if found to be unacceptable based upon industry standards, Consultant shall correct any 
deficient work and promptly deliver to the City at the Consultant’s expense. All informa�on, reports, 
and documents required under this Agreement shall be submited not later than: 
  
Plan Review Turnaround Times 
Provide comments within the following �meframes: 
Day 1 = first full business day a�er receipt of plans and all suppor�ng documents. 
 
Residen�al-first comments within 7 business days, second comments within 5 business days or less. 
Tenant improvements-first comments within 10 business days, second comments within 7 business 
days or less. 
Commercial (up to $2M valua�on)-first comments within 10 business days, second comments within 
7 business days or less. 
Commercial ($2M to $5M valua�on)-first comments within 15 business days, second comments 
within 10 business days or less. 
Commercial ($5M+ valua�on)-first comments within 21 business days, second comments within 15 
business days or less. 
Stand-alone permits (plumbing, mechanical)-first comments within 5 business days, second 
comments 5 business days or less. 

7. Changes 
The City may, from �me to �me, unilaterally change the scope of the services of the Consultant to be 
performed hereunder. Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the scope of work (and 
resul�ng increase or decrease in compensa�on), shall: (a) be made only in wri�ng and signed by an 
authorized City representa�ve, (b) be explicitly iden�fied as an Amendment to the Agreement, and 
(c) become a part of this Agreement. 

8. Independent Consultant 
The Consultant and the City agree that the Consultant is an Independent Contractor with respect to 
the services provided pursuant to this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered to 
create the rela�onship of employer and employee between the par�es. Neither the Consultant nor 
any employee of the Consultant shall be en�tled to any benefits accorded City employees by virtue 
of the services provided under this Agreement. The City shall not be responsible for paying, 
withholding, or otherwise deduc�ng any customary state or federal payroll deduc�ons, including but 
not limited to FICA, FUTA, state industrial insurance, state workers compensa�on, or otherwise 
assuming the du�es of an employer with respect to the Consultant or any employee of the 
Consultant. 

9. Registra�on, Licensing, and Bonding 
Consultant shall at all �mes maintain appropriate registra�on, licensing, and bonding applicable to 
professional services to be performed and pursuant to this Agreement, and has provided or will 
provide writen evidence of the same to the City upon execu�on of this Agreement, and shall require 
and produce the same with respect to any subcontractors/assignees (if the same are authorized by 
the City to perform pursuant to this Agreement).  

In accordance with Shelton Municipal Code, for the privilege of accep�ng or execu�ng a contract 
with the City of Shelton, irrespec�ve of whether goods or services are delivered within or outside 
the city, or whether the person’s office is within or outside the city, the consultant is subject to the 
licensing requirements and business and occupa�on tax levied in SMC Chapters 5.04.030 and 
3.52.060. 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 4 | Page 

10. Provisions of Facili�es, Equipment, Personnel 
The Consultant shall furnish the facili�es, equipment, and personnel necessary to perform the 
services required under this Agreement, unless otherwise provided herein. 

11. Suble�ng/Assignment of Contracts 
Consultant shall not sublet or assign any of the Work without the express, prior writen consent of 
the City. 

12. No Conflict of Interest 
The Consultant represents to the City that it has no conflict of interest in performing any of the 
services set forth in Exhibit "A."  In the event that the Consultant is asked to perform services for a 
project with which it may have a conflict, it will disclose such conflict to the City.  At the discre�on of 
the City, the City may direct the Consultant to refrain from entering into a contract with 
representa�ves of the conflic�ng project. 

13. Compliance with Applicable Industry Standards, Laws, and Requirements 
In performing such services, the Consultant shall at all �mes comply with all federal, state, and local 
laws applicable to the performance of such services. It is the Consultant's responsibility to iden�fy 
and comply with such laws, including but not limited to, Washington’s laws against discrimina�on; 
Washington’s Industrial Safety and Health Act and associated regula�ons; Washington’s 
Unemployment Compensa�on provisions, and any other applicable laws, statutes, regula�ons, or 
requirements otherwise applicable to the services provided under this Agreement. 

14. Cer�fica�on Regarding Suspension, Debarment, Ineligibility, or Voluntary Exclusion 
A. Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.213, the Consultant, by signing this agreement, cer�fies that it is not 

suspended, debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or otherwise excluded from 
contrac�ng with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal funds. 
If the Consultant is unable to cer�fy, they must provide an explana�on as to why they cannot 
prior to signing the agreement. The Consultant shall provide immediate writen no�ce to the 
City if at any �me the Consultant learns that its cer�fica�on was erroneous or has become 
erroneous by reason of changed circumstances, or have received no�ce that they have been 
suspended, debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or otherwise excluded from 
contrac�ng with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal funds. 
The terms covered transac�on, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower �er covered transac�on, 
par�cipant, person, primary covered transac�on, principal, proposal, and voluntarily excluded, 
as used in this clause, have the meaning set out in 2 CFR 180. 

B. The Consultant agrees it shall not knowingly enter into any lower �er covered transac�on with a 
person who is proposed for debarment under the applicable Code of Federal Regula�ons, 
debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from par�cipa�on in this 
covered transac�on. Pursuant to 2 CFR 180.330, the Consultant is responsible for ensuring that 
any lower �er covered transac�on complies with cer�fica�on of suspension and debarment 
requirements. The Consultant agrees that it will include this clause without modifica�on in all 
lower �er covered transac�ons. 

15. Discrimina�on Prohibited 
The Consultant shall not discriminate against any employee, applicant for employment, or any 
person seeking the services of the Consultant under this Agreement on the basis of race, color, 
religion, creed, sex, age, na�onal origin, marital status, or presence of any sensory, mental, or 
physical handicap, or any other protected class. 

16. Indemnifica�on / Hold Harmless 
Consultant shall defend, indemnify, and hold the Public En�ty, its officers, officials, employees, and 
volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses, or suits including atorney 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 5 | Page 

fees, arising out of or resul�ng from the acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant in performance 
of this Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the sole negligence of the Public 
En�ty. 
Should a court of competent jurisdic�on determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24.115, 
then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to 
property caused by or resul�ng from the concurrent negligence of the Consultant and the Public 
En�ty, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers, the Consultant's liability, including the duty 
and cost to defend, hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Consultant’s negligence.  It is further 
specifically and expressly understood that the indemnifica�on provided herein cons�tutes the 
Consultant’s waiver of immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, solely for the purposes of 
this indemnifica�on.  This waiver has been mutually nego�ated by the par�es.  The provisions of this 
sec�on shall survive the expira�on or termina�on of this Agreement. 

A. Insurance Term 
The Consultant shall procure and maintain for the dura�on of the Agreement, insurance against 
claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connec�on with 
the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representa�ves, or 
employees. 

B. No Limita�on 
The Consultant’s maintenance of insurance as required by the Agreement shall not be construed 
to limit the liability of the Consultant to the coverage provided by such insurance, or otherwise 
limit the Public En�ty’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 

C. Minimum Scope of Insurance 
The Consultant shall obtain insurance of the types and coverage described below: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased vehicles.  
Coverage shall be as least as broad as Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 01. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be at least as broad as ISO occurrence form CG 
00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, opera�ons, stop-gap independent 
contractors and personal injury and adver�sing injury.  The Public En�ty shall be named as 
an addi�onal insured under the Consultant’s Commercial General Liability insurance policy 
with respect to the work performed for the Public En�ty using an addi�onal insured 
endorsement at least as broad as ISO CG 20 26. 

3. Workers’ Compensa�on coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the State of 
Washington. 

4. Professional Liability insurance appropriate to the Consultant’s profession. 

D. Minimum Amounts of Insurance 
The Consultant shall maintain the following insurance limits: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily injury and 
property damage of $1,000,000 per accident. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be writen with limits no less than $2,000,000 
each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate. 

3. Professional Liability insurance shall be writen with limits no less than $2,000,000 per 
claim and $2,000,000 policy aggregate limit. 

E. Other Insurance Provision 
The Consultant’s Automobile Liability and Commercial General Liability insurance policies are to 
contain, or be endorsed to contain that they shall be primary insurance as respect the Public 
En�ty.  Any insurance, self-insurance, or self-insured pool coverage maintained by the Public 
En�ty shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 6 | Page 

F. Acceptability of Insurers 
Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best ra�ng of not less than A:VII. 

G. Verifica�on of Coverage 
The Consultant shall furnish the Public En�ty with original cer�ficates and a copy of the 
amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the addi�onal insured 
endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Consultant before commencement 
of the work. 

H. No�ce of Cancella�on 
The Consultant shall provide the Public En�ty with writen no�ce of any policy cancella�on 
within two business days of their receipt of such no�ce. 

I. Failure to Maintain Insurance 
Failure on the part of the Consultant to maintain the insurance as required shall cons�tute a 
material breach of contract, upon which the Public En�ty may, a�er giving five business days 
no�ce to the Consultant to correct the breach, immediately terminate the contract or, at its 
discre�on, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connec�on 
therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to the Public En�ty on demand, or at the 
sole discre�on of the Public En�ty, offset against funds due the Consultant from the Public 
En�ty. 

J. Public En�ty Full Availability of Consultant Limits 
If the Consultant maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums shown above, the Public 
En�ty shall be insured for the full available limits of Commercial General and Excess or Umbrella 
liability maintained by the Consultant, irrespec�ve of whether such limits maintained by the 
Consultant are greater than those required by this contract or whether any cer�ficate of 
insurance furnished to the Public En�ty evidences limits of liability lower than those maintained 
by the Consultant. 

17. Record Keeping and Repor�ng 
A. The Consultant shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property, financial, and 

programma�c records, which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any 
nature expended and services performed pursuant to this Agreement.  The Consultant shall also 
maintain such other records as may be deemed necessary by the City to ensure proper 
accoun�ng of all funds contributed by the City to the performance of this Agreement. 

B. These records shall be maintained for a period of seven (7) years a�er termina�on hereof unless 
permission to destroy them is granted by the Office of the Archivist in accordance with RCW 
Chapter 40.14 and by the City. 

18. Audits and Inspec�ons 
The records and documents with respect to all maters covered by this Agreement shall be subject at 
all �mes to inspec�on, review, or audit as allowed by law during the performance of this Agreement.  
The City shall have the right to conduct an audit of the Consultant's financial statement and 
condi�on and to a copy of the results of any such audit or other examina�on performed by or on 
behalf of the Consultant. 

19. Termina�on 
This Agreement may at any �me be terminated for any reason by the City upon giving to the 
Consultant thirty (30) days writen no�ce of the City's inten�on to terminate the same. If the 
Consultant's insurance coverage is canceled for any reason, the City shall have the right to terminate 
this Agreement immediately.  Consultant will be paid for sa�sfactory work performed through the 
date of termina�on. 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 7 | Page 

20. Disputes 
The Consultant shall present any disputed issue not resolved in accordance with this agreement in 
wri�ng to the City Manager within 10 days. The decision of the City Manager or designee shall be 
final, subject to judicial review. The Mason County Superior Court shall have jurisdic�on over 
disputes. In the event of li�ga�on, each party shall bear its own costs and fees.  

21. En�re Agreement 
This Agreement and Exhibits A, B, C, & D contain the en�re agreement between the par�es hereto, 
and no other agreements, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject mater of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to exist or bind either party.  Either party may request changes to the Agreement.  Proposed 
changes, which are mutually agreed upon and signed by each par�es authorized signatory, shall be 
incorporated by writen amendments to this Agreement. 

22. No�ces 
No�ces shall be sent to the following addresses: 

 CITY OF SHELTON     SAFEbuilt, LLC 
 Atn: Jae Hill           Atn: Chris Giordano, CEO 
 525 West Cota street     1621 114th Avenue SE, Suite 219 
 Shelton, WA 98584     Bellevue, WA 98004 
 jae.hill@sheltonwa.gov    ccampfield@safebuilt.com  
 

23. Authority to Obligate 
Each person signing this Agreement on behalf of either party individually warrants that he or she has 
full legal power to execute this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom he or she is signing and 
bind and obligate such party with respect to all provisions contained in this Agreement. 

24. Counterparts 
Original signatures transmited and received via electronic transmission of a scanned document, 
(e.g. PDF or similar format) are true and valid signatures for all purposes hereunder and shall bind 
the par�es to the same extent as that of an original signature. Any such electronic mail transmission 
shall cons�tute the final agreement of the par�es and conclusive proof of such agreement. Any such 
electronic counterpart shall be of sufficient quality to be legible either electronically or when printed 
as hardcopy. The City shall determine legibility and acceptability for public record purposes. This 
Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all purposes be 
deemed to be an original and all of which shall cons�tute the same instrument. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Shelton and SAFEbuilt, LLC have executed this Agreement as of 
the date first above writen. 
 
 CITY OF SHELTON     SAFEbuilt, LLC 
 
 __________________________________  _______________________________________ 
 Mark Ziegler     Chris Giordano 
 City Manager     CEO 
         

 

 

 

mailto:jae.hill@sheltonwa.gov
mailto:ccampfield@safebuilt.com


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 8 | Page 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 

Consultant shall provide building code plan review, or building code plan review and 
inspection services, to the City of Shelton on an on-call basis, subject to supervision 
and direction by the City’s Community & Economic Development Director and/or 
their assignee. The general scope of services needed by the City of Shelton typically 
fall into the following categories: 

· Review of submitted commercial and residential contract documents which consist 
of plans, specifications, and engineering data to determine whether the items comply 
with all applicable adopted state and local codes. 

· Inspections of building construction for adopted code compliance in the City of 
Shelton. 

 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 9 | Page 

EXHIBIT B 
COMPENSATION 

The City shall pay the Consultant a sum equal to the number of hours actually worked , mul�plied by the 
rate iden�fied herein for the staff performing work as authorized, subject to the maximum stated in 
Paragraph 3(A) of this Agreement, as summarized and stated below. Upon prior no�fica�on to the City, 
the Consultant’s actual hourly rates may adjust during the course of this agreement, however, such 
adjustments shall not affect the total compensa�on. 

 

1. FEE SCHEDULE 
 Municipality and Consultant will review the Municipal Fee Schedule and valua�on tables annually to 

discuss making adjustments to reflect increases in the costs incurred by Consultant to provide 
Services. 

 Beginning January 01, 2025 and annually therea�er, the hourly and flat rates listed shall be increased 
based upon the annual increase in the Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Sta�s�cs or successor 
thereof, Consumer Price Index (United States City Average, All Items (CPI-U), Not Seasonally adjusted, 
All Urban Consumers, referred to herein as the “CPI”) for the Municipality or, if not reported for the 
Municipality the CPI for ci�es of a similar size within the applicable region from the previous calendar 
year, such increase, however, not to exceed 4% per annum.  The increase will become effec�ve upon 
publica�on of the applicable CPI data.  If the index decreases, the rates listed shall remain unchanged. 

 Consultant fees for Services provided pursuant to this Agreement will be as follows: 
Service Fee Schedule: 
Inspec�on Services 

• Building, Mechanical, Plumbing, Energy Code 
$110.00 per hour- one (1) hour minimum** 

Plan Review Services – Residen�al & Commercial: 
 Ini�al plan review 
 Up-to two (2) re-reviews 
  

Plan review 60% of city plan review fee with ini�al 
review and 2 re-reviews. Then rate is $120 per hr. w/ 
1 hr. min. and also same hourly rate for changes to 
previously approved plans. 

Addi�onal Plan Review Fee – Residen�al & Commercial: 
• A�er ini�al & two (2) re-reviews 
• Other Building Plan Reviews not listed or changes to 

previously approved plans. 
• Stand-alone mechanical or plumbing permits  
• Mee�ngs of plans examiner outside of plan review % 

of fee plan review work.  

$115.00 per hour – one (1) hour minimum 

Structural Engineering Plan Review $165.00 per hour – one (1) hour minimum  
A�er Hours/Emergency Inspec�on Services $130.00 per hour – two (2) hour minimum 
**Hourly inspec�on �me tracked will include roundtrip travel �me to and from/between Consultant’s loca�on and 
Municipality or first inspec�on site up to 1 hour away. Total �me tracked will end when the inspector completes the 
last scheduled inspec�on or leaves Municipal office & travel �me to & from Consultant’s loca�on up to 1 hour away 
each way.  Time tracked will also include travel �me between inspec�on sites and all administra�ve work related to 
inspec�on support. 
 



On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 10 | Page 

Exhibit C – Reimbursable Expenses 
 

Reimbursable expenses for Consultants/Contractors and Sub-Consultants/Sub-Contractors working for the City of Shelton shall 
follow the guidelines outlined below, unless otherwise specified in the Agreement. All reimbursable expenses will be billed at the 
actual direct cost, unless otherwise indicated below. 
  

Expense Type Reimbursement Policies Documentation 
Required 

Pre- Approval 
Required?* 

Hotel 

Lodging reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem 
daily lodging rate allowance for Mason County plus tax 
(https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources). The City does not 
reimburse for in-room purchases, laundry, or any other 
incidentals. The City will not reimburse extra booking fees or 
related charges. 

Itemized Receipt 
from check out – 
Booking receipts 

will not be 
accepted 

Yes 

Airfare 
Based on the most economical flights with reasonable routing. 
Business class and first class are not reimbursable. 
Baggage fees are limited to one bag per person.  

Receipt Yes 

Airport Shuttle/ 
Taxi/Rideshare Actual expense, may include a customary gratuity. Receipt Yes 

Rental Car Reimbursement for rental cars will be for a standard size car or 
smaller and reimbursed for the actual expense. Receipt Yes 

Ferry Service 
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other modes & routes are available, the cheaper 
route and mode shall be utilized. 

Receipt No 

Privately-Owned 
or Company Car 

Mileage shall be calculated from the actual local office or office 
identified below and reimbursed at the IRS allowable rate for the 
current year.  

Printed Map w/ 
Mileage No 

Zipcar/Similar 
Service 

The City will reimburse contractual car rental fees to the extent 
they do not exceed the comparable mileage rate reimbursement. 

Receipt & Printed 
Map No 

Tolls 
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other non-toll routes are possible, the cheapest route 
shall be utilized. 

Good to Go or 
other statement No 

Meals 

Meal reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem meal 
allowance, and only allowed when consultant travels overnight or 
at least 150 miles per one-way trip.  https://www.gsa.gov/travel-
resources 

Itemized Receipt - 
Identify Person(s), 

Meal Type, and 
Dates of Travel 

Yes 

Courier or Parcel 
Services 

Reimbursable only if required to fulfill a request of the City. Does 
not include routine correspondence. Receipt No 

Printing, copying 

Reimbursement will be allowed for documents that are to be 
provided to the owner or provided to an outside entity on behalf 
of the owner, only. Prints/copies of documents used by the 
Consultant/Contractor to perform normal services and not 
provided to the City are not reimbursable. 

Receipt No 

Sub-Consultants/ 
Sub-Contractors 

Up to 5% markup allowed unless grant/funding guidelines prohibit. 
All subs are subject to these reimbursement guidelines. Sub-
Consultants hired to perform basic services required by the 
Contract are not eligible for reimbursement. 

Sub-Invoices Yes 

* Pre-approval means an approval in writing from the Contract Manager prior to the cost(s) being incurred.  Documentation of 
approval shall be included with the invoice. 
 
Office Address Mileage will be calculated from:         

             

https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 11 | Page 

EXHIBIT D 
INVOICING REQUIREMENTS 

The City acknowledges that each consul�ng firm has their own accoun�ng so�ware and that, in many cases, it 
may be difficult to change the output or appearance of reports. For City Staff to effec�vely manage projects and 
process invoices, however, certain informa�on is cri�cal. 

The following are guidelines which the City requires all consultants to follow when preparing invoices for City of 
Shelton projects.  

1. Timing: Due to poten�al audit issues, the City cannot pay for work done prior to the date listed as the 
“effec�ve date” noted at the top of the executed Professional or Personal Services Agreement (PSA). Services 
shall be invoiced for within sixty (60) days of performance but not more frequently than every thirty (30) 
days. 

2. Individual Invoicing: In the case of mul�ple contracts/projects with the City of Shelton, separate invoices 
shall be submited per Contract. 

3. Cover Leter Report: A cover leter summarizing the work done on the project during the period of the 
invoice, signed by the project manager, must accompany each invoice submited. Please iden�fy the period 
covered by the invoice in the heading. The level of detail in the report should be commensurate with the 
quan�ty of work occurring during the billing period. Even for the most complex projects, however, a short 
paragraph for each major task should be sufficient. 

4. Billing Voucher: A Billing Voucher (page 2, atached to this Exhibit) must be completed and accompany each 
invoice submited; a digital pdf or fillable Word version of the document can be emailed upon request. The 
Billing Voucher summarizes the following:  
a. Submital Number - the sequen�al number of invoices submited to date, including the current invoice. 
b. Consultant Informa�on – Name, Mailing Address, Phone Number 
c. Contract Informa�on – Title of the Contract/Project, and Contract Expira�on Date. 
d. Repor�ng Period - shall be a range between two specific dates for which the invoice covers. 
e. Invoice Number - a unique number assigned to each invoice by the Consul�ng Firm in order to 

dis�nguish one invoice submission from another. 
f. Indicates whether the invoice submital is the final billing for the Contract. 
g. Budget Summary – shows the total Contract Budget, Previous Payments, Current Request, Total 

Requested to Date, and Balance Remaining. 

5. Task Breakout: Each invoice should list the amount being billed by tasks as shown in the Scope of Work. 
Under each task, include a list of all people that have worked on the project during the invoice period by 
name, job title, and billing rate; A lis�ng by job �tle only is not acceptable. 

6. Time Sheet Detail: Timesheet detail with comments (Diary Logs) are required for all �me charged. 

7. Backup: The City requires backup for all reimbursable expenses, and the guidelines outlined in Exhibit C - 
Reimbursable Expenses, must be followed. 

8. Subconsultants: All requirements asked of the prime consultant must be followed by sub-consultants as 
well, including reimbursable expenses and Diary Logs. 

9. Rates: It is the Consultant’s responsibility to verify that rates included on the invoice are consistent with the 
rates approved by the City, as iden�fied in the executed Contract and any Contract Amendments. 

10. Invoice Submital: The invoice package shall be submited to accounts.payabale@SheltonWA.gov, or via 
postal mail or courier addressed to: City of Shelton Atn: Accounts Payable, 525 W Cota Street, Shelton, WA 
98584.

mailto:accounts.payabale@SheltonWA.gov


On Call Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

SAFEbuilt, LLC 12 | Page 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF SHELTON 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
On-Call Building Services Pool Professional Services Agreement 

 
THIS AGREEMENT, made and effec�ve the 21st day of August, 2024 by and between the City of Shelton, 
Washington, (“City”) and West Coast Code Consultants “WC3” (“Consultant”), a Washington State S-
Corpora�on whose address is 19109 36th Ave W, Suite 201, Lynnwood WA 98036. 

WHEREAS, the City’s Community & Economic Development Department (CED) desires to engage the 
Consultant to provide on-call plan review and inspec�on services; and 

WHEREAS, Consultant represented, and by entering into this Agreement now represents, that it is fully 
qualified to execute the work to be performed hereunder. 

NOW THEREFORE, the par�es herein do mutually agree as follows: 

1. Engagement of Consultant 
The City hereby agrees to engage the Consultant, and the Consultant hereby agrees to perform the 
work in a competent and professional manner and provide the services described in Exhibit A – 
Scope of Work, atached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. The Scope of Work so 
iden�fied is herea�er referred to as “Work”. Without a writen direc�ve of an authorized 
representa�ve of the City, the Consultant shall not perform any services that are in addi�on to, or 
beyond the scope of, the Work. If the Consultant’s proposal is atached as an exhibit, and if such 
proposal contains or incorporates any condi�ons or terms in addi�on to or different from the terms 
of this Agreement, then the Consultant expressly agrees that such condi�ons or terms are neither 
incorporated nor included into this Agreement between the City and Consultant. 

2. Dura�on of Agreement 
This Agreement shall commence as of the date of execu�on of this Agreement and shall be 
completed by December 31st, 2025.  The City may, upon mutual agreement with the Consultant but 
with the same terms and condi�ons herein, issue a writen extension of the contract for twelve 
months un�l December 31st, 2026. 

3. Compensa�on 
A. Total compensa�on, including all services and reimbursable expenses, shall not exceed a 

maximum of $50,000.00 without written approval by CED and City Manager. The Consultant 
shall be paid in such manner, as described in Exhibit B. The City shall not compensate the 
Consultant for invoices that exceed the maximum amount without a mutually agreed contract 
amendment executed prior to the date of expenses/services incurred. The City reserves the right 
to disallow invoices that exceed the maximum amount and which, in the City’s opinion, do not 
add value. 

B. The Consultant shall be paid by the City only for completed Work and for services actually 
rendered and authorized by this Contract, which are described herein. Such payment shall be full 
compensa�on for Work performed or services rendered, including, but not limited to, all labor, 
materials, supplies, equipment, and incidentals necessary to complete the Work. 

C. Consultant may receive payment as reimbursement for Eligible Expenses actually incurred. 
“Eligible Expenses” means those types and amounts of expenses either listed in Exhibit C or such 
expenses as are approved for reimbursement by the City’s Contract Manager, in wri�ng, prior to 



On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 2 | Page 

the expense being incurred. Expenses not specifically iden�fied in Exhibit C may not be 
reimbursed unless prior writen approval has been obtained from the City. An expense shall not 
be reimbursed if: 1) the expense is not iden�fied in Exhibit C; 2) the expense would exceed the 
contract value iden�fied in part A of this Sec�on; 3) the expense was not approved in wri�ng by 
the City’s Contract Manager, or an authorized City representa�ve, prior to the Consultant 
incurring the expense. 

D. The Consultant shall submit �mely invoices to the City for authorized work performed, but not 
more o�en than once every thirty (30) days. Timely is to mean within 60 days following either 1) 
comple�on of work/tasks for Fixed-Price Contracts, or 2) hours performed for Time & Materials 
Contracts. Year-end invoices shall be submited no later than January 10th each year. 

E. If Consultant fails or refuses to correct its work when so directed by the City, the City may 
withhold from any payment otherwise due an amount that the City in good faith believes is 
equal to the cost to the City of correc�ng, re-procuring, or remedying any damage caused by 
Consultant’s conduct. 

4. Method of Payment 
The City shall pay the Consultant for services rendered within thirty (30) days of receipt of an 
approved invoice. To obtain payment, the Consultant shall: 
A. File its request for payment accompanied by evidence sa�sfactory to the City jus�fying the 

request for payment.  
B. Follow the invoicing guidelines described in Exhibit D – Invoicing Requirements, including the 

Billing Voucher form provided in the Exhibit.  
A completed Billing Voucher must accompany each invoice submited. 

C. To the extent reimbursement of Eligible Expenses is sought, submit itemiza�on of such expenses 
and all documenta�on required, as defined in Exhibit C – Reimbursable Expenses. 

D. Comply with all applicable provisions of this Agreement. 
E. All requests for payment, including the required Billing Voucher, Cover Leter Report, and any 

applicable documenta�on, shall be submited either via email (preferred method) to 
accounts.payable@sheltonwa.gov, or via postal mail addressed to: City of Shelton Atn: Accounts 
Payable, 525 W Cota Street, Shelton, WA 98584. 

5. Ownership of Tangible Property, Intellectual Property, and Deriva�ve Rights 
A. Any and all intellectual and tangible property which shall include, but is not limited to, data, 

analyses, documents, photographs, plans, processes, designs, drawings, specifica�ons, surveys, 
films, reports, and other work products created, prepared, produced, constructed, assembled, 
made, performed, or otherwise produced by the Consultant or Consultant’s subconsultants for 
delivery to the City pursuant to this Agreement shall become the sole and absolute property of 
the City upon comple�on of the work and payment for the service. Such property shall 
cons�tute “work made for hire” as defined by the U.S. Copyright Act of 1976, 17 U.S.C. § 101, 
and the ownership of the copyright and any other intellectual property rights in such property 
shall vest in the City at the �me of its crea�on. Ownership of the intellectual property includes 
the right to copyright, patent, and register, and the ability to transfer these rights. Material 
which the Consultant uses to perform this Agreement but is not created, prepared, constructed, 
assembled, made, performed, or otherwise produced for or paid for by the City is owned by the 
Consultant and is not “work made for hire” within the terms of this Agreement. 

B. The City may make or permit to be made any modifica�ons to the plans and specifica�ons 
without the prior writen authoriza�on of the Consultant. 

C. Consultant warrants that its subconsultants have conveyed to it, all rights to intellectual and 
tangible property consistent with the foregoing. Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold the 

mailto:accounts.payable@sheltonwa.gov


On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 3 | Page 

City harmless for and against any and all infringement claims brought or threatened as a result of 
a material breach of this provision. 

6. Submission of Reports and Other Documents 
The Consultant shall submit all reports and other documents required, as specified in Exhibit A, to 
the person iden�fied in Sec�on 22 - No�ces. Said informa�on shall be subject to review by the City, 
and if found to be unacceptable based upon industry standards, Consultant shall correct any 
deficient work and promptly deliver to the City at the Consultant’s expense. All informa�on, reports, 
and documents required under this Agreement shall be submited not later than: 

New Residen�al Construc�on, Addi�ons, and Remodels: First review 10 days, second review 5-7 
days. 
New Commercial Construc�on, Mul�-Family (> $5 million): First review 15-20 days, second review 10 
days. 
New Commercial Construc�on (< $5 million):  First review 15-20 days, second review 10 days. 

7. Changes 
The City may, from �me to �me, unilaterally change the scope of the services of the Consultant to be 
performed hereunder. Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the scope of work (and 
resul�ng increase or decrease in compensa�on), shall: (a) be made only in wri�ng and signed by an 
authorized City representa�ve, (b) be explicitly iden�fied as an Amendment to the Agreement, and 
(c) become a part of this Agreement. 

8. Independent Consultant 
The Consultant and the City agree that the Consultant is an Independent Contractor with respect to 
the services provided pursuant to this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered to 
create the rela�onship of employer and employee between the par�es. Neither the Consultant nor 
any employee of the Consultant shall be en�tled to any benefits accorded City employees by virtue 
of the services provided under this Agreement. The City shall not be responsible for paying, 
withholding, or otherwise deduc�ng any customary state or federal payroll deduc�ons, including but 
not limited to FICA, FUTA, state industrial insurance, state workers compensa�on, or otherwise 
assuming the du�es of an employer with respect to the Consultant or any employee of the 
Consultant. 

9. Registra�on, Licensing, and Bonding 
Consultant shall at all �mes maintain appropriate registra�on, licensing, and bonding applicable to 
professional services to be performed and pursuant to this Agreement, and has provided or will 
provide writen evidence of the same to the City upon execu�on of this Agreement, and shall require 
and produce the same with respect to any subcontractors/assignees (if the same are authorized by 
the City to perform pursuant to this Agreement).  

In accordance with Shelton Municipal Code, for the privilege of accep�ng or execu�ng a contract 
with the City of Shelton, irrespec�ve of whether goods or services are delivered within or outside 
the city, or whether the person’s office is within or outside the city, the consultant is subject to the 
licensing requirements and business and occupa�on tax levied in SMC Chapters 5.04.030 and 
3.52.060. 

10. Provisions of Facili�es, Equipment, Personnel 
The Consultant shall furnish the facili�es, equipment, and personnel necessary to perform the 
services required under this Agreement, unless otherwise provided herein. 

11. Suble�ng/Assignment of Contracts 



On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 4 | Page 

Consultant shall not sublet or assign any of the Work without the express, prior writen consent of 
the City. 

12. No Conflict of Interest 
The Consultant represents to the City that it has no conflict of interest in performing any of the 
services set forth in Exhibit "A."  In the event that the Consultant is asked to perform services for a 
project with which it may have a conflict, it will disclose such conflict to the City.  At the discre�on of 
the City, the City may direct the Consultant to refrain from entering into a contract with 
representa�ves of the conflic�ng project. 

13. Compliance with Applicable Industry Standards, Laws, and Requirements 
In performing such services, the Consultant shall at all �mes comply with all federal, state, and local 
laws applicable to the performance of such services. It is the Consultant's responsibility to iden�fy 
and comply with such laws, including but not limited to, Washington’s laws against discrimina�on; 
Washington’s Industrial Safety and Health Act and associated regula�ons; Washington’s 
Unemployment Compensa�on provisions, and any other applicable laws, statutes, regula�ons, or 
requirements otherwise applicable to the services provided under this Agreement. 

14. Cer�fica�on Regarding Suspension, Debarment, Ineligibility, or Voluntary Exclusion 
A. Pursuant to 2 CFR 200.213, the Consultant, by signing this agreement, cer�fies that it is not 

suspended, debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or otherwise excluded from 
contrac�ng with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal funds. 
If the Consultant is unable to cer�fy, they must provide an explana�on as to why they cannot 
prior to signing the agreement. The Consultant shall provide immediate writen no�ce to the 
City if at any �me the Consultant learns that its cer�fica�on was erroneous or has become 
erroneous by reason of changed circumstances, or have received no�ce that they have been 
suspended, debarred, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or otherwise excluded from 
contrac�ng with the federal government, or from receiving contracts paid for with federal funds. 
The terms covered transac�on, debarred, suspended, ineligible, lower �er covered transac�on, 
par�cipant, person, primary covered transac�on, principal, proposal, and voluntarily excluded, 
as used in this clause, have the meaning set out in 2 CFR 180. 

B. The Consultant agrees it shall not knowingly enter into any lower �er covered transac�on with a 
person who is proposed for debarment under the applicable Code of Federal Regula�ons, 
debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from par�cipa�on in this 
covered transac�on. Pursuant to 2 CFR 180.330, the Consultant is responsible for ensuring that 
any lower �er covered transac�on complies with cer�fica�on of suspension and debarment 
requirements. The Consultant agrees that it will include this clause without modifica�on in all 
lower �er covered transac�ons. 

15. Discrimina�on Prohibited 
The Consultant shall not discriminate against any employee, applicant for employment, or any 
person seeking the services of the Consultant under this Agreement on the basis of race, color, 
religion, creed, sex, age, na�onal origin, marital status, or presence of any sensory, mental, or 
physical handicap, or any other protected class. 

16. Indemnifica�on / Hold Harmless 
Consultant shall defend, indemnify, and hold the Public En�ty, its officers, officials, employees, and 
volunteers harmless from any and all claims, injuries, damages, losses, or suits including atorney 
fees, arising out of or resul�ng from the acts, errors or omissions of the Consultant in performance 
of this Agreement, except for injuries and damages caused by the sole negligence of the Public 
En�ty. 



On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 5 | Page 

Should a court of competent jurisdic�on determine that this Agreement is subject to RCW 4.24.115, 
then, in the event of liability for damages arising out of bodily injury to persons or damages to 
property caused by or resul�ng from the concurrent negligence of the Consultant and the Public 
En�ty, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers, the Consultant's liability, including the duty 
and cost to defend, hereunder shall be only to the extent of the Consultant’s negligence.  It is further 
specifically and expressly understood that the indemnifica�on provided herein cons�tutes the 
Consultant’s waiver of immunity under Industrial Insurance, Title 51 RCW, solely for the purposes of 
this indemnifica�on.  This waiver has been mutually nego�ated by the par�es.  The provisions of this 
sec�on shall survive the expira�on or termina�on of this Agreement. 

A. Insurance Term 
The Consultant shall procure and maintain for the dura�on of the Agreement, insurance against 
claims for injuries to persons or damage to property which may arise from or in connec�on with 
the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representa�ves, or 
employees. 

B. No Limita�on 
The Consultant’s maintenance of insurance as required by the Agreement shall not be construed 
to limit the liability of the Consultant to the coverage provided by such insurance, or otherwise 
limit the Public En�ty’s recourse to any remedy available at law or in equity. 

C. Minimum Scope of Insurance 
The Consultant shall obtain insurance of the types and coverage described below: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, non-owned, hired and leased vehicles.  
Coverage shall be as least as broad as Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CA 00 01. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be at least as broad as ISO occurrence form CG 
00 01 and shall cover liability arising from premises, opera�ons, stop-gap independent 
contractors and personal injury and adver�sing injury.  The Public En�ty shall be named as 
an addi�onal insured under the Consultant’s Commercial General Liability insurance policy 
with respect to the work performed for the Public En�ty using an addi�onal insured 
endorsement at least as broad as ISO CG 20 26. 

3. Workers’ Compensa�on coverage as required by the Industrial Insurance laws of the State of 
Washington. 

4. Professional Liability insurance appropriate to the Consultant’s profession. 

D. Minimum Amounts of Insurance 
The Consultant shall maintain the following insurance limits: 

1. Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit for bodily injury and 
property damage of $1,000,000 per accident. 

2. Commercial General Liability insurance shall be writen with limits no less than $2,000,000 
each occurrence, $2,000,000 general aggregate. 

3. Professional Liability insurance shall be writen with limits no less than $2,000,000 per 
claim and $2,000,000 policy aggregate limit. 

E. Other Insurance Provision 
The Consultant’s Automobile Liability and Commercial General Liability insurance policies are to 
contain, or be endorsed to contain that they shall be primary insurance as respect the Public 
En�ty.  Any insurance, self-insurance, or self-insured pool coverage maintained by the Public 
En�ty shall be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 



On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 6 | Page 

F. Acceptability of Insurers 
Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best ra�ng of not less than A:VII. 

G. Verifica�on of Coverage 
The Consultant shall furnish the Public En�ty with original cer�ficates and a copy of the 
amendatory endorsements, including but not necessarily limited to the addi�onal insured 
endorsement, evidencing the insurance requirements of the Consultant before commencement 
of the work. 

H. No�ce of Cancella�on 
The Consultant shall provide the Public En�ty with writen no�ce of any policy cancella�on 
within two business days of their receipt of such no�ce. 

I. Failure to Maintain Insurance 
Failure on the part of the Consultant to maintain the insurance as required shall cons�tute a 
material breach of contract, upon which the Public En�ty may, a�er giving five business days 
no�ce to the Consultant to correct the breach, immediately terminate the contract or, at its 
discre�on, procure or renew such insurance and pay any and all premiums in connec�on 
therewith, with any sums so expended to be repaid to the Public En�ty on demand, or at the 
sole discre�on of the Public En�ty, offset against funds due the Consultant from the Public 
En�ty. 

J. Public En�ty Full Availability of Consultant Limits 
If the Consultant maintains higher insurance limits than the minimums shown above, the Public 
En�ty shall be insured for the full available limits of Commercial General and Excess or Umbrella 
liability maintained by the Consultant, irrespec�ve of whether such limits maintained by the 
Consultant are greater than those required by this contract or whether any cer�ficate of 
insurance furnished to the Public En�ty evidences limits of liability lower than those maintained 
by the Consultant. 

17. Record Keeping and Repor�ng 
A. The Consultant shall maintain accounts and records, including personnel, property, financial, and 

programma�c records, which sufficiently and properly reflect all direct and indirect costs of any 
nature expended and services performed pursuant to this Agreement.  The Consultant shall also 
maintain such other records as may be deemed necessary by the City to ensure proper 
accoun�ng of all funds contributed by the City to the performance of this Agreement. 

B. These records shall be maintained for a period of seven (7) years a�er termina�on hereof unless 
permission to destroy them is granted by the Office of the Archivist in accordance with RCW 
Chapter 40.14 and by the City. 

18. Audits and Inspec�ons 
The records and documents with respect to all maters covered by this Agreement shall be subject at 
all �mes to inspec�on, review, or audit as allowed by law during the performance of this Agreement.  
The City shall have the right to conduct an audit of the Consultant's financial statement and 
condi�on and to a copy of the results of any such audit or other examina�on performed by or on 
behalf of the Consultant. 

19. Termina�on 
This Agreement may at any �me be terminated for any reason by the City upon giving to the 
Consultant thirty (30) days writen no�ce of the City's inten�on to terminate the same. If the 
Consultant's insurance coverage is canceled for any reason, the City shall have the right to terminate 



On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 7 | Page 

this Agreement immediately.  Consultant will be paid for sa�sfactory work performed through the 
date of termina�on. 

20. Disputes 
The Consultant shall present any disputed issue not resolved in accordance with this agreement in 
wri�ng to the City Manager within 10 days. The decision of the City Manager or designee shall be 
final, subject to judicial review. The Mason County Superior Court shall have jurisdic�on over 
disputes. In the event of li�ga�on, each party shall bear its own costs and fees.  

21. En�re Agreement 
This Agreement and Exhibits A, B, C, & D contain the en�re agreement between the par�es hereto, 
and no other agreements, oral or otherwise, regarding the subject mater of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to exist or bind either party.  Either party may request changes to the Agreement.  Proposed 
changes, which are mutually agreed upon and signed by each par�es authorized signatory, shall be 
incorporated by writen amendments to this Agreement. 

22. No�ces 
No�ces shall be sent to the following addresses: 

 CITY OF SHELTON     West Coast Code Consultants, Inc. 
 Atn: Jae Hill                         Atn: Ms. Martha (Marty) Gillis 
 525 West Cota street     19109 36th Ave W, Suite 207 
 Shelton, WA 98584     Lynnwood, WA 98036 
 jae.hill@sheltonwa.gov    martyg@wc-3.com 
 

23. Authority to Obligate 
Each person signing this Agreement on behalf of either party individually warrants that he or she has 
full legal power to execute this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom he or she is signing and 
bind and obligate such party with respect to all provisions contained in this Agreement. 

24. Counterparts 
Original signatures transmited and received via electronic transmission of a scanned document, 
(e.g. PDF or similar format) are true and valid signatures for all purposes hereunder and shall bind 
the par�es to the same extent as that of an original signature. Any such electronic mail transmission 
shall cons�tute the final agreement of the par�es and conclusive proof of such agreement. Any such 
electronic counterpart shall be of sufficient quality to be legible either electronically or when printed 
as hardcopy. The City shall determine legibility and acceptability for public record purposes. This 
Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall for all purposes be 
deemed to be an original and all of which shall cons�tute the same instrument. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Shelton and West Coast Code Consultants, Inc. have executed this 
Agreement as of the date first above writen. 
 
 CITY OF SHELTON     West Coast Code Consultants, Inc. 
 
 __________________________________  _______________________________________ 
 Mark Ziegler     Martha (Marty) Gillis 
 City Manager     CBO/Principal-In-Charge/NW Regional Manager 
         

mailto:jae.hill@sheltonwa.gov


On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 8 | Page 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 
SCOPE OF WORK 

 

Consultant shall provide building code plan review, or building code plan review and 
inspection services, to the City of Shelton on an on-call basis, subject to supervision 
and direction by the City’s Community & Economic Development Director and/or 
their assignee. The general scope of services needed by the City of Shelton typically 
fall into the following categories: 

· Review of submitted commercial and residential contract documents which consist 
of plans, specifications, and engineering data to determine whether the items comply 
with all applicable adopted state and local codes. 

· Inspections of building construction for adopted code compliance in the City of 
Shelton. 



On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 9 | Page 

EXHIBIT B 
COMPENSATION 

The City shall pay the Consultant a sum equal to the number of hours actually worked , mul�plied by the 
rate iden�fied herein for the staff performing work as authorized, subject to the maximum stated in 
Paragraph 3(A) of this Agreement, as summarized and stated below. Upon prior no�fica�on to the City, 
the Consultant’s actual hourly rates may adjust during the course of this agreement, however, such 
adjustments shall not affect the total compensa�on. 

 
Our standard fees are a  percentage of the City’s plan review fees. Plan review includes the initial and second 
review.  

Services not listed below may be negotiated: 
 

 

                                                   TABLE OF BILLING RATES 
BUILDING SERVICES                   FIXED FEE AMOUNT 
Complete Building Plan Review 65% of Plan Review Fees 
3rd & Subsequent Plan Reviews with City Approval $135 / Hour 
Revisions / Deferred Submittals $135 / Hour 

Expedited Plan Review 150% of Regular Plan Review Fees 

POSITION                               HOURLY RATE 
Building Official $145 / Hour 
Engineer, Professional or Structural $140 - $150 / Hour DOE 
Plan Reviewer $135 / Hour 
Permit Technician $98 / Hour 
Education/Instructor $160 / Hour, $1,500 per day   

Miscellaneous: 
* In no event shall WC3’s complete building plan review fixed fee be less than $300. A minimum flat fee 
charge of $300 will be applied.  
*All rates require a minimum charge of 1 hour. 
*Education: Requires 1 hour of prep time for every 3 hours teaching time with a minimum charge of 1 hour. 
*All fees and rates are subject to annual review, periodic increases, and acceptance by the City. 



On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 10 | Page 

Exhibit C – Reimbursable Expenses 
 

Reimbursable expenses for Consultants/Contractors and Sub-Consultants/Sub-Contractors working for the City of Shelton shall 
follow the guidelines outlined below, unless otherwise specified in the Agreement. All reimbursable expenses will be billed at the 
actual direct cost, unless otherwise indicated below. 
  

Expense Type Reimbursement Policies Documentation 
Required 

Pre- Approval 
Required?* 

Hotel 

Lodging reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem 
daily lodging rate allowance for Mason County plus tax 
(https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources). The City does not 
reimburse for in-room purchases, laundry, or any other 
incidentals. The City will not reimburse extra booking fees or 
related charges. 

Itemized Receipt 
from check out – 
Booking receipts 

will not be 
accepted 

Yes 

Airfare 
Based on the most economical flights with reasonable routing. 
Business class and first class are not reimbursable. 
Baggage fees are limited to one bag per person.  

Receipt Yes 

Airport Shuttle/ 
Taxi/Rideshare Actual expense, may include a customary gratuity. Receipt Yes 

Rental Car Reimbursement for rental cars will be for a standard size car or 
smaller and reimbursed for the actual expense. Receipt Yes 

Ferry Service 
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other modes & routes are available, the cheaper 
route and mode shall be utilized. 

Receipt No 

Privately-Owned 
or Company Car 

Mileage shall be calculated from the actual local office or office 
identified below and reimbursed at the IRS allowable rate for the 
current year.  

Printed Map w/ 
Mileage No 

Zipcar/Similar 
Service 

The City will reimburse contractual car rental fees to the extent 
they do not exceed the comparable mileage rate reimbursement. 

Receipt & Printed 
Map No 

Tolls 
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other non-toll routes are possible, the cheapest route 
shall be utilized. 

Good to Go or 
other statement No 

Meals 

Meal reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem meal 
allowance, and only allowed when consultant travels overnight or 
at least 150 miles per one-way trip.  https://www.gsa.gov/travel-
resources 

Itemized Receipt - 
Identify Person(s), 

Meal Type, and 
Dates of Travel 

Yes 

Courier or Parcel 
Services 

Reimbursable only if required to fulfill a request of the City. Does 
not include routine correspondence. Receipt No 

Printing, copying 

Reimbursement will be allowed for documents that are to be 
provided to the owner or provided to an outside entity on behalf 
of the owner, only. Prints/copies of documents used by the 
Consultant/Contractor to perform normal services and not 
provided to the City are not reimbursable. 

Receipt No 

Sub-Consultants/ 
Sub-Contractors 

Up to 5% markup allowed unless grant/funding guidelines prohibit. 
All subs are subject to these reimbursement guidelines. Sub-
Consultants hired to perform basic services required by the 
Contract are not eligible for reimbursement. 

Sub-Invoices Yes 

* Pre-approval means an approval in writing from the Contract Manager prior to the cost(s) being incurred.  Documentation of 
approval shall be included with the invoice. 
 
Office Address Mileage will be calculated from:         

             

https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources


On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 11 | Page 

EXHIBIT D 
INVOICING REQUIREMENTS 

The City acknowledges that each consul�ng firm has their own accoun�ng so�ware and that, in many cases, it 
may be difficult to change the output or appearance of reports. For City Staff to effec�vely manage projects and 
process invoices, however, certain informa�on is cri�cal. 

The following are guidelines which the City requires all consultants to follow when preparing invoices for City of 
Shelton projects.  

1. Timing: Due to poten�al audit issues, the City cannot pay for work done prior to the date listed as the 
“effec�ve date” noted at the top of the executed Professional or Personal Services Agreement (PSA). Services 
shall be invoiced for within sixty (60) days of performance but not more frequently than every thirty (30) 
days. 

2. Individual Invoicing: In the case of mul�ple contracts/projects with the City of Shelton, separate invoices 
shall be submited per Contract. 

3. Cover Leter Report: A cover leter summarizing the work done on the project during the period of the 
invoice, signed by the project manager, must accompany each invoice submited. Please iden�fy the period 
covered by the invoice in the heading. The level of detail in the report should be commensurate with the 
quan�ty of work occurring during the billing period. Even for the most complex projects, however, a short 
paragraph for each major task should be sufficient. 

4. Billing Voucher: A Billing Voucher (page 2, atached to this Exhibit) must be completed and accompany each 
invoice submited; a digital pdf or fillable Word version of the document can be emailed upon request. The 
Billing Voucher summarizes the following:  
a. Submital Number - the sequen�al number of invoices submited to date, including the current invoice. 
b. Consultant Informa�on – Name, Mailing Address, Phone Number 
c. Contract Informa�on – Title of the Contract/Project, and Contract Expira�on Date. 
d. Repor�ng Period - shall be a range between two specific dates for which the invoice covers. 
e. Invoice Number - a unique number assigned to each invoice by the Consul�ng Firm in order to 

dis�nguish one invoice submission from another. 
f. Indicates whether the invoice submital is the final billing for the Contract. 
g. Budget Summary – shows the total Contract Budget, Previous Payments, Current Request, Total 

Requested to Date, and Balance Remaining. 

5. Task Breakout: Each invoice should list the amount being billed by tasks as shown in the Scope of Work. 
Under each task, include a list of all people that have worked on the project during the invoice period by 
name, job title, and billing rate; A lis�ng by job �tle only is not acceptable. 

6. Time Sheet Detail: Timesheet detail with comments (Diary Logs) are required for all �me charged. 

7. Backup: The City requires backup for all reimbursable expenses, and the guidelines outlined in Exhibit C - 
Reimbursable Expenses, must be followed. 

8. Subconsultants: All requirements asked of the prime consultant must be followed by sub-consultants as 
well, including reimbursable expenses and Diary Logs. 

9. Rates: It is the Consultant’s responsibility to verify that rates included on the invoice are consistent with the 
rates approved by the City, as iden�fied in the executed Contract and any Contract Amendments. 

10. Invoice Submital: The invoice package shall be submited to accounts.payabale@SheltonWA.gov, or via 
postal mail or courier addressed to: City of Shelton Atn: Accounts Payable, 525 W Cota Street, Shelton, WA 
98584.

mailto:accounts.payabale@SheltonWA.gov


On Call Building Pool Professional Services Agreement 

West Coast Code Consultants 12 | Page 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


	1 Agenda_20240903
	2 2024 Looking Ahead
	3 Vouchers_20240903
	4 Agenda Briefing SPIP
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	5 Res No 1343-0824_Systemic Grant Acceptance
	6 Shelton HSIP Application_Grant Award
	01_Shelton HSIP Award
	2022-0303+Shelton-City-Safety-Program-Application

	7 Agenda Briefing RC
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	8 Res No 1344-0824_Railway Crossing Removal Grant Acceptance
	9 Shelton Railway Removal Grant Award_Summary
	10 DRAFT Minutes_20240716
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL

	11 DRAFT Minutes_20240723_Study Session
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL
	ADJOURN
	Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:46 p.m.

	12 DRAFT Minutes_20240806
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL

	13 DRAFT Minutes_20240813_Study Session
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL
	ADJOURN
	Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:35 p.m.

	14 MCHS Museum Q2 LTAC Report
	Slide 1: Mason County Historical Museum
	Slide 2: Total Museum Visitor Count – Quarter 2 - 2024 
	Slide 3:    Website Traffic – Google Analytics 
	Slide 4: Square   Website traffic and sales summaries
	Slide 5:    Facebook Interactions 
	Slide 6
	Slide 7: Crusin’ Through Time Car Show  June 30,2024   Over 300 cars and thousands of visitors

	15 Cruisin' Through Time Car Show LTAC Report
	16 Agenda Briefing, Height Limit Ordinance
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	17 Ordinance 2021-0824, Height Limits
	18 Agenda Briefing, Shopping Cart Regulations
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	19 Ordinance 2022-0824, Shopping Cart Regulations
	20 Agenda Briefing, Commerce Funds
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	21 Res No 1336-0624, Commerce Funds
	22 State Award Letter
	23 Agenda Briefing, SWCC Grant
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	24 Res No 1338-0624, SWCC Grant
	25 State Award Letter
	24-01 CCA Branding Directive and Guidelines.pdf
	Funding source acknowledgement
	Logo and signage, decals, stickers
	Examples of applicable projects and programs
	Sample contract language
	Appendix A: Official brand guide and toolkit


	26 Agenda Briefing, On-Call Building Services Pool
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	27 Res No 1347-0824_On_Call Building Services Pool
	28 Contract-Clarity
	A. Insurance Term
	B. No Limitation
	C. Minimum Scope of Insurance
	D. Minimum Amounts of Insurance
	E. Other Insurance Provision
	F. Acceptability of Insurers
	G. Verification of Coverage
	H. Notice of Cancellation
	I. Failure to Maintain Insurance
	J. Public Entity Full Availability of Consultant Limits
	BUILDING CODE REVIEW FEE STRUCTURE


	29 Contract-CodePros
	A. Insurance Term
	B. No Limitation
	C. Minimum Scope of Insurance
	D. Minimum Amounts of Insurance
	E. Other Insurance Provision
	F. Acceptability of Insurers
	G. Verification of Coverage
	H. Notice of Cancellation
	I. Failure to Maintain Insurance
	J. Public Entity Full Availability of Consultant Limits

	30 Contract-SAFEbuilt
	A. Insurance Term
	B. No Limitation
	C. Minimum Scope of Insurance
	D. Minimum Amounts of Insurance
	E. Other Insurance Provision
	F. Acceptability of Insurers
	G. Verification of Coverage
	H. Notice of Cancellation
	I. Failure to Maintain Insurance
	J. Public Entity Full Availability of Consultant Limits

	31 Contract-WC3
	A. Insurance Term
	B. No Limitation
	C. Minimum Scope of Insurance
	D. Minimum Amounts of Insurance
	E. Other Insurance Provision
	F. Acceptability of Insurers
	G. Verification of Coverage
	H. Notice of Cancellation
	I. Failure to Maintain Insurance
	J. Public Entity Full Availability of Consultant Limits


